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Economic report

Underlying economic and industry 
conditions 

MACROECONOMIC CONDITIONS 
Key geopolitical and economic developments 
Following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, the 
war has continued into the first half of 2023, with no prospect 
of it ending any time soon. The military conflict has been ac-
companied by international sanctions against Russia in the 
form of oil import bans imposed by the EU and price caps on 
Russian oil by the G7 countries. The fact that the oil price fell 
by more than 12 % in the first six months of the year despite 
OPEC production cuts may be related to the price cap on Rus-
sian oil. 

Meanwhile, the situation on the market for natural gas has 
eased significantly, as is evident from a gas price that is lower 
than the level seen in early 2022, even though prices remain 
very high by historical standards. The easing of the situation on 
this market is being bolstered by the high filling level of gas 
storage facilities, which were 80 % full (an above-average fig-
ure) at the end of June. 

Another consequence of the Russia-Ukraine war is that 
the number of refugees who have made their way to the EU, 
and especially to Germany, has increased significantly. On the 
geopolitical front, another factor that has played an important 
role is the mounting tension between the US and China. In 
particular, China’s more frequent and drastic threats against 
Taiwan have thrust this risk into the spotlight more. 

While goods prices have fallen in the wake of lower com-
modity prices and fewer supply chain problems, the headline 
inflation rate remains relatively high, albeit on a downward 
trend, especially in the eurozone and the US. 

The global economy moved in two directions in the first 
half of the year. While the manufacturing sector, according to 
S&P Global’s purchasing managers´ indices, reported little 
growth in output over this period, the service sector has seen 
an acceleration in activity growth. The latter is due to catch-up 
effects associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, which are 
being expressed, among other things, in a great willingness to 
spend on tourism. In the manufacturing sector, on the other 
hand, companies are once again adapting to the shorter deliv-
ery periods and ordering fewer goods to be held in stock. 

Economic development by region 
In the world’s three major economic areas, the US, the euro-
zone and China, the effects of normalisation following the dis-
ruption triggered by the pandemic are manifesting themselves 
differently in terms of magnitude and timing. 

In the US, GDP grew by only 1.3 % quarter-on-quarter in 
the first quarter of the year (annualised rate), with similar 
growth on the horizon for the second quarter. This forecast is 
supported by the declining ISM purchasing managers´ indices, 
which are only just in expansionary territory in both the manu-
facturing and service sectors. The extremely robust growth in 
employment is still having a stabilising effect. The core PCE in-
flation rate came in at 4.7 % in April, only just below last year´s 
peak of 5.4 %. 

Eurozone GDP contracted by 0.1 % in the first three 
months of the year. The EMU area is in a technical recession 
after what was also negative growth in the fourth quarter of 
2022. Germany is the biggest contributor to this trend, as 
France, Italy and Spain grew at rates of between 0.2 % and 
0.6 % in the first quarter of 2023. Inflation in the eurozone 
came to 6.1 % in May. While this represents a marked decline 
as against the double-digit inflation level witnessed last au-
tumn, partly due to lower energy prices, it is still well above the 
ECB´s target of 2 %. Moreover, the core inflation rate of 5.3 % 
remains close to its all-time high from March 2023. 

China´s recovery after the economy was opened back up 
at the end of last year has been disappointing, especially in the 
manufacturing sector. Following GDP growth of 2.2 % in the 
first quarter, monthly economic indicators are pointing to-
wards a marked slowdown in the spring. 

German GDP fell for the second time running in the first 
three months of the year, a trend that is being described as a 
technical recession. A main cause behind the drop in GDP was 
initially the end of a large number of government pandemic 
relief measures, such as the closure of test centres. Private 
consumption also declined, while investments bounced back. 
Construction investment played a particular role in this trend, 
benefiting from a mild winter. The manufacturing sector was 
also able to grow in the first few months thanks to what were 
still high order backlogs to be processed. Inflation has fallen in 
recent months. Headline inflation was 8.7 % at the beginning 
of the quarter and 6.4 % at the end of the first half of the year. 
Core inflation, on the other hand, rose from 5.6 % in January to 
5.8 % in June. 
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Monetary policy: significant countermeasures 
The US Federal Reserve (Fed) and the European Central Bank 
(ECB) started raising their key interest rates last year. By 30 
June, the US Federal Reserve had raised the Fed Funds Rate 
by 500 basis points to between 5.0 % and 5.25 %. The ECB 
had raised its key interest rates by a total of 400 basis points to 
3.75 % (deposit rate) and 4.0 % (main refinancing rate) by the 
end of June. In July, both central banks announced a further 
interest rate hike of 25 basis points. Both central banks are 
now in the process of reducing their balance sheets. At the 
ECB, total assets have been reduced mainly because banks 
have largely repaid the TLTRO long-term refinancing loans. In 
addition, the amounts from maturing bonds in the APP portfo-
lio have only been partially reinvested since March 2023, and 
have not been reinvested at all since July. The Fed is also re-
ducing its asset portfolio in general, although the regional 
bank turmoil this spring prompted it to inject additional liquid-
ity into the system by making renewed asset purchases, mean-
ing that its balance sheet has increased temporarily again. 

After long-term bond yields rose last year in the wake of 
key rate hikes, this year has brought more of a sideways move-
ment so far. This could well be related to the expectation that 
the “terminal rate”, at which the cycle of interest rate hikes 
comes to an end, could soon be reached. Ten-year T-notes 
were yielding 3.81 % and the corresponding Bunds 2.38 % on 
30 June 2023. At the end of 2022, these yields came to 3.88 % 
(T-notes) and 2.56 % (Bunds). 

The stock markets made gains in the first half of the year 
despite higher short-term interest rates. The Dax climbed to a 
new all-time high in June 2023, closing the month at 16,148 
points, some 16 % higher than at the end of 2022, bolstered by 
strong corporate results. The S&P 500 ended the first half of 
the year at 4,450 points, which also represents an increase of 
around 16 % compared with the end of the previous year. 
Technology companies played a dominant role, with many in-
vestors betting on these stocks in view of the expectations sur-
rounding the topic of artificial intelligence. 

The euro fluctuated between 1.05 and 1.11 US dollars in the 
course of the first six months and appreciated by 2.25 % in the 
first half of the year, or appeared not to be moving in any clear 
direction as both central banks tightened their monetary pol-
icy reins in the period under review. The euro was trading at 
1.09 US dollars on 30 June 2023. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT IN THE MARKETS/SECTORS RELEVANT 
FOR HAMBURG COMMERCIAL BANK 
Real estate markets 
The German real estate markets showed varied development 
in the investment and rental markets in the first six months of 
2023. While transaction volumes on the investment markets 
plummeted to the lowest level seen in 13 years and property 
prices fell sharply in some cases, prime rents continued to 
climb on most rental markets. The investment markets contin-
ued to struggle in an environment dominated by investors who 
were reluctant to invest, and those willing to sell, because they 
have not yet adapted to the new market environment charac-
terised by higher interest rates. While investors were increas-
ingly able to switch to attractive interest-bearing investments 
instead of real estate, loan-financing market participants held 
back unless they were able to negotiate price discounts to al-
low for debt servicing at higher financing costs. However, not 
too many sellers were willing or forced to make such conces-
sions. In addition, uncertainty regarding the scope and cost of 
energy-efficient modernisation for older properties and those 
in need of refurbishment contributed to a more cautious ap-
proach among investors. In light of these foreseeable invest-
ments, the prices of these properties, in particular, fell consid-
erably. In this uncertain market environment, the investment 
volume fell by two thirds compared to the same period last 
year. No property use type managed escape the downturn un-
scathed. 

This also put a strain on project development. Projects 
were postponed or shelved entirely, resulting in a marked drop 
in building permits and construction orders, especially in resi-
dential construction. Meanwhile, construction activity re-
mained elevated thanks to the order backlog. Despite the eco-
nomic slowdown, the rental markets were boosted by fact that 
labour market developments remain relatively robust, as well 
as by the increase in population due to the influx of refugees 
and partial space shortages. 

Rents continued to rise in the housing markets of the 
country’s major cities in the first half of the year. Demand was 
stimulated by the need to accommodate refugees, as well as 
growth in the number of employees and the associated influx. 
As completions are likely to have declined, supply is likely to 
have become even shorter. These increased rents have, how-
ever, remained affordable for many low-income households 
because the amount of, and the scope of eligibility for, housing 
allowance were increased significantly. The higher interest 
rates, on the other hand, have made buying a home less af-
fordable for owner-occupiers and significantly less attractive 
for investors. Residential property prices fell significantly as a 
result, especially for rented apartments. 

In the German office property markets, demand for space 
fell significantly year-on-year in the first half of the year. This 
reflected companies’ reluctance to hire staff due to the eco-
nomic downturn. Lettings for large spaces, in particular, de-
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clined as flexible forms of work became increasingly common-
place. Weaker demand was outpaced by completions, mean-
ing that, while vacancy rates continued to rise, they remained 
relatively low for the most part. In addition, demand in a num-
ber of cities was heavily concentrated on high-quality proper-
ties in prime locations, pushing rents there up significantly. 
Market values, on the other hand, generally showed more pro-
nounced drops in an environment dominated by low transac-
tion levels in the pricing phase on the investment markets. 

In most European office property markets, demand for 
space also waned and vacancies increased slightly. For the 
most part, prime rents stagnated, showing a moderate in-
crease in only a handful of cities. There were sometimes 
marked losses in market values across the board due to the 
corrections triggered by the turnaround in interest rates. 

Retail property markets in Germany continued to grapple 
with high inflation and poor consumer sentiment in the first six 
months of 2023. Consumer reluctance to spend led to declin-
ing retail sales after adjustments to reflect inflation. Some sec-
tors, however, were less affected and achieved above-average 
nominal growth, in particular food retail, but also fashion and 
clothing. This is likely to have had a positive effect on restruc-
turing processes in city centre locations. The reason for this is 
that shop closures, some of which were caused by insolvency, 
were followed by repositioning measures in the fashion indus-
try, meaning that demand for space picked up and the down-
ward spiral in prime rents lost significant momentum. Shop-
ping centres continued to stagnate, while retail park and su-
permarket rents increased. The market values of all retail prop-
erties, however, continued to fall considerably amid ongoing 
risk aversion and investor restraint due to the interest rate 
turnaround, particularly for commercial buildings. 

Industry, trade and logistics, infrastructure and renewable 
energy 
German economic output contracted by 0.3 % (adjusted to re-
flect price, seasonal and calendar effects) in the first quarter of 
2023 compared to the fourth quarter of 2022, following what 
was already a 0.5 % quarter-on-quarter decline in the fourth 
quarter of last year. This means that the German economy is in 
a technical recession in the 2022/2023 winter half-year. The 
consequences of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, in particular the 
strong upward pressure on prices, weighed on the German 
economy at the beginning of 2023, despite the fact that the 
initial supply shock has clearly receded in many areas (e.g. en-
ergy prices). The overall conditions for the German economy 
remain very challenging. In the manufacturing sector, the 
production volume at the start of the year (January to April) 
was 2.2 % above the level seen in the same period of the previ-
ous year; in the previous year, the production volume in this 
period – compared to 2021 – was still down by 2 %. Trends var-
ied considerably in the major industries: While output in the 
metal and mainstream construction industry, as well as the 

pharmaceutical industry, shrank only slightly (following dou-
ble-digit growth for the pharmaceutical industry in the same 
period of the previous year), output in the energy-intensive 
chemical industry fell by almost one fifth. The food industry 
showed a slight increase in production. The strongest growth 
driver in the manufacturing sector was vehicle construction, 
which was able to expand its production volume by around 
one fifth, with production in the automotive sector going even 
further an increasing by more than one third, after having 
shrunk by about 18 % in the same period of the previous year. 

After reporting weak revenue growth of 0.9 % in 2022 as a 
whole, wholesale companies reported a marked contraction 
of 4.4 % in the first four months of 2023 compared to the same 
period of the previous year. In view of real income losses due 
to consumer price inflation that remains high, retail showed a 
decline of as much as almost 5.5 % (in real terms) in the first 
five months, as against an increase of 4.8 % in the same period 
of the previous year. While food sales declined by over 10 % in 
the first five months, retail sales of textiles, clothing, footwear 
and leather goods, which had reported growth in excess of 
130 % in the first five months of 2022, exhibited only weak 
growth at the beginning of 2023. The tense situation in the 
(fashion) retail sector due to high inflation, cost burdens and a 
reluctance to buy is also reflected in the significantly higher 
number of corporate insolvencies in this segment, also affect-
ing big market names. Non-bricks-and-mortar retail, which 
had reaped particular benefits from the containment 
measures during the COVID-19 pandemic and the restrictions 
on bricks-and-mortar retail, recorded a drop in real sales of 
around 8 % in the first five months in a year-on-year compari-
son. At the beginning of 2022, sales in this segment had al-
ready contracted by around 11 %. 

Revenue in the logistics sector showed marked positive 
development (in real terms) at the start of 2023, increasing by 
6 % in the first quarter of the year compared to the same pe-
riod of 2021, when revenue increased at a similar rate (6.5 %). 
The measured business climate in the German logistics indus-
try, however, deteriorated in the course of the first half of 2023 
and the associated index was sitting at below 90 points in the 
second quarter. The current business situation was viewed in a 
positive light less frequently, and the business outlook was 
considered to have clouded over and was often viewed pessi-
mistically in the survey. 

The global project financing volume fell very dramatically 
in the first quarter of 2023 and, according to the financial mar-
ket data provider "Refinitiv", was 33 % lower than the volume 
seen in the same period of the previous year, which had, at 
that time, marked the strongest first quarter in terms of vol-
ume since "Refinitiv" started collecting data. Development by 
region varied considerably. The transaction volume in the Eu-
rope/Middle East/Africa region fell particularly sharply 
(-58 %), with the telecommunications sector proving to be the 
most active area, as in the same quarter of the previous year, 
albeit with a volume that was down by one third. The financing 
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volume in Asia also declined very significantly, falling by 51 %. 
In this region, it was the power generation sector that ac-
counted for the biggest share. In North and South America, on 
the other hand, project financing volumes showed very dy-
namic growth, bucking the global trend. They achieved a year-
on-year increase of 85 % after a comparatively moderate first 
quarter in the previous year (+11 %). This growth was driven 
mainly by projects in the "oil and gas" sector. As a result, this 
region accounted for almost half of the volume of global pro-
ject financing activities in the first quarter. 

Investment in transport infrastructure – measured based 
on global project financing volumes – fell very sharply across 
the globe at the start of the year compared to the same period 
of the previous year (80 % decline), with a rate of contraction 
that was only exceeded by the decline in the mining sector 
(-90 %). 

The expansion of renewable energies made further pro-
gress in both Europe as a whole and Germany at the beginning 
of 2023. The considerable slowdown in onshore wind energy in 
Germany observed since 2018 has given way to new momen-
tum at the beginning of 2023: by the end of March 2023, a 
clear upward trend had emerged with regard to both commis-
sioning and permits. in terms of installed and commissioned 
capacity, new construction in the first three months was 46 % 
higher than in the same period of 2022. At the end of March, 
28,500 wind turbines with a capacity of almost 58,500 MW 
were in operation nationwide. Almost 8,000 of these plants 
(8,090 MW) have been connected to the grid for more than 
twenty years and are operated without any entitlement to re-
muneration under the German Renewable Energies Act 
(EEG). 

The expansion in the European solar segment proved to be 
very dynamic in 2022 (newly connected capacity in the EU 
+23.6 % year-on-year) and this strong development is also ex-
pected to continue in 2023 (expected growth of almost one 
third compared to the previous year): in Germany alone, the 
country with the largest solar capacity in Europe, new installa-
tions in the photovoltaics segment in the first five months of 
2023 (according to preliminary figures) totalled almost 4,970 
megawatts, higher than in any other year during this period. 
Compared to the same period of the previous year, the in-
crease was more than 50 %. The need for alternative energy 
sources following Russia’s attack on Ukraine, more ambitious 
political climate targets and a stronger awareness of climate 
protection among the population at large are also likely to 
continue to have a positive effect here in the short and me-
dium term. 

Shipping markets 
Numerous different influences resulted in mixed develop-
ments on the shipping markets in the first half of the year. The 
impact of the war in Ukraine on trade routes, catch-up effects 
associated with the pandemic, high inflation, rising interest 
rates and weak economic activity, however, resulted in slightly 

lower charter rate levels overall compared to the end of the 
previous year in all main markets. The margins of fluctuation 
were less pronounced than in previous years. 

Charter rates and prices for container vessels stopped de-
clining at high levels in the first half of 2023. At the beginning 
of the year, weak transport demand was still pushing freight 
and charter rates downwards. This is because high inflation 
and rising interest rates were putting pressure on consumer 
spending. In addition, after the end of the pandemic, a bigger 
share of private consumption spending started to flow into 
services again. Furthermore, retailers that had been holding 
larger stocks due to previous supply problems saw little reason 
to reorder as a result. The significantly lower cargo volume 
means that bottlenecks in supply chains have also been re-
solved, reducing ship waiting times in ports and, as a result, 
making the fleet much more efficient. As a result, significantly 
less tonnage was needed overall, which was reflected in de-
clining rates. The tide turned in the second quarter, however, 
with the recovery in container handling. Since the shipping 
lines had stocked up on ships during the boom in the wake of 
the pandemic, or chartered them on a long-term basis, thus 
taking them off the market, larger ships in particular were 
again in short supply on the charter market. Noticeably higher 
rates had to be offered again in order to secure tonnage re-
quirements. Fleet growth has accelerated significantly of late. 
Due to increasing deliveries of ships ordered during the boom 
phase and sustained low scrapping activity, total capacity grew 
significantly. 

The earnings situation among bulkers was characterised 
by noticeable ups and downs in the first half of the year, and 
was consistent with the average for the last ten years. After the 
usual seasonal weakness at the beginning of the year, a boost 
came from rising demand, especially for the main commodities 
of iron ore, coal and grain. The lifting of the COVID restrictions 
created a positive environment with increased Chinese im-
ports of iron ore, particularly in the largest segment comprising 
Capesize vessels. The increased demand for coal worldwide in 
connection with the energy crisis also fuelled the need for 
transport capacity. Grain, which is less subject to cyclical fluc-
tuations than the other commodities, also provided stable de-
mand. This was supported by successful negotiations between 
Russia and Ukraine on secure transport corridors. Since May, 
however, market sentiment has clouded over again. Thwarted 
expectations regarding Chinese commodity demand, which is 
still being hit by the ongoing weakness in the construction 
sector, but also lower coal imports to Europe and less port 
congestion sent freight and charter rates on a downward tra-
jectory again. Fleet supply has continued to grow at only a very 
moderate rate in recent months. The impact of more stringent 
environmental regulations is creating uncertainty regarding 
which fuels and propulsion systems will prevail in the long 
term. This was a key reason behind the restraint in placing or-
ders. 
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In the oil tanker market, the situation has stabilised at a 
very high level after the boom seen in the previous year. At the 
beginning of the year, further EU sanctions against Russia 
came into force, cementing longer trade routes for both Euro-
pean imports and Russian exports. At the same time, increas-
ing mobility and economic activity after the lifting of China´s 
COVID restrictions meant that the country lifted its targets for 
crude oil imports and oil product exports significantly. This 
boosted transport demand in all oil tanker segments. Ship 
prices on the secondary market continued to climb, driven by a 
persistently positive market outlook and rising costs for newly 
built vessels. The tanker fleet is still growing at only a moderate 
rate. Here, too, market participants have been reluctant to 
place new orders in recent years due to a prolonged period of 
weak market conditions and new requirements regarding 
greenhouse gas emissions. This stance has, however, increas-
ingly been abandoned of late due to good earnings prospects. 
There was hardly any scrapping activity, as even older ships are 
currently earning well. 

BANKING ENVIRONMENT 
The overall challenging market environment for banks was 
characterised by both positive and negative aspects in the first 
half of 2023. While the ongoing marked geopolitical uncer-
tainty became somewhat less of an issue, stubborn inflation, as 
well as the turbulence in the US regional banking sector and in 
connection with Credit Suisse, dealt a blow to the sector which 
partially offset the positive impact on bank earnings associ-
ated with rising central bank interest rates. The highly volatile 
stock market quotations of banks over the past six months re-
flected these two poles, with the positive aspects associated 
with rising interest rates outweighing concerns over the resili-
ence of the banking sector overall at the half-year point. 

In general, banks´ net interest income is also likely to have 
benefited from the rising interest rates in the first half of 2023, 
despite the inevitable increase in refinancing costs. At the 
same time, many institutions´ risk costs remained within limits 
despite the gloomy macroeconomic environment. On the one 
hand, this was because banks were able to draw on their rela-
tively high reserves. In addition, political support measures for 
companies and households continued to help keep loan de-
faults at a comparatively low level so far. The inflation environ-
ment, on the other hand, is likely to have a negative impact on 
bank earnings in the form of rising personnel and operating 
expenses. The latter is likely to apply in particular to upcoming 
modernisation projects in the IT sector. 

Looking ahead, the question as to how individual banks will 
position themselves in the new market environment will play a 
decisive role with regard to their long-term market opportuni-
ties and ratings. A solid starting position in terms of capital re-
sources, stringent cost management (taking into account the 
need to invest in IT and digitalisation), ongoing business model 
development, as well as effective risk management are likely to 
be crucial success factors in this respect. 

Regulatory monitoring focused on the resilience of Euro-
pean banks, not least with the EBA/ECB stress test. The ad-
verse scenario used for the stress test included a significant 
and prolonged economic downturn, as well as a correction in 
the capital and asset markets, not least in the real estate asset 
class, which is also influenced by the current interest rate envi-
ronment. Hamburg Commercial Bank participated in the SSM 
stress test. The results published at the end of July 2023 
demonstrate the Bank's good capital position, even after the 
dividend payment, as well as its significantly increased resili-
ence thanks to significantly improved profitability and a solid, 
resilient portfolio quality. The CET1 capital ratio for the Bank 
calculated as part of the stress test still came to a very strong 
16.5 % even in the adverse scenario – after a discount of 4.0 
percentage points. The leverage ratio dropped – after a dis-
count of 1.6 percentage points – to what was still a very good 
value of 8.2 %. This means that HCOB´s results were consider-
ably better than the average results of all the institutions 
tested, and provide strong evidence of the progress made in 
recent years with regard to sustainable profitability and 
strengthened resilience.  

IMPACT OF THE UNDERLYING CONDITIONS ON THE 
BUSINESS OF HAMBURG COMMERCIAL BANK 
The overall macroeconomic and industry-specific conditions 
described in the sections above have also had an impact on 
the business performance of Hamburg Commercial Bank AG 
in the first half of 2023. 

In the Shipping segment, the Bank benefited, among other 
things, from the positive development in the market situation 
and the medium-term forecasts for charter rates and ship 
prices. Accordingly, model overlays set up for the tanker port-
folio in the past were reversed in the reporting period, which 
had a positive effect on loan loss provisions (income state-
ment) and, as a result, on the Bank’s earnings situation. In ad-
dition, there were significant net reversals of model overlays in 
the Project Finance segment, which can be attributed to the 
fact that there is now certainty regarding guaranteed feed-in 
tariffs in the French energy market. 

In view of the negative factors described in the information 
on developments on the real estate markets, the transaction 
volume on the investment markets decreased significantly 
compared to the same period of the previous year. These ex-
ternal market conditions, combined with the Bank´s risk-con-
scious business approach, meant that HCOB only concluded 
new business in the Real Estate segment on a selective basis in 
the first half of the year, particularly in the national environ-
ment. As a result of the gloomier overall environment, the vol-
ume of new defaults in the Real Estate segment exceeded the 
reduction in risk-weighted assets and led to a moderate net in-
crease in the NPE volume in this segment. Despite the new 
defaults, the development in loan loss provisions (income 
statement) in the Real Estate segment was moderate overall 
at Stage 3. In this context, one positive aspect is the fact that 
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the real estate portfolio has solid average risk parameters 
(loan-to-value and loan-to-cost ratios, as well as debt service 
ratios such as debt yield). The fact that HCOB prepared for a 
turnaround in the real estate markets early on and, among 
other things, tightened its lending standards in the course of 
this positioning, significantly reducing its new business, has 
had an effect here. By contrast, there were net additions at 
Stages 1 and 2 in the Real Estate segment. The reversals result-
ing from the reduction of a large exposure and from rating im-
provements are more than compensated for by the increase in 
model overlays. The retail property and construction land fi-
nancing segments are currently being hit particularly hard by 
the loss of purchasing power and the sharp rise in interest 
rates. Uncertainty surrounding the possible economic effects 
on these portfolios has been reflected in model overlays.  

Hamburg Commercial Bank had also made timely prepara-
tions for changes in the interest rate environment as part of its 
asset and liability management activities. The further increase 
in short-term interest rates in the first half of 2023 had a gen-
erally positive effect on the Bank´s net interest income, which 
increased by around 12 % in the first half of 2023 compared to 
the same period of the previous year. The favourable position-
ing vis-à-vis the interest rate environment was also reflected in 
positive valuation effects from interest rate derivatives in the 
first half of 2023, which were one of the drivers for the very 
good result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL of 
€ 73 million (same period of the previous year: € 16 million). 
The FVPL result was also positively affected by the fact that 
credit spreads narrowed again after they had widened signifi-
cantly in the first half of 2022 due to the uncertainty triggered 
by the outbreak of war in Ukraine. 

On the refinancing side, the Bank, also supported by the 
rating upgrade to the A range, was able to successfully imple-
ment its issuing activities in what was, at times a volatile mar-
ket environment by issuing a senior preferred bond and a 
mortgage Pfandbrief.  

The Bank’s business performance and position are ex-
plained in detail in the following sections.
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Business development – Significant 
developments and events in the first half of 
2023 

As explained in greater detail in the previous chapter, the ex-
ternal market environment in the first half of 2023 was charac-
terised by only a slow decline in inflation, further interest rate 
hikes and persistently pessimistic economic expectations. In 
addition, triggered by the regional banking crisis in the US, the 
banking market was hit by periods of turbulence that led to 
temporary high volatility on the global financial markets. 

Faced with these still challenging and uncertain overall 
conditions, the focus of the Bank´s management, in addition to 
implementing the moderate growth path and ensuring the 
maintenance of the positive trend in operating profitability, 
was on actively managing interest rate, credit, market price 
and liquidity risk in a volatile environment. 

Hamburg Commercial Bank has succeeded in further con-
solidating its position in the German and European banking 
market, as is evidenced by the good financial ratios as at 30 
June 2023, the improved rating positioning and the good re-
sults in the SSM stress test. The confirmation of the positive 
trend in increasing operating profitability, maintaining a solid 
capital and liquidity position at the same time, is particularly 
encouraging. In detail, the following developments and events 
are worth highlighting in the first half of 2023: 

Profitability: Net income before taxes up by almost 30 % 
year-on-year – further increase in net interest margin – all 
market segments earn cost of capital 
In terms of profitability, the Bank was able to confirm the posi-
tive trend seen in the recent past and is ahead of the plan that 
will allow it to achieve its forecasts for net income before and 
after taxes for the year as a whole at the half-year point. In the 
first six months, net income before taxes increased by almost 
30 % compared to the same period of the previous year. At the 
same time, the Bank’s sustainable earnings power has been 
strengthened and the impact of special effects reduced com-
pared to previous years. The increase in total income, which 
was characterised, in particular, by solid development in net 
interest income and was also supported by a strong FVPL re-
sult, made a significant contribution to this trend. 

The increase in net interest income (increase of around 
12 %), which was in line with expectations, is based on the re-
newed expansion of the net interest margin (hereafter re-
ferred to as “NIM”; for a definition of NIM, please refer to the 
comments in the segment report within the notes to the 
Group financial statements). In addition to rising interest rates, 
ongoing asset allocation had a positive effect here. In view of 
the increasing pressure on refinancing costs in the banking 
market in general, the Bank benefited from the upgrading of 
its issuer rating to the A range in March, which is likely to ex-
pand the investor base in the long run and further strengthen 
fundraising resilience (see also the separate section below). 

Developments in the individual market segments were en-
couraging. After-tax returns exceeding the cost of capital 
were recorded in all lending units. For further information on 
the segment results, please refer to the chapter entitled "Seg-
ment results". 

New business development ahead of prior-year level – solid 
margin development 
New business development was in line with the Bank’s expec-
tations. With a balanced allocation to the individual market 
segments, the gross new business volume totalled € 3.0 billion 
in the first six months of 2023, putting it slightly ahead of the 
figure for the same period of the previous year (€ 2.8 billion). 
New business profitability, measured by RoE after tax, was also 
consistent with expectations across all asset classes. Further 
information on the development of new business in the indi-
vidual lending units can be found in the “Segment results” sec-
tion. 

Total assets reduced moderately due to scheduled dividend 
payment – more diversified asset structure 
Total assets decreased moderately by € 1 billion or 3 % to 
€ 30.8 billion as a result of the dividend payment of € 1.5 bil-
lion made in April (see also the separate section below). In 
managing the credit and financial investment portfolio in an 
environment dominated by rising interest rates, the Bank has 
been adaptive in responding to dynamic changes in market 
conditions and opportunities, resulting in gradual changes in 
asset allocation compared to the 2022 year-end plan. These 
changes relate primarily to the unplanned expansion of the in-
vestment portfolio. For example, financial investments in-
creased significantly by 34 % compared to the end of the year, 
which strengthens the liquidity of the balance sheet structure. 
By contrast, momentum in the loan book was dampened 
somewhat. 

The degree of diversification in the loan book across the 
asset classes has increased further, which is reflected in an in-
creasingly balanced allocation of the portfolio across the four 
lending units. Due to the selective business approach, particu-
larly in national Real Estate, and high principal payments made 
by Shipping clients, the relative shares attributable to these 
segments declined in favour of Project Finance and Corpo-
rates. 

Moody´s upgrades HCOB´s issuer rating to A3 
The rating agency Moody´s upgraded key ratings of Hamburg 
Commercial Bank by one notch on 17 February 2023: the 
bank´s issuer, senior preferred and deposit ratings were up-
graded from "Baa1" to "A3 with a stable outlook", while the 
stand-alone rating improved from "ba1" to "baa3". The positive 
rating move follows an upgrade in July 2021 to “Baa1”/”ba1” 
and represents a further improvement on HCOB´s 
“Baa2”/”ba2” rating awarded at the time of its privatisation in 
November 2018. 
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The rating agency considers HCOB to be well positioned 
due to its solid capital position, improved portfolio quality and 
significantly strengthened sustainable profitability. 

The Bank expects that the rating upgrade, including the 
improvement of HCOB´s Pfandbrief ratings by one notch each 
(Mortgage Pfandbrief to "Aaa", Ship Pfandbrief to "Aa3"), will 
have a further positive impact on the Bank’s sustainable earn-
ing power, and in particular, on its refinancing activities, espe-
cially in the form of an expansion of the investor base, as well 
as positive effects on funding costs. 

Benchmark issues strengthen refinancing structure 
After the rating upgrade, the Bank successfully placed a senior 
preferred bond rated "A3" by Moody´s on the capital market in 
March 2023. The bond with a nominal volume of € 750 million 
has a term of two years. The fact that the issue was significantly 
oversubscribed led to attractive pricing for the Bank and re-
flects the further increase in investor confidence. The success-
ful issue marks an important step towards positioning HCOB 
on the capital market as an A-rated issuer. 

This was followed in June by the issue of an "Aaa"-rated 
mortgage Pfandbrief with a volume of € 500 million, which 
was also upgraded. The Pfandbrief has a term until February 
2028. 

Risk: NPE ratio remains at a solid level of 1.5 % despite 
increase – moderate development in loan loss provisions 
In view of the more challenging overall economic conditions 
and the significant change in the interest rate environment 
since mid-2022, HCOB has not been able to fully escape the 
pressure on the NPE ratio in individual market segments. In 
the first six months of the financial year, there were a number 
of new defaults in the Real Estate segment, which is particu-
larly sensitive to interest rates, as well as a larger new default in 
terms of volume in the Project Finance segment, which, how-
ever, mostly has ECA (export credit agency) cover. At the 
same time, the Bank has systematically continued with its NPE 
management. The increase in the NPE volume was limited 
thanks to corresponding reduction successes. For example, 
the Bank reduced the vast majority of the largest NPE expo-
sure in the Real Estate segment. Thanks to the conservative 
loan loss provisions policy, this was achieved without impact-
ing earnings in the reporting period. Based on the aforemen-
tioned developments, the NPE ratio increased from 1.2 % to 
1.5 % with a slightly reduced exposure at default (EaD), but re-
mains at a solid level as of the reporting date. 

The development in loan loss provisions at the end of the 
first half of the year was better than predicted in the planning 
assumptions, with a balanced income statement result. This is 
mainly because the new defaults only led to moderate specific 
loan loss provisions (Stage 3 loan loss provisions in accordance 
with IFRS 9), as the exposures have comfortable collateralisa-
tion structures overall (e.g. ECA coverage mentioned above or 

comfortable LTVs and debt service ratios for individual real es-
tate financing exposures). There was a small net increase at 
levels 1 and 2. 

Annual General Meeting in April approves dividend 
payment as proposed 
In line with the distribution policy adopted in the 2022 finan-
cial year, the Management Board and Supervisory Board of 
Hamburg Commercial Bank AG had proposed to the Bank´s 
Annual General Meeting in March 2023 to make dividend pay-
ments of € 1,500 million (equivalent to € 4.97 per share) from 
the accumulated HGB profit for the 2022 financial year and to 
allocate the remaining portion of € 90 million to retained 
earnings. On 18 April 2023, the Annual General Meeting ap-
proved this proposal for the appropriation of profits as pro-
posed. The dividend was paid out to the Bank’s shareholders in 
April 2023. 

Hamburg Commercial Bank had already taken the divi-
dend payment into account in advance as part of the calcula-
tion of the CET1 ratio at 2022 year-end by way of a deduction 
from CET1 capital. 

IT transformation and "Fast & Accurate" project 
On the project side, in addition to regulatory topics, the com-
prehensive IT transformation process, which is on the home 
stretch, and the new "Fast & Accurate" project, which was 
launched at the end of 2022, were the main focal points in the 
first half of the year. 

Key milestones were achieved in the context of IT transfor-
mation, with further system components going live. 

The Fast & Accurate project aims to further optimise the 
lending process, as the core process in the Bank’s operational 
business activity, and, in doing so, to ultimately increase oper-
ational efficiency even further. Optimisation covers the four 
aspects of efficiency, transparency, speed and quality. The 
project addresses the entire value chain, starting with the first 
customer contact and ending with entry in the systems. In the 
second half of 2023, the project will focus on implementing 
improvements/automation at the interface between clients 
and the Bank, as well as in the financing workflow.
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London branch 
HCOB has been represented by a branch office in London 
since 10 May 2023. With the approval granted by the UK Fi-
nancial Conduct Authority (FCA), the Bank´s existing repre-
sentative office in London was expanded to give it branch sta-
tus. 

By expanding its presence in one of the world´s most im-
portant financial markets, HCOB is strengthening its interna-
tional positioning and giving its business partners in the UK di-
rect access to the Bank´s financing solutions. The Bank´s ex-
panded presence in London will also allow it to progress fur-
ther in its quest to diversify its business activities. The focus is 
on business in the areas of Corporates International, Project 
Finance and Asset-Based Lending, as well as the international 
real estate business. 
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Earnings, net assets and financial position  

Key group management indicators 

 30.06.2023 
31.12.2022

(30.06.2022) 

RoE after taxes1)  16.8%  20.8% (20.5%)

CIR  39%  44% (44%)

NPE ratio  1.5%  1.2% 

CET1 capital ratio  18.52)  20.5%3)

LCR  157%  197% 

1) The RoE after taxes shown is based on standardised regulatory capital backing (av-
erage RWA and CET1 ratio of 13 %) 

2) The profits for the first half of 2023 have not been taken into account. 
3) The dividend payment made in 2023 was taken into account in advance, reducing 

the Common Equity Tier 1 capital.  

 

Group performance in line with expectations overall 
The following aspects, in particular, contributed to business 
development that was in line with expectations overall in the 
first half of 2023: 

- The Group net result (net income after taxes), in which the 
annual contributions for the bank levy and the Deposit 
Protection Fund have already been recognised in full, 
amounted to a good € 178 million as at 30 June 2023 
(same period of the previous year: € 207 million). Based on 
standardised regulatory capital backing, the return on eq-
uity after taxes (RoE after taxes) came to 16.8 % (30 June 
2022: 20.5 %). The planned decline in net income after 
taxes is due to the expected normalisation of income tax 
expense, which had a negative impact of € 52 million in the 
first six months of 2023, while in the same period of the 
previous year, it had still made a very positive contribution 
of € 29 million to the Group net result. In contrast, net in-
come before taxes for the first six months increased con-
siderably again, namely by almost 30 % to € 230 million 
(same period of the previous year: € 178 million). Measured 
against the earnings forecast from the previous year, the 
development of the earnings base (taking into account the 
other operating result) was in line with expectations over-
all. On the cost side, loan loss provisions in particular, but 
also administrative expenses and regulatory expenses 
were lower than assumed in the forecast, which ultimately 
means that HCOB is on track at the half-year point to 
achieve its target for the full year in terms of net income 
before taxes (taking into account a continued cautious ap-
proach for the rest of the financial year). In detail, the de-
velopments were as follows: Total income increased signif-
icantly. It amounted to € 375 million for the first six 
months, which corresponds to an increase of almost one-
quarter compared to the same period of the previous year 
(€ 303 million). Net interest income, as a key component 
of total income, was up by around 12 % on the previous 

year´s level (€ 260 million) at € 292 million in line with a 
further increase in the net operating interest margin. The 
FVPL result contributed a very good € 73 million (same 
period of the previous year: € 16 million) to earnings, partly 
driven by a strong valuation result from interest rate deriv-
atives in what was, at times, a volatile capital market envi-
ronment. At € 377 million (same period of the previous 
year: € 334 million), total income after loan loss provisions 
was slightly higher than expected in view of moderate de-
velopment in loan loss provisions (net reversal of € 2 mil-
lion, previous year: € 31 million). The increase in adminis-
trative expenses by around 4 % to € 156 million (same pe-
riod of the previous year: € 150 million) was slower than 
planned, mainly due to a moderate increase in staff and 
stringent cost management. The other operating result of 
€ 29 million outstripped expectations. As in the same pe-
riod of the previous year (€ 40 million), it was character-
ised by one-off effects. As a result of lower amounts due 
for the bank levy, regulatory expenses were reduced by al-
most one third to € 20 million (same period of the previous 
year: € 29 million). As planned, the result from restructur-
ing and transformation no longer had negative impact on 
earnings in the first half of 2023 (same period of the previ-
ous year: € -17 million). For information on the other indi-
vidual drivers behind the development of the income 
statement items, we refer to the explanatory information in 
the next section of this chapter, the section on "Earnings 
situation". 

- The cost-income ratio (CIR) came to a very good level of 
39 % on 30 June 2023 (31 December 2022: 44 %). In gen-
eral, the Bank is on track to achieve the forecast ratio of 
45 % for the year as a whole in terms of the development in 
cost efficiency. Compared to the expectations for the full 
year, significantly better results in the FVPL result and in 
the other operating result led to the CIR being around 
5 percentage points more positive as at the half-year re-
porting date. As against the same period of the previous 
year, the increase in the revenue base outpaced the in-
crease in the cost base. 

- The NPE ratio increased by 0.3 percentage points to 1.5 % 
as at 30 June 2023 (31 December 2022: 1.2 %), putting it 
slightly ahead of the forecast value of 1.3 % at mid-year 
point. The increase in the ratio is due to an increase in the 
NPE volume with a simultaneous slight decrease in the ex-
posure at default (EaD). The decrease in EaD by € 0.9 bil-
lion from € 34.4 billion to € 33.5 billion is due primarily to 
the dividend payment of € 1.5 billion made in the reporting 
period. The NPE volume increased from € 405 million to 
€ 502 million. There was a net increase in the NPE volume 
in the Real Estate segment, particularly as a result of the 
significant rise in the interest rates. In addition, the in-
crease is partly due to a new default of a larger, mostly 
ECA-covered individual exposure in the Project Finance 
segment.  
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- The CET1 ratio has decreased as expected compared to 31 
December 2022 (20.5 %) and stood at 18.5 % as at 30 June 
2023. This value means that the ratio remains at a good 
level that is also comfortably above the forecast value of > 
17 %, which also represents the strategic target level. The 
change in the CET1 ratio was mainly due to the planned in-
crease in aggregate RWA from € 15.4 billion to € 16.5 bil-
lion. This development was driven by increased risk-
weighted assets for credit risks (incl. other RWA), partly 
due to rating model recalibrations for corporates. The 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1 capital) of € 3.1 billion 
was slightly below the level seen on 31 December 2022 
(€ 3.2 billion) due to higher regulatory deductions. It is im-
portant to note that the 2023 half-year profit has not been 
included in CET1 capital. The dividend payment made in 
April 2023 had already been reflected in the CET1 capital, 
with the effect of reducing it, at the end of the previous 
year. 

- The liquidity position was once again managed prudently 
in the first half of 2023 in view of the highly uncertain mar-
ket environment. The liquidity ratio LCR amounted to 
157 % as at 30 June 2023. The planned decrease compared 
to the very high value seen on 31 December 2022 (197 %) is 
based on the normalisation of capital resources due to the 
dividend payment. With what is still a very adequate supply 
of highly liquid assets, the LCR remains at a relatively high 
level in relation to the regulatory minimum requirement of 
100 % as at the half-year reporting date.  

Further details underlying the business performance are given 
below in the "Earnings situation" and "Net assets and financial 
position" sections. The development of results in the segments 
is presented in the chapter "Segment results". 

Management system and defined management indicators 
of the IFRS Group 
The Bank’s integrated management system is aimed at the tar-
geted management of key value drivers – income, effi-
ciency/costs and profitability, risk, capital and liquidity. The 
Bank uses a risk-adjusted key indicator and ratio system for 
this purpose that ensures that the Bank is managed in a uni-
form and effective manner. Hamburg Commercial Bank is 
managed mainly on the basis of figures for the Group pre-
pared in accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) and/or the relevant prudential rules. 

Within the management reporting framework, the Bank 
focuses on the most important management indicators for the 
individual value drivers of the IFRS Group. On the one hand, 
the focus is placed on the change in these key indicators com-
pared to the same period of the previous year and, on the 
other, on their expected change over the remainder of 2023. 

Further information on the management system and de-
fined management indicators of the Hamburg Commercial 
Bank Group, as well as information on the development ex-
pected for 2023 as a whole, is set out in Hamburg Commercial 
Bank’s Group Management Report for the 2022 financial year 
in the "Management System" subsection in the "Basis of the 
Group" section, and in the "Forecast, opportunities and risks 
report" section.
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Earnings  

Statement of Income 

(€ m) 
January–June  

2023 
January–June 

2022 
Change

in % 

Interest income from financial assets categorised as AC and FVOCI  654  307  > 100 

Interest income from other financial instruments  25  531  -53 

Negative interest on investments categorised as AC and FVOCI  -  -11  -100 

Negative interest on other cash investments and derivatives  -  -27  -100 

Interest expenses  -388  -981  > 100 

Positive interest on borrowings and derivatives  1  36  -97 

Net interest income  292  260  12 

Net commission income  11  18  -39 

Result from hedging  6  7  -14 

Result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL  73  161  > 100 

Net income from financial investments  -  -  - 

Result from the disposal of financial assets classified as AC  -7  2  >-100 

Total income  375  303  24 

Loan loss provisions  2  311  94 

Total income after loan loss provisions  377  334  13 

Administrative expenses  -156  -150  4 

Other operating result  29  40  -28 

Expenses for regulatory affairs, deposit guarantee fund and banking associations  -20  -29  -31 

Net income before restructuring and transformation  230  195  18 

Result from restructuring and transformation  -  -17  100 

Net income before taxes  230  178  29 

Income tax expense  -52  29  > 100 

Group net result  178  207  -14 

Group net result attributable to Hamburg Commercial Bank shareholders  178  207  -14 

1) The previous year´s figures have been restated; further explanatory information can be found in the notes to the Group financial statements (Note 2). 

 

Total income increased significantly as planned   
Hamburg Commercial Bank generated total income of € 375 
million in the first half of 2023. This means that the earnings 
figure was almost one-quarter higher than the level reported 
for the same period of the previous year (€ 303 million). Total 
income is dominated by net interest income, which at € 292 
million was € 32 million (or 12 %) higher than in the same pe-
riod of the previous year due to the further increase in the net 
operating interest margin. The strongest driver behind the sig-
nificant increase in total income was the significantly improved 
FVPL result compared to the same period of the previous year. 
This amounted to € 73 million in the first six months of 2023 
(same period of the previous year: € 16 million), supported by 
favourable development on the financial markets for the Bank 
and its positioning in the face of rising interest rates. The other 
items within total income made a slightly positive contribution 
to total income, albeit to a moderately lesser extent than in the 
first six months of 2022. Developments in the individual items 

making up total income and their main causes are presented 
below: 

In the first half of 2023, net interest income amounted to 
€ 292 million, up by around 12 % on the value for the same pe-
riod of the previous year (€ 260 million). This marked the con-
tinuation of the growth trend in net interest income, which 
also sees the Bank benefit from the rising interest rate envi-
ronment in line with the general development in the banking 
environment. The increase in net interest income is due to the 
expansion of the net interest margin (NIM) in the lending 
units. In the Shipping and Project Finance segments, the sig-
nificant margin expansion led to a year-on-year increase in net 
interest income in spite of lower average segment assets. In 
the Corporates segment, too, the net interest margin and net 
interest income were up year-on-year, not least due to ongo-
ing asset allocation to the higher-margin international area, 
while in Real Estate, there was a slight decline in net interest 
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income with stable margin development due to lower vol-
umes. At the level of the Group, the NIM has increased from 
164 basis points to 182 basis points. 

Net commission income, which was still in line with expec-
tations, amounted to € 11 million as at 30 June 2023. The de-
crease compared to the same period of the previous year (€ 18 
million) is due primarily to higher other commission expenses 
and lower commission income in the lending business. Other 
commission expenses were almost exclusively attributable to 
expenses for fees paid to portfolio managers of the fully con-
solidated fund subsidiaries (loan funds), which the Bank is us-
ing to strengthen the diversification of net interest income. 

In the result from financial instruments categorised as 
FVPL, which came to what the Bank considers to be a very 
good € 73 million (same period of the previous year: € 16 mil-
lion), the Bank benefited from the development of those valu-
ation parameters that are most relevant for the FVPL result 
during the year, namely interest rates, credit spreads and ex-
change rates (FX) on what were, at times, volatile financial 
markets. The main contributing factors to the result were posi-
tive effects from interest rate derivatives used to manage the 
banking book, which materialised in an interest rate environ-
ment characterised by high volatility, especially in the first 
quarter. The narrowing of credit spreads, which had increased 
significantly in the prior-year period due to the outbreak of 
war in Ukraine, also had a positive effect on the measurement 
of FVPL assets. There were also moderate positive effects on 
earnings from FX management (hedges) as a result of the 
slight appreciation of the euro against the USD. 

The result from the disposal of financial assets classified 
as AC was in slightly negative territory at € -7 million (same 
period of the previous year: € 2 million) and mainly includes 
the negative disposal result from the winding-down of a larger 
exposure in the Real Estate segment. 

Balanced loan loss provisions 
The change in loan loss provisions amounted to a net reversal 
of € 2 million as at the reporting date (same period of the pre-
vious year: net reversal of € 31 million). 

At Stage 3, moderate net additions in the Real Estate seg-
ment (€ -11 million) and net reversals in the Corporates seg-
ment (€ 9 million) more or less balanced each other out. In the 
other segments, there were no significant effects at this stage. 
The addition to the Real Estate segment relates to two real es-
tate financing transactions that defaulted during the reporting 
period. The additions recorded for these financing transac-
tions were offset by partial reversals from the partial disposal 
of an NPE exposure. In the Corporates segment, the net rever-
sal is essentially attributable to the improved economic out-
look for two loan exposures (hotel operating companies) in the 
wake of the recovery from pandemic-related impacts.

At Stages 1 and 2, a net addition was recorded in the Real Es-
tate segment (€ -31 million). The reversals resulting from the 
winding down of a large exposure and from rating improve-
ments are more than compensated by the increase in model 
overlays for the Real Estate segment. The retail property (Re-
tail) and building land financing sectors are currently particu-
larly affected by the loss of purchasing power and the sharp 
rise in interest rates. The uncertainties regarding the potential 
macroeconomic effects on these portfolios were mapped us-
ing model overlays. The net reversals at Stages 1 and 2 rec-
orded in the Project Finance (€ 24 million) and Shipping (€ 8 
million) segments offset the net additions to the Real Estate 
segment. In the Energy (Project Finance) sector, there is now 
certainty in France with regard to guaranteed feed-in tariffs 
for customers, and thus also certainty for the Bank, so that 
both the loan loss provisions and the corresponding model 
overlays have largely been reversed. In the Shipping segment, 
the model overlays for the tankers sub-portfolio in particular 
were reversed, due to the positive development in the market 
situation and the medium-term forecasts for charter rates and 
ship prices. 

Moderate increase in administrative expenses 
Administrative expenses amounted to € 156 million as at 30 
June 2023 (same period of the previous year: € 150 million). 
However, as the Bank remains cautious in its ongoing efforts to 
expand its workforce in light of the uncertain economic envi-
ronment and continues to employ effective cost management 
to counter what remain high inflationary pressures, the in-
crease of 4 % was lower than assumed in the 2022 year-end 
projections. 

Personnel expenses amounted to € 69 million, putting 
them exactly on a par with the same period of the previous 
year, as salary increases and slightly lower expenses for varia-
ble remuneration more or less balanced each other out. Infor-
mation on the development of the number of employees in 
the Group, as well as other key employee figures can be found 
in the chapter "Employees of Hamburg Commercial Bank". 

Operating expenses (including depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets) 
amounted to € 87 million (same period of the previous year: € 
80 million). The costs of ongoing operations ("run the bank" 
costs) increased moderately from € 56 million to € 61 million 
in the wake of higher expenses for legal advice and marketing, 
among other things. In the other expense categories, cost de-
velopment was stable. The forward-looking "change the bank" 
costs increased only slightly. These amounted to € 26 million, 
up from the € 24 million incurred in the first six months of 
2022. Once again, the “change the bank” costs were largely 
attributable to the IT transformation projects of Hamburg 
Commercial Bank. 
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Other operating result characterised by one-off effects as 
in the same period of the previous year 
At € 29 million, the other operating result once again made a 
positive contribution to the Group net result, albeit to a lesser 
extent than in the same period of the previous year (€ 40 mil-
lion). As in the previous year, one-off effects were a significant 
component of the result item. These related in particular to in-
come from earn-out agreements in connection with subsidiar-
ies sold in previous years (€ 18 million) and income from the 
reversal of provisions for litigation risks (€ 11 million). 

Annual contributions for bank levy and deposit guarantee 
fund already recognised in full – lower bank levy 
Expenses for regulatory affairs, the Deposit Protection Fund 
and banking associations amounted to € 20 million on the ba-
sis of the fixed (bank levy) or expected (Deposit Protection 
Fund) annual contributions, putting them down by almost 
one-third on the same period of the previous year, in which ex-
penses of € 29 million were incurred, due to lower contribu-
tions for the bank levy (€ 12 million; same period of the previ-
ous year: € 20 million). The comparatively significant decrease 
in the bank levy is due, among other things, to the fact that the 
annual target resources and basic contribution for the institu-
tion have decreased compared to the corresponding assess-
ment bases for the 2022 bank levy. 

As expected, no more burdens from transformation 
expenses 
The result from restructuring and transformation was balanced 
at € 0 million in the reporting period (same period of the pre-
vious year: € -17 million). 

As assumed in the planning, no more transformation ex-
penses were incurred in the reporting period. In the first six 
months of 2022, transformation expenses in the amount of € 
14 million had still been recorded (mainly for project activities 
related to the payment transaction system changeover).  

The result from restructuring amounted to € 0 million 
(same period of the previous year: € -3 million). 

Net income before taxes up by almost 30 % year-on-year – 
income tax expense returns to normal as planned 
Against the backdrop of the above-mentioned developments 
in the individual items, net income before taxes as at 30 June 
2023 amounted to € 230 million, up by almost 30 % on the 
level witnessed in the same period of the previous year (€ 178 
million). 

As assumed in the forecast, income tax expense has re-
turned to normal. It amounted to € -52 million, after having 
made a marked positive contribution to the Group net result in 
the same period of the previous year at € 29 million. Income 
tax include income from current taxes (€ 15 million) and ex-
penses from deferred taxes (€ 67 million). Based on the up-
dated tax planning for 2023, deferred tax expense comprises 

an expense from the reversal of deferred tax assets on tempo-
rary differences (€ 99 million) and, in the opposite direction, 
income from the increase in deferred tax assets on loss car-
ryforwards (€ 31 million). 

Group net result as at 30 June 2023 higher than expected 
After income tax expense, Hamburg Commercial Bank re-
ported a Group net result of € 178 million as at the reporting 
date (same period of the previous year: € 207 million). 

This means that Hamburg Commercial Bank is on track at 
the mid-point of the year to achieve its earnings targets for the 
year as a whole. The earnings trend was characterised by de-
velopment in the earnings base that was consistent with the 
Bank’s plans, while loan loss provisions and costs were lower 
than planned. All in all, the aforementioned developments led 
to a result that was slightly higher than expected for the first 
six months. 

Compared to the first half of 2022, the decrease in the 
Group net result by € 29 million results from the normalisation 
of income tax expense (decrease of € 81 million). As a result, 
net income before taxes increased by € 52 million. The deci-
sive factor here was the € 72 million increase in total income, 
which significantly overcompensated for the decline in loan 
loss provisions (€ -29 million). A slight decline in other operat-
ing result was more than offset, in a year-on-year comparison, 
by the absence of additional transformation expenses. 
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Net assets and financial position  

Material items on the statement of financial position 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 
Change

in % 

Assets    

Cash reserve  3,353  4,974  -33 

Loans and advances to banks  828  777  7 

Loans and advances to customers  18,388  19,592  -6 

Loan loss provisions  -318  -414  -23 

Trading assets  228  441  -48 

Financial investments  7,353  5,490  34 

Deferred tax assets  640  697  -8 

Other assets  340  261  30 

Total assets  30,812  31,818  -3 

    

Liabilities    

Liabilities to banks  4,437  4,606  -4 

Liabilities to customers  13,455  13,243  2 

Securitised liabilities  7,429  7,065  5 

Trading liabilities  311  335  -7 

Provisions  328  361  -9 

Subordinated capital  923  930  -1 

Equity  3,823  5,165  -26 

Other liabilities  106  113  -6 

Total liabilities  30,812  31,818  -3 

 

Moderate balance sheet development characterised by 
dividend payment 
The consolidated statement of financial position showed a 
slight decrease in the first six months of the 2023 financial 
year. Consolidated total assets amounted to € 30,812 million 
at the end of the first six months, around 3 % lower than the 
level at 31 December 2022 (€ 31,818 million). The balance 
sheet development was characterised by the dividend pay-
ment in the amount of € 1.5 billion that was adopted and com-
pleted in April 2023. The cash reserve on the assets side and 
reported equity on the liabilities side decreased accordingly. In 
addition, the assets side was characterised by a moderate de-
cline in loans and advances to customers, which was slightly 
overcompensated by an increase in financial investments. On 
the liabilities side, there were no significant structural changes 
apart from the change in equity. In detail, the developments, 
which were moderate overall, were as follows: 

The cash reserve, which was comparatively high at € 4,974 
million at the end of 2022 in anticipation of the dividend pay-
ment, had been significantly reduced to € 3,353 million by the 
end of the first half of the year after the distribution (31 De-
cember 2022), as planned. To maintain the solid liquidity posi-

tion, the portfolio of highly liquid securities (“Financial invest-
ments” item in the statement of financial position) was in-
creased to partially compensate for this. 

In contrast, there was a slight increase in loans and ad-
vances to banks. These amounted to € 828 million as at 30 
June 2023, up from € 777 million as at 31 December 2022. 

The development of the loan book, reflected by the item in 
the statement of financial position loans and advances to cus-
tomers, was characterised by the further implementation of 
the diversification strategy, but also by the risk-conscious and 
selective business approach in a partly difficult market envi-
ronment. As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount of loans 
and advances to customers was € 18,388 million (31 December 
2022: € 19,592 million). The diversification strategy is reflected 
in the increasingly more balanced portfolio allocation across 
the lending units: the relative shares of loans and advances in 
the Real Estate and Shipping segments have decreased, while 
the shares of the loan book in the Corporates and Project Fi-
nance segments have increased. 

Total loan loss provisions (for items in the statement of fi-
nancial position) amounted to € -318 million (31 December 
2022: € -414 million). The reduction is due primarily to the uti-
lisation of loan loss provisions as part of the partial disposal of a 
larger NPE exposure in the Real Estate segment. As the 
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heightened geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainty re-
mains, the Bank continues to have a comparatively high level 
of model overlays. As at the half-year reporting date, these 
amounted to € 129 million (31 December 2022: € 144 million). 
As at the reporting date, Hamburg Commercial Bank has solid 
coverage ratios for the overall AC portfolio (1.7 %, 31 December 
2022: 2.1 %) and for the NPE portfolio (NPE Coverage Ratio 
AC: 37.0 %, 31 December: 68.9 %) from the Bank’s point of 
view. The decline in the NPE Coverage Ratio AC can be traced 
back to structural changes in the composition of the NPE 
portfolio. For the largest addition in terms of volume (a single 
exposure in the Project Finance segment), only comparatively 
low loan loss provisions had to be set up due to existing ECA 
coverage, whereas the partial disposal mentioned above had 
an above-average coverage ratio. 

Trading assets were down on the end of the prior-year re-
porting period, falling by almost half to € 228 million (31 De-
cember 2022: € 441 million). The decrease is mainly due to the 
lower carrying amount of the positive fair values of FX deriva-
tives, as well as to the reduced portfolio of promissory note 
loans. 

Financial investments were increased further as the Bank 
continued to implement its strategy of diversifying the balance 
sheet, as well as in the context of liquidity management. As at 
30 June 2023, their carrying amount came to € 7,353 million, a 
noticeable increase of 34 % compared to the prior-year re-
porting date (31 December 2022: € 5,490 million). The in-
crease is due to the increase in highly liquid securities, as well 
as further investments in securitisation structures with invest-
ment grade ratings (mainly collateralised loan obligations and 
agency mortgage-backed securities). 

Deferred tax assets fell by 8 % to € 640 million (31 Decem-
ber 2022: € 697 million). They consist of deferred taxes on loss 
carryforwards in the amount of € 349 million and deferred 
taxes on temporary differences in the amount of € 291 million. 

Other assets increased by € 79 million compared to the 
end of the previous year to € 340 million as at 30 June 2023. 
This was mainly due to the change in the reimbursement claim 
from plan assets and an increase in other receivables from eq-
uity holdings and affiliated companies. 

On the liabilities side, liabilities to banks fell slightly by 4 % 
to € 4,437 million (31 December 2022: € 4,606 million). This 
item includes borrowings from the ECB under the TLTRO III 
programmes. After the further repayments of € 0.55 billion in 
the reporting period, the utilisation of these programmes 
amounted to only € 1.0 billion (nominal amount) as at the half-
year reporting date. By contrast, the portfolio of liabilities from 
repo transactions increased. 

In line with the Bank´s funding strategy, which aims to fur-
ther increase the share of organic funding, liabilities to cus-
tomers account for an increasing share of refinancing. These 

were up by 2 % year-on-year from € 13,243 million to € 13,455 
billion. The increase is due to the marked increase in deposits 
from € 9.2 billion to € 9.9 billion. Not least this development 
demonstrates the stability of Hamburg Commercial Bank´s re-
financing structure in what is, at times, a turbulent market en-
vironment. 

Securitised liabilities amounted to € 7,429 million as at the 
half-year reporting date, 5 % higher than the carrying amount 
at the end of 2022 (€ 7,065 million). The development of this 
item was characterised by the benchmark issues in the first 
half of the year (senior preferred bond in the amount of € 0.75 
billion and mortgage Pfandbrief in the amount of € 0.5 bil-
lion), which replaced maturing bonds. 

In tandem with the development on the assets side, trad-
ing liabilities also decreased. However, the reduction was no-
ticeably less pronounced, namely 7 % or € 24 million to € 311 
million. The development is due first and foremost to the re-
duction in the negative market values of interest and cur-
rency-related as well as other derivative financial instruments. 

Provisions showed a moderate drop and amounted to 
€ 328 million (31 December 2022: € 361 million). The drop was 
attributable to lower early retirement obligations due to utili-
sation, as well as lower provisions for litigation risks and per-
sonnel expenses. 

The structural composition of subordinated capital has not 
changed. As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount came to 
€ 923 million (31 December 2022: € 930 million). 

Despite the positive net result for the period, reported eq-
uity decreased significantly, as planned, compared to the end 
of the previous year and totalled € 3,823 million as at 30 June 
2023 (31 December 2022: € 5,165 million). The aforemen-
tioned dividend payment made in April 2023 in the amount of 
€ 1,500 million was the decisive factor in this development. 

Business volume also down 
The business volume (total assets plus off-balance sheet busi-
ness) amounted to € 35,488 million as at 30 June 2023 
(31 December 2022: € 35,943 million). The decline of 1 % was 
less pronounced than the reduction in total assets, as off-bal-
ance sheet business increased compared to the end of the 
previous year. This was mainly due to the increase in irrevoca-
ble loan commitments, in particular in the Project Finance and 
Shipping segments, which rose by a total of € 678 million to 
€ 3,972 million in the first half of 2023 (31 December 2022: 
€ 3,294 million). The reduction in sureties and guarantees, 
which decreased by € 127 million compared to the end of the 
previous year to € 704 million (31 December 2022: € 831 mil-
lion), had a slight opposite effect. 
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Structure of liabilities by financial instruments  

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

 Total 
of which 

> 1 year Total 
of which 

> 1 year 

Secured: Pfandbriefe and asset-based funding  7,399  5,515  7,383  5,753 

Covered bonds (Pfandbriefe)  4,312  3,452  4,705  3,141 

Other secured funding  3,087  2,063  2,678  2,612 

Unsecured liabilities (senior preferred)  15,605  3,884  15,040  4,252 

Unsecured liabilities (senior non-preferred)  2,317  1,910  2,491  2,011 

Profit participation certificates and other subordinated liabilities  923  917  930  930 

Hybrid instruments  –  –  –  – 

Total  26,244  12,226  25,844  12,946 

 

The above table breaks down Hamburg Commercial Bank’s li-
abilities by financial instrument and thereby takes into ac-
count the requirements of capital markets participants. Liabili-
ties with a maturity of more than one year are separately 
shown. The financial instruments can be reconciled to the bal-
ance sheet line items liabilities to customers, liabilities to 
banks, securitised liabilities and subordinated capital. The car-
rying amounts of financial instruments excluding principal re-
payments and accrued interest are assigned to maturity bands 
in the above table. 

One focal point within the context of long-term refinanc-
ing relates to securitised debt instruments (Pfandbriefe, asset-
based funding). These mainly include debt instruments issued 
under Pfandbrief programmes (mortgage, public sector and 
ship Pfandbrief programmes) as well as other asset-based 
funding issues, repo transactions and deposits from develop-
ment banks. The total amount of secured debt instruments 
outstanding was € 7,399 million as at 30 June 2023 (31 De-
cember 2022: € 7,383 million). The unsecured liabilities that 
can be classified as senior preferred and senior non-preferred 
include the call and time deposits mainly comprising client de-
posits, as well as other unsecured financing instruments. They 
totalled € 17,922 million as at the reporting date (31 December 
2022: € 17,531 million). Call and time deposits are shown to-
gether with structured unsecured financial instruments in the 
"Senior Preferred" category and amount to € 15,605 million in 
total (31 December 2022: € 15,040 million). The "senior non-
preferred" category consists primarily of bearer and registered 
bonds that do not have any structured elements and 
amounted to € 2,317 million as at 30 June 2023 (31 Decem-
ber 2022: € 2,491 million). 

Profit participation rights and other subordinated liabilities 
(€ 923 million, 31 December 2022: € 930 million) make up the 
subordinated capital. 

Capital and funding  
RWA, regulatory capital and capital ratios 

 30.06.20231) 31.12.20222) 

Risk-weighted assets (RWA) (€ bn)  16.5  15.4 

Regulatory capital (€ bn)  4.0  4.1 

thereof: CET1 capital (€ bn)  3.1  3.2 

Overall capital ratio (%)  24.4  26.8 

Tier 1 capital ratio (%)  18.5  20.5 

CET1 capital ratio (%)  18.5  20.5 

Leverage ratio (%)3)  9.4  9.5 

1) The profits for the first half of 2023 have not been taken into account. 
2) The dividend payment of € 1.5 billion made in 2023 was taken into account in ad-
vance in the Common Equity Tier 1 capital as at 31 December 2022. 

3) Restated comparative figure as at 
31.12.2022. 

   

Capital ratios at a high level 
As expected, the CET1 ratio of 18.5 % is down compared to 31 
December 2022 (20.5 %). This development results, on the 
one hand, from the increase in RWA for credit risks (incl. other 
RWA), which is due, among other things, to rating model re-
calibrations, the effects of which are anticipated in the addi-
tional risk position in accordance with Article 3 CRR. On the 
other hand, the CET1 capital amounted to € 3.1 billion as at 30 
June 2023, which is slightly below the previous year´s level (€ 
3.2 billion) due to higher regulatory deductions. It is important 
to note at this point that the capital ratios - in anticipation of a 
possible dividend payment for the 2023 financial year - are 
shown before taking the interim profit achieved in the first six 
months of 2023 into account. The Tier 1 capital ratio and the 
overall capital ratio developed in line with the Common Equity 
Tier 1 ratio compared with 31 December 2022.
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The capital ratios still exceed the regulatory requirements 
resulting from the SREP process significantly. The regulatory 
requirements were adhered to at all times during the reporting 
period. Please refer to the Risk Report for information on the 
minimum banking supervisory requirements. 

The leverage ratio dropped slightly to 9.4 % compared to 
31 December 2022 (9.5 %) due to the lower Tier 1 capital. This 
means that the leverage ratio is still significantly higher than 
the regulatory requirement of 3 % and, together with the high 
capital ratios, pays testimony to the Bank´s very robust capital 
position. 

Distribution policy 
In April 2023, the Bank started making dividend payments, 
paying a total dividend of € 1.5 billion for the 2022 financial 
year based on the distribution policy adopted by the Manage-
ment Board and the Supervisory Board. 

Going forward, the Bank aims to normalise its capital buff-
ers in the context of its distribution policy, initially to a target of 
at least 17 % CET1, while achieving business growth at the same 
time, as assumed in the current business plan. 

In its corporate planning, the Bank takes into account spe-
cific and measurable financial and non-financial objectives, al-
ways aiming to improve profitability as well as to maintain capi-
tal buffers so that the business model allows the company to 
continue as a going concern even under adverse circum-
stances and creates sustainable value for the Bank’s share-
holders. 

The distribution of dividends is a discretionary decision. As 
a result, the Management Board and Supervisory Board are 
free to propose deviations from the dividend policy described 
above. Given what is currently a high level of capital and a 
strong, capital-generating business model, the Management 
Board will review the dividend policy annually when it updates 
its corporate planning. 

Refinancing strengthened significantly after rating 
upgrade with benchmark issues and increased volume of 
client deposits 
The refinancing situation in the reporting period was charac-
terised by very volatile and difficult capital markets. The sharp 
rise in interest rates combined with a global decline in deposits 
led to temporary turbulence in the banking environment in the 

first half of 2023, triggered by difficulties faced by individual 
US regional banks (including: Silicon Valley Bank insolvency) 
and the forced takeover of Credit Suisse by UBS in Switzer-
land. Towards the end of the first half of the year, the financial 
markets stabilised significantly. 

Fundraising is in line with the Bank’s expectations. In total, 
the Bank raised around € 1.3 billion in long-term funds in the 
first half of 2023. During the reporting period, the Bank issued 
another € 750 million senior preferred benchmark transaction 
following its rating upgrade, following this up with a € 500 mil-
lion mortgage Pfandbrief in June. These bonds will strengthen 
the Bank´s funding base in the long term. For further details on 
these issues, please refer to the comments in the chapter enti-
tled "Business development – significant developments and 
events in the 2023 reporting year". The Bank is planning fur-
ther benchmark issues in the unsecured segment as well as 
Pfandbrief issues in the coming years. 

The strong refinancing structure enabled the payment of a 
dividend of € 1.5 billion in the first half of 2023, as well as the 
repayment of a further € 550 million from the refinancing via 
the TLTRO programme. At the end of the reporting period, the 
TLTRO portfolio still amounts to € 1.0 billion. 

In addition to long-term refinancing, the increase in the 
deposit position by € 0.7 billion from the Bank´s client busi-
ness also contributed to the implementation of the funding 
strategy. 

Key liquidity ratios 

 30.06.2023 31.12.20221) 

Total deposits (€ bn)  9.9  9.2 

LCR (%)  157  197 

NSFR (%)  113  113 

1) NSFR (%): The dividend payment of € 1.5 billion made in 2023 was taken into ac-
count in advance in the Common Equity Tier 1 capital as at 31 December 2022. 

 

The regulatory requirements for the liquidity ratios were met 
during the reporting period. 

The Risk Report contains supplementary information on 
the capital and refinancing situation of Hamburg Commercial 
Bank. 
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Rating 
 
Rating overview as at 30.06.2023 

  Moody's 

Issuer rating (long-term)   A3, stable 

Current liabilities   P-2 

Stand-alone rating (financial strength)   baa3 

Deposit rating   A3 

"Preferred" Senior Unsecured Debt   A3 

"Non-Preferred" Senior Unsecured 
Debt 

  Baa2 

Mortgage Pfandbrief   Aaa 

Ship Pfandbrief   Aa3 

 

The table above provides an overview of Hamburg Commer-
cial Bank AG´s ratings awarded by Moody´s as at 30 June 
2023. With regard to the upgrade of HCOB´s issuer and stand-
alone ratings, as well as key instrument ratings, on 17 February 
2023, we refer to the comments in the section "Moody´s up-
grades HCOB´s issuer rating to A3" within the chapter "Busi-
ness development – Significant developments and events in 
the first half of 2023". 

 



Interim management report Economic report 21
  
  

Segment results

Segment overview January to June 2023  

(€ m)  Real
Estate

 

Shipping Project
Finance 

Corpo-
rates 

Lending 
Units 

Treasury 
& Group 

Functions 

Reconcil-
iation 

Group 
(income 

state-
ment/

balance 
sheet) 

Total income 2023  94  87  45  96  322  7  46  375 

 2022  90  82  30  46  248  177  -122  303 

Loan loss provisions 
(expected loss) 

2023  -5  -2  -4  -6  -17  -  19  21)

 2022  -4  -3  -3  -11  -21  -  52  311)

Administrative expenses &  
regulatory costs 

2023  -46  -44  -23  -41  -154  -24  2  -176 

 2022  -39  -35  -15  -24  -113  -66  -  -179 

Earnings after taxes 2023  34  32  14  39  119  9  50  178 

 2022  37  35  9  9  90  106  11  207 

RoE after taxes (%) 2023  11.0  17.2  9.4  13.3  12.6  8.3   16.8 

 2022  11.8  18.2  6.4  3.6  10.0  101.1   20.5 

Segment assets (€ bn) 30.06.2023  7.5  2.9  3.5  5.1  19.0  11.8  -  30.8 

 31.12.2022  8.1  3.5  3.4  4.6  19.6  12.2  -  31.8 

Loan loss provisions (income 
statement) 

2023  -41  8  25  9  1  1  -  2 

 2022  43  4  -15  -3  29  1  1  31 

1)  Loan loss provisions in accordance with IFRS at Group level. 

      

Structure of segment reporting 

The management of the Group comprises four market-related 
segments (“Real Estate”, “Shipping”, “Project Finance” and 
“Corporates”), which are also summarised as “Lending Units” 
and the segment "Treasury & Group Functions". The “Recon-
ciliation” column is used to express all of the management in-
dicators in line with the IFRS perspective. For further, more 
detailed information on segment reporting, including the ad-
justments made to the prior-year values for comparison pur-
poses, please refer to note 37  "Segment reporting” in the 
notes to the Group financial statements.   

Further information on the segments and their strategic 
orientation can be found in Hamburg Commercial Bank’s 
Group Management Report for the 2022 financial year in the 
"Strategic direction for the business areas” section of the 
chapter entitled "Basis of the Group". 

Business development in the segments 

Across all segments, profitability in the first half of 2023 was 
above the level seen in the same period of last year. The in-
crease in RoE after tax in the lending units segments from 10.0 
% to 12.6 % reflected the successful alignment of the portfolio, 
which is receiving additional tailwind from the changes in the 

interest rate environment. Both a selective approach to new 
business and an overall change in asset allocation, in which 
higher-margin business in new areas is helping to diversify the 
Bank’s portfolio, contributed to this trend. Overall, all lending 
units were able to expand their net interest margin (NIM) com-
pared to the previous year. 

The Real Estate segment generated net income after 
taxes of € 34 million in the first half of 2023 (same period of 
the previous year: € 37 million). The operating business con-
tinued to be characterised by the risk-conscious further devel-
opment of the portfolio, the aim being to optimise earnings, in 
a challenging market environment, with less of a focus on new 
business and more on portfolio management. Two larger leg-
acy exposures, for example, were reduced successfully. Com-
pared to the segment assets, which fell to € 7.5 billion (31 De-
cember 2022: € 8.1 billion), net interest and commission in-
come from the operating business nevertheless remained vir-
tually constant, while risk costs and administrative expenses 
increased. Gross new business remained subdued due to the 
low demand for loans in view of the interest rate environment 
and the risk-conscious business approach in the first half of 
the year at a total of € 0.7 billion (same period of the previous 
year: € 0.7 billion). With a margin situation that remains posi-
tive, the risk-conscious and selective approach to new busi-
ness is particularly evident. The slight decline in the segment´s 
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RoE to 11.0 % (same period of the previous year: 11.8 %) is due 
to the slightly lower result than in the previous year. 

In the Shipping segment, net income after taxes 
amounted to  € 32 million (same period of the previous year: € 
35 million). This means that operating profitability, measured 
in terms of RoE, dropped to 17.2 % (same period of the previ-
ous year: 18.2 %). The focused gross new business with national 
and international shipping companies with good credit ratings 
was slightly above the level seen in the same period in the pre-
vious year at € 0.7 billion (€ 0.6 billion).  At the same time, the 
good liquidity position of shipping companies with early loan 
repayments and the weakening of the US dollar exchange rate 
led to a further decline in segment assets to € 2.9 billion (31 
December 2022: € 3.5 billion). Nevertheless, the net interest 
result from the operating business was still up in a year-on-
year comparison. Administrative expenses, which also in-
creased, nevertheless led to a slight decline in earnings. 

The Project Finance segment reported net income after 
taxes of € 14 million (same period of the previous year: € 9 mil-
lion). Total income rose to € 45 million (same period of the 
previous year: € 30 million), with risk costs that remained vir-
tually constant at € -4 million (same period of the previous 
year: € -3 million). Segment assets as at 30 June 2023 came to 
€ 3.5 billion (31 December 2022: € 3.4 billion). New business 
increased year-on-year (€ 0.6 billion; same period of the pre-
vious year: € 0.5 billion), with the weighting, both in new and 
existing business, shifting towards infrastructure, and first and 
foremost towards projects aimed at the expansion of digital in-
frastructure. The volume of renewable energies fell slightly in a 
very competitive market. At 9.4 %, the segment’s profitability 
was up on the previous year (6.4 %).  

Net income after taxes in the Corporates segment came 
to € 39 million (same period of the previous year: € 9 million) 
and includes positive earnings development both in Germany 
and internationally. With gross new business of € 0.9 billion, 
the value seen in the same period of the previous year (€ 1.0 
billion) was almost reached. Segment assets as at 30 June 
2023 came to € 5.1 billion (31 December 2022: € 4.6 billion). 
Margin development was positive, not least also thanks to the 
new business in the Corporates International unit, which con-
tributed to the further diversification of the Bank’s portfolio, 
meaning that the segment’s operating profitability, measured 
in terms of RoE, rose to 13.3 % in total (same period of the pre-
vious year: 3.6 %). 

The Treasury & Group Functions segment generated net 
income after taxes of € 9 million (same period of the previous 
year: € 106 million). Among other things, total income in the 
strategic investment portfolio contributed to the slightly posi-
tive result. The previous year´s figure included substantial pos-
itive valuation effects in the management of pension obliga-
tions which were not repeated this year.  In addition, the seg-
ment result also shows special effects in the other operating 
result, in particular resulting from the reversal of provisions for 

legal risks and the earn-out agreement in connection with a 
subsidiary sold in previous years.  

"Reconciliation" also comprises valuation and reporting 
differences that reconcile the internal reporting results pre-
sented in the segment report to the Group financial state-
ments prepared in accordance with IFRS. Differences result 
from the reporting of effects within OCI in the total income of 
the segments. Further reconciliation effects in total income 
result from the different presentation of capital market trans-
actions and hedge accounting effects in internal reporting and 
IFRS accounting. In addition, loan loss provisions reflect the 
difference between the expected loss on transactions in the 
segments and loan loss provisions based on the Group state-
ment of income in accordance with the IFRS. The difference 
between the taxation recognised in the segments based on a 
uniform tax rate and actual income taxes at Group level is also 
shown in the Reconciliation item.  

Detailed information on the methodology and included ef-
fects can be found in note 37  "Segment reporting" in the notes 
to the Group financial statements.  

Final assessment of the situation of Hamburg 
Commercial Bank 

Overall, the Management Board considers the Bank’s devel-
opment in the first half of 2023 to be in line with expectations 
in an environment that remains challenging overall. While the 
robust capital position and solid liquidity ratios developed ac-
cording to plan, the slight increase in the NPE ratio (with a 
moderate development in loan loss provisions) is offset in this 
overall assessment by operating business development that 
was slightly better than expected. 

In terms of profitability, the Bank was once again able to 
confirm the positive trend seen in the recent past. This is pri-
marily reflected in an ongoing interest in the net operating in-
terest margin, good overall operating performance in the lend-
ing units and an adequate development in the cost base. The 
Bank also considers itself well positioned for the remainder of 
the year, as it will continue with its proven strategy for asset al-
location and liability management and will continuously opti-
mise its positioning in relation to the current interest rate envi-
ronment. On the asset side, the diversification of the loan book 
has increased further. The Bank also has a well-diversified fi-
nancial investment portfolio. This is almost exclusively meas-
ured at fair value through OCI, meaning that temporary 
changes in value are reflected in the balance sheet. Irrespec-
tive of this, the performance of the corresponding assets was 
stable in the first half of the year, i.e. no significant changes in 
fair value were reflected in OCI. This is because the Bank 
waited until interest rates were already on the rise before ex-
panding its portfolio. The refinancing structure remained sta-
ble even in a volatile market environment and was strength-
ened further in particular by the increase in client deposits and 
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the two benchmark issues. Despite the good cost/income ra-
tios confirmed at the end of the first half of the year, the Bank 
has implemented measures as part of its stringent cost man-
agement strategy to further increase operating efficiency in its 
core business (“Fast & Accurate” project) and to cushion the 
below of the existing inflationary pressure and create re-
sources for value-driving growth investments. The pace of 
staff expansion is being synchronised with the slightly adjusted 
expectations for balance sheet development. On this basis, 
HCOB aims to increase staff capacity from the current 863 
FTE to between 900 and 920 FTE by the end of the year. Tak-
ing the aforementioned aspects into account, the Bank con-
siders itself well positioned to achieve the year-end target for 
the cost-income ratio of 45 %. Looking ahead, the CIR should 
fall to a value below the 40 % mark as the finalisation of the IT 
transformation process draws closer, in conjunction with the 
Bank’s planned earnings growth. 

Currently, the most significant challenge facing the Bank is 
maintaining solid asset quality and volumes. With regard to 
the NPE volume, Hamburg Commercial Bank has not been 
able to escape the deterioration in the macroeconomic envi-
ronment and the consequences of the ECB’s interest rate pol-
icy entirely, despite its stringent risk management. The net in-
crease, however, is mainly due to a larger individual case where 
the default risks are limited by ECA cover. Accordingly, the 

NPE ratio had increased only moderately by the end of the 
first half of the year. With balance sheet coverage ratios that 
remain comfortable (including model overlays of € 129 million) 
and its existing NPE action plan, the Bank is optimistic at this 
point in time that it will be able to moderately reduce the NPE 
volume from the current level by the end of 2023. 

With the capital ratios reported at the end of the first half 
of the year, the Bank remains one of the best-capitalised 
banks in the European banking market, despite the planned 
drop compared to the values seen at the end of 2022; in par-
ticular, the leverage ratio is well above the sector average. The 
results of the EBA stress test published in July 2023, in which 
Hamburg Commercial Bank showed above-average perfor-
mance, demonstrate the resilience of the Bank´s business 
model in the face of adverse macroeconomic scenarios. 

Even after the dividend payment and the scheduled re-
payment of further TLTRO holdings, the Bank has solid liquid-
ity ratios. 

In view of the developments and positioning outlined 
above, Hamburg Commercial Bank considers itself well posi-
tioned overall as at the reporting date to achieve its objectives, 
even in the current difficult environment. Details regarding the 
continuing challenges, as well as opportunities and risks of fu-
ture development, can be found in the “Forecast, opportuni-
ties and risks report”.
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Employees of  
Hamburg Commercial Bank  

Recruitment initiative to strengthen the team, new 
employer branding campaign and expansion of the 
corporate benefits landscape 
Human resources work in the first half of 2023 remained domi-
nated by increased recruitment activities, as well as invest-
ments in our employees, including moves to expand the cor-
porate benefits landscape. Another focal point was the launch 
of the new employer branding campaign. 

Recruitment activities to strengthen resources in both 
quantitative and qualitative terms at all stages in the value 
chain are already clearly bearing fruit. Although the number of 
employees within the Hamburg Commercial Bank Group de-
creased by five to 863 full-time equivalents (FTEs) as at 30 
June 2023 compared to 31 December 2022, taking into ac-
count the employees who left as planned with effect from the 
turn of the year 2022/2023, the workforce increased by 14 
FTEs in the first half of the 2023 financial year. An employer 
branding campaign was launched in June 2023 to support our 
recruitment activities. This ties in directly with the brand strat-
egy, which was also revamped in June. Since 2019, HCOB has 
stood for "clarity" as its brand promise. With the new brand 
strategy and its leitmotif "Clarity as a service", HCOB is em-
phasising the importance of clarity even more by explicitly ac-
tivating "clarity" as a service promise that is to be expressed in 
the Bank´s services. As part of the modern and internationally 
focused employer branding campaign that ties in with the 
Bank’s brand strategy, HCOB is using external advertising 
measures to showcase itself as an attractive employer. The 
campaign slogan "Clarity is Capital" expresses the Bank´s 
strong and clear market position, also with regard to the highly 
competitive labour market. With a new colour scheme reflect-
ing both HCOB´s clarity and its maritime roots, the external 
campaign ran for a period of six weeks. Conventional (adver-
tisements in magazines and in outdoor advertisements) and 
digital formats were used as the presentation media. The intro-
duction of the "Employees Recruit Employees" programme 
called "PEARL" at the beginning of the year is also being ad-
dressed as part of the campaign and has already translated 
into the first few success stories. The HR strategy for 2022-
2024, adopted in 2022, was also operationalised and pursued 
further during the period under review. The Long-Term Incen-
tive Programme (LTIP) for managers and selected senior ex-

perts, which was launched back in 2022, meets the expecta-
tions associated with further dovetailing the interests of our 
owners and employees. 

Employees in the Group 
 
 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Full-time employees (FTE) 
in the Group1) 

 863  868 

thereof: Women  299  303 

thereof: Men  564  565 

thereof: Employees in Germany  811  825 

thereof: Employees abroad  52  43 

Total number of employees in the 
Group ("headcount") 

 972  975 

   

Key employee figures   

Part-time employees (%)  17.8  17.6 

Average age in years  45.4  45.7 

Average period of employment 
(years) 

 13.2  13.7 

1) Total number of employees excluding trainees, temporary staff and interns. 

 

 

In addition, 2023 will see employees benefit for the first time 
from the benefits that were revised or launched as new benefits 
at the end of 2022. Benefits worthy of particular mention in-
clude the full assumption of the costs of the “Deutschland-
ticket” nationwide local public transport ticket, financial support 
for team-building measures and initiatives allowing employees 
to take up to three working days off per year to do their bit in so-
cial and ecological projects ("Volunteering Days"). Through the 
cooperation with "Hansefit", employees have also been able to 
take advantage of a wide range of sports programmes through-
out Germany at attractive conditions since June. Another focal 
point within the first half of the year was the revision of the regu-
lations on mobile working. A new employer/works council 
agreement in favour of 20 % mobile work has been in force at 
HCOB since July 2023. HCOB was keen to find a regulation 
early on that would combine the advantages of mobile working 
with those of employees coming into the office: new virtual col-
laboration skills gleaned during the coronavirus pandemic and 
face-to-face collaboration both within and across teams to in-
creasingly exploit the benefits of working on site in the office 



Interim management report Employees of Hamburg Commercial Bank 25
  
 

 

 

again. As, however, the Bank wanted to continue to allow its em-
ployees the necessary degree of flexibility, mobile work remains 
an option. It is up to the managers to make diligent decisions on 
any exceptions and to allow employees to spend more time 
working from home, for example to allow them to balance family 
and work commitments. 

Corporate culture and further development 
Continuous development of the corporate culture is a central 
factor for companies that want to remain successful in this 
fast-changing world of work. 

The HR department is actively involved in the "Move 2 
Elbtower" project in order to support employees from day one 
with the changes associated with the move to the Elbtower 
building and to help shape this change. "CoZones", which have 
already been set up in the current office building, are work-
spaces featuring a state-of-the-art design with different ele-
ments to promote collaboration, concentration and a cosy at-
mosphere for dialogue. The CoZones are located on four floors 
and opened in May 2023. 

In addition to the organisation’s development in the con-
text of New Work, personal and professional development of 
all employees within the Bank is at the forefront of its HR work. 
This is why HCOB does its very best to develop and promote 
its employees and talents through a variety of development 
opportunities. The Bank still uses a mentoring programme to 
specifically support exceptional employees, for example. This 
programme has been launched for what is already the third 
time. Cross-business unit networking and increasing talent 
visibility within the Bank is designed to foster further career 
development. 

The internal seminar programme is being replaced by a 
new e-learning platform to which all employees will have ac-
cess to facilitate flexible professional and personal develop-
ment. The offering will be supplemented by language training, 
offering more employees the opportunity to improve on their 
own language skills in English, German, Spanish or French. 

For employees working in sales and credit analysis units, 
the Bank offers a "cash flow" training course organised by an 
external specialised company that is geared towards the 
HCOB business model. All employees in these areas already 
completed this training in 2021/2022 and it will also be offered 
to new hires on an ongoing basis. 

This sees the Bank further expand its digital development 
offering. In addition, all business units have a decentralised 
budget to fund needs-based and function-specific develop-
ment programmes for their employees. 

Four trainees joined the bank in April 2023, the first start 
date for the trainee programme. A total of 18 trainees will start 
work at HCOB in the 2023 financial year, the second start date 
being 1 October of this year.

In addition, the number of students on sandwich programmes 
who will start their hands-on studies at HCOB will double to 
ten. Further training is top priority for HCOB, especially for 
young professionals, which is why the Bank offers a seminar 
lasting several days over the entire training period with exter-
nal support. In addition, trainees have an individual training 
budget at their disposal and sandwich programme students 
who have been taken on by the Bank can follow up on their 
sandwich degree by embarking on further long-term training 
(e.g. A Master´s degree or CFA) as part of the "educa-
tion@work" programme. 

Equal opportunities and targets for the proportion of 
women 
Hamburg Commercial Bank is continuing to promote diversity 
and equal opportunities with the assistance of its equal oppor-
tunities officer. The topics are a particular priority at Hamburg 
Commercial Bank because they increase employer attractive-
ness and allow the Bank to live up to its social responsibility. 

This is why, in December 2022, the Bank made a commit-
ment to further measures to actively promote the issue of di-
versity within the Bank. 

Measures include targeted recruitment activities to in-
crease the pool of female talent and targets to ensure that fe-
male employees are given systematic consideration in succes-
sion planning. These will help the Bank achieve the defined av-
erage target quota of 33 % for the underrepresented gender 
(predominantly women) in management and/or senior expert 
functions. The quota adopted in November 2020 is to be 
achieved by 31 December 2025. This also applies explicitly to 
the BU level. 

In 2023, the Bank’s top female talents, in particular, will re-
ceive support in the form of individual development measures 
and will meet the Management Board at regular intervals 
thanks to various dialogue formats. 

A "Code of Diversity" was also actively addressed in the 
first half of 2023 with external support. This will be published 
both internally and externally at the end of the year. 

In order to promote stronger networks among women 
within the Bank, the women´s network #networkingwomen or-
ganises regular lectures with internal and external experts 
providing food for thought, and offers the opportunity for the 
open exchange of knowledge and experience within this net-
work. 

In the first half of 2023, HCOB again actively organised 
Girls’ and Boys’ Day 2023 and offered pupils a hands-on in-
sight into the working world of a commercial enterprise. 
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Statistics on equal opportunities as at 30 June 20231) 

 

 Number Quota 

 Women Men Total Women Men 

BU heads  3  11  14  21%  79% 

Heads of depart-
ment 

 14  40  54  26%  74% 

Senior positions2)  99  238  337  29%  71% 

Total  113  289  405  29%  71% 

1) Only active employees, in Germany 
2) Not including department heads. 

 

Pursuant to Section 111 (5) of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG), the supervisory board of unlisted companies, if 
they are subject to co-determination, also has to set targets 
for the proportion of women on the supervisory board and the 
management board. In June 2022, the Supervisory Board set 
the following target quotas: 25 % for the Management Board 
and 33 % for the Supervisory Board. Wherever possible, these 
target quotas are to be achieved by 30 June 2027 at the latest. 
For further details, including information on the current target 
achievement level, please refer to the combined management 
report for 2022 as at 31 December 2022, as the current target 
achievement level is the same as at the end of the previous 
year due to the unchanged composition of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board.
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Forecast, opportunities and risks report

Forecast, opportunities and risks report 

The following section should be read in conjunction with the 
other sections in this interim management report. The for-
ward-looking statements contained in this forecast report are 
based on assumptions and conclusions based on information 
available to the Bank at the time this interim management re-
port was prepared. The statements are based on a series of as-
sumptions that relate to future events and are incorporated in 
Hamburg Commercial Bank’s corporate planning. The occur-
rence of future events is subject to uncertainty, risks and other 
factors, many of which are beyond Hamburg Commercial 
Bank’s control. Actual events may therefore differ considera-
bly from the following forward-looking statements below. 

Anticipated underlying conditions 
Forecasts on economic growth and inflation come from na-
tional and international institutions (Germany: Bundesbank, 
eurozone: ECB, USA: Fed, China: OECD, world: calculation of 
Hamburg Commercial Bank on the basis of IMF weights and 
growth forecasts specified above, as well as IMF forecasts for 
the rest of the world). The interest rate forecasts are based on 
the corresponding forward rates. The forecast euro to US dol-
lar exchange rate is also derived from the futures markets. Un-
less otherwise stated, the statements on the overall conditions 
for relevant markets are based on internal estimates, also tak-
ing account of external sources of information such as re-
search companies that are established on the market (real es-
tate markets: e.g. bulwiengesa and PMA, shipping markets: 
e.g. Marsoft and MSI).

GLOBAL ECONOMY: Further slowdown in growth 
In economic terms, the global economy is navigating waters 
that are difficult to define. The eurozone has already entered a 
technical recession, with many indicators suggesting that 
weak growth or stagnation is on the cards for the second half 
of the year. The US is proving surprisingly resilient, as is evident 
most notably from the strong labour market. Nevertheless, 
high growth is not expected. China, on the other hand, is grap-
pling with structural problems that were only briefly masked by 
the upswing that followed the country’s move to open back up 
after the pandemic. All in all, the global economy will grow by 
only 3.0 % this year. 

The US is showing a surprising degree of resilience to the 
interest rate hikes seen in recent months. This is particularly 
evident from the country’s continued strong employment 
growth. At the same time, the first few signals are emerging to 

suggest that the slump in the manufacturing sector could also 
come to an end soon. The economy is expected to grow by 
1.0 % for the year as a whole.  

In the second half of the year, China is likely to continue 
the macroeconomic slowdown that was observed at the end of 
the first half. We expect to see economic growth of only 5.2 % 
this year. 

In the eurozone, the slump in manufacturing is gradually 
spilling over to the services sector. This trend will continue in 
the second half of the year, while the construction sector re-
mains locked on a weak phase. GDP in the EMU region is likely 
to increase by 0.9 % this year. 

Germany´s GDP is expected to contract by 0.3 % this year, 
partly due to the slump in the manufacturing sector. Inflation 
should nevertheless remain high at 6.0 % on average.  

Downside risks to the global economic forecasts also come 
in the form of possible climate risks that could materialise, for 
example, in the form of heat waves and heavy rainfall. This 
could result in higher energy and food prices, among other 
things. In geopolitical terms, both a further escalation of the 
war in Ukraine and a military intervention by China in Taiwan 
could weigh heavily on growth and trigger turbulence on the 
financial markets. With regard to individual countries, there 
are further risks to growth in the US if the Federal Reserve 
continues to tighten the monetary reins for longer than ex-
pected, which would have a greater negative impact on con-
sumption and investment. China´s growth would be even 
weaker if the trade dispute with the US and the EU were to 
translate into a decline in exports. In the eurozone and Ger-
many, an escalation of the trade dispute with China would 
leave its mark first and foremost on exports. The risk also re-
mains that gas supplies will not be sufficient in the event of an 
extremely cold winter, triggering another energy crisis. This 
would also have implications for inflation and monetary policy, 
which would then be tightened for longer than is expected at 
present. 

MONETARY POLICY: End of the rate hike cycle draws 
nearer 
Headline inflation has fallen significantly in both the eurozone 
and the US, dropping to 5.5 % (eurozone) and 3.0 % (US) in 
June 2023. The core rate, however, has fallen at a slower pace 
and the inflation target of 2 %, which is what the major central 
banks are aiming for, will probably be missed by a wide margin 
this year. 

Nevertheless, the end of the rate hike cycle may now be 
drawing nearer, after the European Central Bank and the US 
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Federal Reserve raised their key interest rates by 400 basis 
points and 500 basis points respectively in the period from last 
year until June 2023. After the further hike of 25 basis points 
each in July, we expect to see one more interest rate step by 
each central bank as the second half of the year progresses, 
meaning that the ECB´s main refinancing rate will then come 
in at 4.50 % and the Fed Funds Rate in the range of 5.50 % to 
5.75 %. We do not predict any interest rate cuts in the second 
half of the year. The ECB already started to wind down its as-
set portfolio in March. Since July, the amount from maturing 
bonds in the APP portfolio has no longer been reinvested, 
meaning that the portfolio of currently € 3.2 trillion should de-
cline by an average of around € 25 billion a month. At the 
same time, the ECB is sticking to its strategy of reinvesting the 
PEPP portfolio bonds at maturity at least until the end of 
2024, meaning that the volume of € 1.67 billion should remain 
more or less constant until then. In the US, the Fed is generally 
remaining true to its policy of reinvesting only part of the ma-
turing amounts from the bond portfolio, meaning that its vol-
ume of currently 8.36 trillion US dollars should continue to de-
cline. 

Long-term government bond yields will probably move 
moderately upwards in the second half of the year compared 
to the level at the end of June 2023; this applies to both ten-
year T-notes and the corresponding Bunds. This has to do with 
the reduction of central bank balance sheets and the contin-
ued failure to meet the inflation target, which could lead to an 
adjustment of inflation expectations. 

The appreciation of the euro against the US dollar in the 
first half of the year could continue in the second half, also be-
cause investors expect more interest rate cuts in the US than 
in the eurozone. 

OUTLOOK IN THE MARKETS/SECTORS RELEVANT FOR 
HAMBURG COMMERCIAL BANK 
Following developments in the first half of 2023, the Bank is 
making moderate downward adjustments to the forecast 
statements made in the combined management report for the 
2022 financial year with regard to the development of the rel-
evant markets/sectors for sub-sectors of the real estate mar-
ket and industry, while it is lifting its forecasts for renewable 
energy slightly. The forecasts for the shipping markets can 
largely be confirmed. In detail, the Bank now expects to see 
the following development: 

Real estate markets  
As far as the German real estate markets are concerned, the 
Bank is making moderate downward adjustments to its fore-
casts from the end of 2022 in some areas. The pricing phase on 
the investment markets will continue until the end of the year 
with only a small number of transactions. Market participants 
need more time to anticipate the higher interest rates, the in-
creased construction costs and the loss of value that has al-

ready occurred in respect of their projects. In particular, mar-
ket players that are making extensive use of short-term loans 
for financing are now likely to be forced to make price conces-
sions. Even more project developers are likely to postpone or 
put a halt to further projects, also for longer periods. Overall, 
the decline in values, especially for commercial properties, is 
expected to be more pronounced than assumed at the end of 
2022. 

The forecasts for the housing markets can largely be con-
firmed. The increase and expansion of housing allowance and 
the nominal increase in collective pay-scale incomes are, how-
ever, likely to have a more positive effect on rent growth than 
previously expected. House prices should nevertheless fall 
more sharply in the course of the prolonged pricing phase, in 
particular when it comes to properties in need of extensive en-
ergy efficiency refurbishments. 

Less demand for space is now expected on the office 
property markets as companies slow their recruitment activ-
ity. Demand is, however, concentrated on high-quality, cen-
trally located prime properties to a greater degree than previ-
ously expected, meaning that prime rents are expected to in-
crease somewhat more strongly. Prolonged investor restraint 
is likely to result in significantly more substantial market value 
losses than the Bank was still expecting at the end of 2022. 

The retail property forecasts from the end of 2022 can be 
largely confirmed. As with other commercial properties, how-
ever, somewhat more substantial value losses are to be ex-
pected here as well. 

Industry, trade and logistics, infrastructure and renewable 
energy 
As far as industry and the other relevant sectors (with the ex-
ception of renewable energies) are concerned, the Bank is 
moderately adjusting its 2022 year-end forecasts downwards. 
Due to the continued negative impact of the war in Ukraine 
and its implications, coupled with weak global growth, these 
sectors are likely to show rather subdued development for the 
remainder of the year. In contrast, the expectations for the de-
velopment of renewable energies have been raised moder-
ately in view of the success of political efforts to drive "green 
transformation" observed in the first half of the year and the 
implementation of the pressure to take action resulting from 
the need to rethink energy sources following the Russian war 
of aggression on Ukraine. As such, the Bank now expects the 
expansion of renewable energies to also be more positive in 
the second half of the year than it had assumed at the end of 
2022. 

Shipping markets  
The forecasts for the development of the shipping markets set 
out in the combined management report as at 31 December 
2022 can be largely confirmed. Container vessels should con-
tinue to normalise in an environment of mounting supply pres-
sure, bulkers are likely to trend sideways in the absence of 
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stronger demand impetus, and oil tankers should continue to 
benefit from the longer trade routes created by sanctions, alt-
hough the level of rates and prices could nevertheless taper 
off slightly due to adjustment effects. 

BANKING ENVIRONMENT 
Given what remains a volatile market environment, the bank-
ing environment will also remain challenging. As things stand 
at the moment, it appears that the need for loan loss provi-
sions will increase in view of the weaker economic momentum 
in an environment that is dominated by continued high infla-
tion and interest rates at the same time, as the number of 
problem cases and insolvencies in the corporate sector is likely 
to increase. Consequently, banks will be tasked with holding 
their own in this complex environment and actively managing 
their loan portfolios in order to cushion the blow of negative 
effects from the macro-environment, and in particular the im-
pact of higher interest rates, as much as possible. In this con-
text, those institutions whose portfolio composition is compar-
atively less vulnerable in geographical and sectoral terms 
should generally find themselves in a more favourable starting 
position. 

In the face of inflationary pressures, banks need to keep an 
eye on cost discipline, with the scope for cost increases limited 
to the extent to which they manage to raise their income levels 
and maintain cost-income ratios in the environment of rising 
interest rates. On the funding side, capital market participants 
are likely to pay even greater attention than before to how 
banks´ financial ratios will develop. Developments in the risk 
position, capital and liquidity resources and, in particular, sus-
tained profitability will be of central importance. 

Expected business development of Hamburg 
Commercial Bank and outlook 

At present, Hamburg Commercial Bank is generally optimistic 
that business development in the second half of the year will 
see a continuation of the positive trend witnessed in the re-
porting period. 

In the client business, HCOB will continue to focus on 
profitable and risk-commensurate deals in its core business ar-
eas, on further strengthening its client relationships and on im-
plementing its strategic initiatives to diversify and expand its 
sources of income. In addition to further planned investments 
in product diversification (including loan funds and the invest-
ment portfolio), the establishment of the Aviation business 
area, for which the organisational foundation was laid in the 
first half of the year, should also contribute to the latter. How-
ever, no significant volumes are planned in the Aviation busi-
ness area in the 2023 financial year. 

When it comes to its gross new business volume, HCOB 
expects to see dynamic development in the second half of the 
year. Accordingly, taking into account the business already 

contracted in the first half of the year (€ 3.0 billion), the fore-
cast for 2023 as a whole (higher volumes than in the 2022 fi-
nancial year in the amount of € 5.6 billion) should be achieved. 
With regard to the composition of its new business, the Bank 
has made moderate downward adjustments to its volume tar-
gets for the national real estate business. Consequently, the 
Bank will continue to focus on stringent risk management as 
well as conservative lending in this area in the second six 
months. This should be compensated for by higher volumes in 
other divisions compared to the original plan, especially in 
Shipping, as well as by the international asset-based lending 
activities. 

Based on the value of € 30.8 billion reported at the half-
year reporting date, the Group’s total assets should increase 
moderately in the second half of the year. On the basis of the 
planned growth in the loan and financial investment portfolio, 
which is to be refinanced on the liabilities side through a fur-
ther expansion of client deposits and funding activities on the 
capital markets, the Bank is aiming for consolidated total as-
sets of just under € 32 billion at the end of 2023. In view of the 
restrained momentum in the loan book in the first half of the 
year, the value is slightly below the forecast value from the end 
of 2022 (around € 33 billion). 

With regard to the Group statement of income, the Bank 
essentially expects to see the following developments for the 
second half of the year: 

- In net interest income, growth momentum should con-
tinue at a comparable level to that seen in the first half of 
the year and further increase the net operating interest 
margin; 

- In addition to net interest income, total income in 2023 as 
a whole should be characterised by a good FVPL result, 
although the development in this earnings item in the sec-
ond half of the year – assuming less volatility on the finan-
cial markets – should be much more moderate than in the 
first half of the year, when net earnings were significantly 
higher than expected. 

- In the context of the projections for loan loss provisions, 
the Bank remains cautious despite the positive develop-
ment in the first half of the year and continues to assume 
net additions on a full-year basis. 

- Administrative expenses are expected to increase in line 
with business growth in the second half of the year. 

- For the earnings items "Other operating result", "Expenses 
for regulatory affairs, the Deposit Protection Fund and 
banking associations" as well as "Result from restructuring 
and transformation", the Bank predicts that the main ef-
fects have already been realised in the first half of the year; 

- The normalisation of income tax expense will continue in 
the second half of the year. 
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Forecast for development in key performance indicators in 
the financial year 2023 
Based on the satisfactory business performance in the first half 
of 2023 and the expected business development for the third 
and fourth quarters described above, Hamburg Commercial 
Bank is generally confirming its forecasts for the development 
of key performance indicators in the 2023 financial year as 
published in the combined management report for 2022. In 
detail, this means in brief: 

With regard to net income before taxes, Hamburg Com-
mercial Bank is confirming its forecast that it will achieve a tar-
get of around € 350 million for the 2023 financial year, despite 
the challenging environment. Taking into account the un-
changed expectation of normalising income tax expense, the 
Bank is also confirming its earnings forecast for the Group net 
result (above € 250 million), which should lead to an RoE af-
ter taxes in excess of 11 % (calculated on the basis of a normal-
ised regulatory capital commitment). 

As the assumptions for the development in the calculation 
parameters for the cost-income ratio (CIR), total income, 
other operating result and administrative expenses can be 
confirmed overall from today´s perspective at the level of the 
projections from the end of 2022, the Bank logically continues 
to assume that it will report a CIR of 45 % for 2023 as a whole. 
The expected increase compared to the value as at 30 June 
2023 (39 %) results from the fact that the half-year results in 
the FVPL result and in the other operating result were dispro-
portionately good compared to the expectations for the full 
year. 

In view of the capital-generating business model, planned 
measures to further improve the RWA profile and a half-year 
ratio of 18.5 %, the Bank is confirming its forecast that it will re-
port a CET1 ratio above the strategic target level (> 17 %) at the 
end of 2023, too. It is important to note at this point that the 
capital ratios - in anticipation of a possible dividend payment 
for the 2023 financial year - are shown before taking the in-
terim profit achieved in the first six months of 2023 into ac-
count. 

Based on the NPE volume, which increased to € 502 mil-
lion at the mid-year point, the Bank is aiming to reduce its NPE 
exposures in the second half of the year to an extent that 
slightly exceeds the level of planned new defaults. Proactive 
risk management, which includes early constructive interac-
tion with the clients affected, as well as the high balance sheet 
risk shielding of the portfolio should have a positive effect on 
the planned reduction of NPE exposures. Based on a planned 
lower NPE volume and an assumed increase in EaD in the sec-
ond half of the year, the Bank expects the NPE ratio to decline 
to < 1.5 % by 31 December 2023. 

The Bank is also confirming its forecasts published in the 
combined management report for the 2022 financial year with 
regard to the LCR (above 140 % as at 31 December 2023) and 
its rating position (stable at the level of the improvement 
achieved in the reporting year). 

When considering the forecast set out above, it is im-
portant to remember that the current economic environment 
remains challenging and characterised by high levels of vola-
tility despite the slightly improved outlook in some areas com-
pared to the end of 2022. The ultimate impact of geopolitical 
and macroeconomic uncertainties remains difficult to predict 
and could affect Hamburg Commercial Bank´s ability to meet 
its financial targets. 

Overall appraisal and net income forecast 
Hamburg Commercial Bank got off to a good start in the 2023 
financial year and has been able to confirm the trend of posi-
tive development in its key financial ratios. The external envi-
ronment was characterised in part by difficult underlying con-
ditions, in particular by weak economic momentum, what 
were, at times, high levels of volatility on the financial markets 
and the ongoing challenges on the real estate markets. In this 
environment, HCOB was able to boost its operating profitabil-
ity further while maintaining solid capital and liquidity ratios, 
not least due to its favourable positioning with regard to the 
development of the earnings base in the face of the rising in-
terest rate environment. In addition, asset diversification and 
the increase in client deposits has progressed further. External 
evidence of the strength and resilience of HCOB´s focused 
and clear business model is provided by the rating upgrade in 
the reporting period, the good performance in the SSM stress 
test and the renewed award by the financial magazine "The 
Banker". HCOB took the top spot in the magazine’s "Best Per-
forming Bank -Germany" ranking for the third time in a row in 
July 2023. 

Looking ahead to the second half of the year, the Bank is 
confident that the positive momentum in the development of 
operating profitability will continue, with the interest rate envi-
ronment continuing to provide tailwind overall. The main focus 
in the second half of the year will be on implementing the tar-
geted (risk-conscious) balance sheet growth and on system-
atic NPE management. 

Taking into account the aforementioned aspects and 
based on the business development witnessed in the first six 
months, the Bank is confirming its earnings forecast set out in 
the combined management report for the 2022 financial year, 
and continues to assume that it will achieve net income after 
taxes of more than € 250 million for the 2023 financial year as 
a whole. 

This earnings forecast rests on the assumption that the 
economic effects of the current geopolitical and economic 
trouble spots do not turn out to be significantly more adverse 
than can reasonably be expected from today´s perspective. 
The determining factors in this regard include further develop-
ments in the war in Ukraine, inflation trends and the momen-
tum in interest rate hikes, as well as overall economic growth. 
For information on the Bank´s forecasts in this regard, please 
also refer to the corresponding sections within this chapter on 
the expected development of the global economy/financial 
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markets, as well as the industries relevant to Hamburg Com-
mercial Bank. 

The earnings forecast and future development of Ham-
burg Commercial Bank are associated with major challenges 
overall which are described in detail in the combined manage-
ment report as at 31 December 2022. 
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Risk Report  

Risk management system 

Active risk management represents a core component of the 
Overall Bank management at Hamburg Commercial Bank. The 
methods, instruments and processes used to manage the risks 
are explained in detail in the risk report contained in the com-
bined management report for the 2022 financial year. 

Determination of risk appetite and risk 
guidelines 

As the strategic guideline for the Overall Bank, the Strategic 
Risk Framework (SRF) serves as the foundation of the risk cul-
ture, sets out the focus of the Bank’s risk management activi-
ties and defines the objectives of risk management based on 
the planned development of key business activities, as well as 
the measures taken to achieve these objectives. 

The focus is on securing and allocating the scarce re-
sources of capital and liquidity and on optimising earnings in 
the long term, taking into account the risk appetite, business 
strategy objectives, the market environment and both the ex-
isting and planned portfolio. Through its guidelines, the SRF 
supports implementation of the business strategy objectives 
and ensures compliance with the regulatory requirements. 

The SRF contains the risk strategy principles (“tone from 
the top”) as the key guidelines for risk-conscious action and 
cornerstone of a sustainable risk culture. These provide the 
framework for the development of the Risk Appetite State-

ment (RAS) and the risk strategy. The objectives of the busi-
ness strategy and the Bank planning are aligned with the re-
quirements of the SRF. 

The RAS is broken down into a financial and non-financial 
RAS on the basis of the risk inventory. The financial RAS con-
sists of a catalogue of key financial ratios, while the non-finan-
cial RAS includes qualitative requirements relating to risk cul-
ture. Operationalisation is achieved via the risk strategy and 
the limit system, with the risk strategy describing how risks are 
managed based on the risk inventory in accordance with the 
business strategy and the RAS. The risk strategy provides the 
framework for the individual sub-risk strategies. 

The SRF is the subject of a resolution passed by the Man-
agement Board and is reviewed at least once a year. Where 
necessary, adjustments are made during the year. It is fully in-
tegrated into the Bank’s processes, for example by being in-
corporated into the Bank’s objectives, by way of the definition 
of requirements for the strategy and planning process, in risk 
reporting and in the Code of Conduct. 

Key risk indicators of the Group 

A functional limit system requires a strict derivation of the risk 
appetite. Based on the Bank’s risk capacity, the risk appetite is 
defined separately for three scarce resources: regulatory and 
economic capital and liquidity. The Bank has established a sys-
tem of risk limits and guidelines for all three resources, which 
serves to identify adverse developments at an early stage, to 
avert them with appropriate countermeasures and to achieve 
the risk strategy objectives.  

 
Key risk indicators of the Group 

 30.06.2023  Limit  Guideline 

ICAAP utilisation from an economic perspective/RBC (%)  64  <  95   – 

Overall economic risk (€ bn)  2.1  <  2.8   – 

for default risks  0.8  <  1.1   – 

for market risks  1.0  <  1.5   – 

for liquidity risks  0.2  <  0.3   – 

NPE ratio (%)  1.5   –  <  2.5 

CET1 ratio – in-period calculation (%)1)  19.7  >  13.0   – 

T1 ratio – in-period calculation (%)1)  19.7  >  13.0   – 

Overall capital ratio – in-period calculation (%)1)  25.5  >  15.5   – 

Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) (%)  157  >  107   – 

Net stable funding ratio (NSFR) (%)  113  >  102   – 

Net liquidity position in normal case up to 1 month (€ bn)  5.3    >  4.2 

1) In contrast with the disclosure of capital ratios in the other sections of this interim management report, the capital ratios shown here are in-period calculation;  
i.e. calcula-tion taking fully into account the balance sheet carrying amounts as at the reporting date, all else being equal. 
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ICAAP/risk-bearing capacity 

Hamburg Commercial Bank assesses capital adequacy from 
both a normative and an economic perspective in accordance 
with the ECB Guide to the internal capital adequacy assess-
ment process (ICAAP). The Bank defines capital adequacy as 
the ongoing safeguarding of financial stability, in the sense 
that risks are adequately covered by capital in order to ensure 
the implementation of the objectives of the business model. 
By determining it on a regular basis, capital adequacy forms 
part of the internal reporting and is closely managed and re-
ported to the Bank’s supervisory authorities. 

The economic perspective is used to check whether all ma-
terial risks are backed by internal capital at a specific point in 
time. Compared with the regulatory view (CRR), it is based on 
a restricted concept of capital and a broader concept of risk. 
The measurement of risks is based on the Bank’s internal eco-
nomic methods and procedures. As part of the monitoring of 
the risk-bearing capacity, Hamburg Commercial Bank regu-
larly compares the total economic capital required for all ma-
terial risk types (overall risk) to the available economic risk cov-
erage potential. Hamburg Commercial Bank analyses its risk-
bearing capacity comprehensively on a quarterly basis as well 
as within the framework of its forecasting and planning pro-
cess. 

In addition to the IFRS equity modified for economic pur-
poses, the risk coverage potential includes, inter alia, a nega-
tive balance comprising unrealised gains and losses on all as-
sets and liabilities reported at amortised cost (AC), less the net 
present value of the operating costs associated with these 
transactions and any positive effects associated with the 
Bank’s own credit rating. Positive balances are not taken into 
account, in accordance with the requirements of the ICAAP 
guide. 

The overall risk takes into account default risk, market risk 
including interest rate risks in the banking book (IRRBB), oper-
ational risk as well as the liquidity maturity transformation risk 
as an element of liquidity risk. The economic capital require-
ments of the individual risk types are aggregated into the over-
all economic risk. No risk-reducing correlations are utilised in 
the process.  

Utilisation of risk coverage potential decreased compared 
to the end of the previous year and amounted to 64 % as at the 
reporting date (31 December 2022: 68 %). The overall eco-
nomic risk was € 2.1 billion, which is on a par with the level seen 
at the end of the previous year (31 December 2022: € 2.1 bil-
lion). The risk coverage potential during the report-ing period 
amounted to € 3.3 billion (31 December 2022: € 3.1 billion). 
The increase is primarily due to the Bank’s half-year result. 

The risk-bearing capacity was ensured at all times during 
the reporting period. 

ICAAP/risk-bearing capacity of the Group1) 

(€ bn) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Economic risk 
coverage potential 

 3.3  3.1 

   

Overall economic risk  2.1  2.1 

thereof: Default risks  0.8  0.8 

thereof: Market risks  1.0  1.0 

thereof: Liquidity risks  0.2  0.2 

thereof: Operational risks  0.1  0.1 

   

Risk coverage potential buffer  1.2  1.0 

   

Utilisation of  
risk coverage potential (%) 

 64  68 

1) Total differences are rounding differences. 

 

In addition to the above-described economic perspective, 
compliance with the regulatory capital requirements over a 
medium-term horizon (at least a 3-year perspective in the 
base and stress case) under the internal normative perspective 
is also assessed in accordance with the ECB Guide to the in-
ternal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP). The nor-
mative approach is not limited to the Pillar 1 risks covered by 
the regulatory capital requirements, but also takes account of 
economic effects on the key regulatory ratios through recipro-
cal relationships. 

Adherence to the regulatory capital requirements includ-
ing an internal management buffer is checked by means of the 
quarterly calculation of the regulatory capital ratios as at the 
reporting date and over a multi-year scenario horizon.  

Further information on the Bank’s scenario analyses is pre-
sented in detail in the combined management report for the 
2022 financial year. 

Requirements under the Supervisory Review 
and Evaluation Process 

The Bank’s business model, governance, risk situation, capital 
and liquidity position are reviewed as part of the Supervisory 
Review and Evaluation Process (SREP). Based on the analyses, 
the supervisory authorities may specify requirements for capi-
tal and liquidity utilisation that exceed the existing minimum 
regulatory requirements. The minimum capital ratios assigned 
to the Bank by the ECB and reviewed annually as part of the 
SREP process were adhered to at all times during the reporting 
period.  
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The following table provides an overview of the minimum 
capital requirements applicable to Hamburg Commercial 

Bank. In addition, there is a Pillar 2 Guidance (P2G) for CET1 
capital of 2.0 %.

Minimum capital requirements1) 

(%) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Pillar 1   

Minimum capital requirement  8.0  8.0 

to be supported by CET1 capital  4.5  4.5 

to be supported by additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital  1.5  1.5 

to be supported by Tier 2 capital  2.0  2.0 

Combined buffer requirement - to be supported by CET1 capital  3.1  2.7 

Pillar 2   

Pillar 2 requirements (P2R)  1.8  2.1 

to be supported by CET1 capital  1.0  1.2 

to be supported by additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital  0.3  0.4 

to be supported by Tier 2 capital  0.5  0.5 

Overall capital requirements   

CET1 capital  8.6  8.4 

Tier 1 capital  10.4  10.3 

Total capital  12.9  12.8 

1) Total differences are rounding differences. 

 

In addition to the existing capital buffer requirement at 2022 
year-end, there are new requirements which must be met from 
2023 onwards, including a countercyclical capital buffer 
(CCyB) of 0.75 % of risk-weighted assets (RWA) on domestic 
risk positions and a sectoral systemic risk buffer (SyRB) of 
2.0 % of RWA on domestic loans collateralised by residential 
property.  

Regulatory capital ratios1) 2) 

(%) 30.06.2023 31.12.20222) 

Overall capital ratio  24.4  26.8 

Tier 1 capital ratio  18.5  20.5 

CET1 capital ratio  18.5  20.5 

1) Regulatory Group according to CRR. 
2) The dividend payment of € 1.5 billion in 2023 was taken into account in the  

Common Equity Tier 1 capital. 

 

Regulatory capital1) 2) 3) 

(€ bn) 30.06.2023 31.12.20223) 

Regulatory capital  4.0  4.1 

thereof: Tier 1 capital  3.1  3.2 

thereof: CET1 capital  3.1  3.2 

thereof: additional Tier 1 capi-
tal 

 -  – 

thereof: Tier 2 capital  1.0  1.0 

1) Regulatory Group according to CRR. 
2) Total differences are rounding differences. 
3) The dividend payment of € 1.5 billion in 2023 was taken into account in the  

Common Equity Tier 1 capital. 

 
Risk-weighted assets (RWA)1)2) 

(€ bn) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Credit risks  14.4  13.6 

Market risks  0.4  0.3 

Operational risks  1.2  1.1 

Other RWA  0.5  0.3 

Total RWA  16.5  15.4 

1) Regulatory Group according to CRR. 
2) Total differences are rounding differences. 
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As expected, the CET1 ratio fell compared to 31 December 
2022 (20.5 %) due to increased RWA and a slight decrease in 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital, but it remains significantly 
above regulatory requirements at 18.5 %. Among other things, 
the increase in RWA is due to the recalibration of rating mod-
els, the effects of which are anticipated in adjustment items 
pursuant to Article 3 CRR. As at 30 June 2023, the CET1 capi-
tal amounted to € 3.1 billion, which is slightly below the previ-
ous year's level (€ 3.2 billion) due to higher regulatory deduc-
tions. It should be noted that capital ratios are shown before 
taking the half-year profit achieved in 2023 into account. The 
dividend payment of € 1.5 billion for the 2022 financial year 
was already included in Common Equity Tier 1 capital at the 
end of the previous year. 

The regulatory CET1 capital ratio for the single entity in ac-
cordance with HGB accounting standards was 18.5 % as at 
30 June 2023 (31 December 2022: 20.2 %). The corresponding 
Tier 1 ratio reached 18.5 % (31 December 2022: 20.2 %), the 
corresponding overall capital ratio amounted to 24.3 % (31 De-
cember 2022: 26.7 %). The capital ratios for the single entity as 
at 30 June 2023 are also reported before taking the half-year 
profit for the period into account. The capital ratios for the sin-
gle entity as at 31 December 2022 are also shown after taking 
the dividend payment of € 1.5 billion into account. The single 
entity (HGB) regulatory requirements for capital ratios were 
adhered to at all times during the reporting period.  

The BRRD (EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive) 
requires banks in EU member states to maintain sufficient loss 
absorption and recapitalisation capacity in the form of regula-
tory capital and defined liabilities. To this end, institution-spe-
cific MREL (Minimum Requirement for Own Funds and Eligi-
ble Liabilities) requirements for Hamburg Commercial Bank 
have been defined by the European Single Resolution Board 
(SRB), the resolution authority responsible for the Bank. The 
Bank has complied with the requirements at all times during 
the reporting period. Hamburg Commercial Bank must comply 
with minimum requirements of 8 % of the total risk exposure 
amount (TREA) for 2023. Taking into account other regulatory 
requirements, the figure is approximately 11.6 %. At the same 
time, the requirement of 3 % of the leverage ratio exposure 
(LRE) measure must be met. As at 30 June 2023, the MREL ra-
tio was 41.1 % of the total risk exposure amount (TREA). 

Risks for the capital ratio trend 
Risks may arise from the regulatory environment, for instance 
from interpretation decisions or audits, in addition to the mac-
roeconomic and industry-specific risks for the capital ratios.  

It is possible, for example, that additional individual and in-
creased capital requirements could arise from the regular 

SREP process carried out within the Banking Union. Additional 
discretionary decisions made by the supervisory authorities 
and industry-wide capital requirements (capital buffer for sys-
temic and cyclical risks) could therefore result in higher capital 
requirements. Discretionary decisions made by the supervisory 
authorities with regard to model risks and validations may re-
sult in increases in RWA and thereby adversely impact the 
capital ratios for future PD estimates in the internal models.  

Under CRR III, further burdens for the capital ratios could 
result from the proposed changes to the regulatory require-
ments – partly referred to as “Basel IV”. Mandatory initial appli-
cation is expected in 2025. With the implementation of Basel 
IV, the advantages of internal models are significantly re-
stricted in some cases. Nevertheless, Hamburg Commercial 
Bank expects that the implementation of Basel IV will tend to 
reduce the RWA for credit risks, since it has successfully im-
plemented the simplification of its model landscape for the risk 
classification procedures in 2022 from the advanced internal 
ratings-based (A-IRB) approach to the foundation internal rat-
ings-based (F-IRB) approach along with the Credit Risk Stand-
ardised Approach (CRSA). 

Default risk 

In line with Hamburg Commercial Bank’s business strategy fo-
cus as a commercial bank and specialist finance provider, de-
fault risk represents a significant risk. 

Hamburg Commercial Bank continuously and systemati-
cally monitors potential effects of the macroeconomic and po-
litical environment at the level of sub-portfolios and individual 
clients.  

During the reporting period, as the pandemic has ended 
and supply chain problems have continued to recede, the fo-
cus of macroeconomic risks has shifted to the consequences 
of the ongoing war in Ukraine and the resulting increased geo-
political risks – especially in Asia. As before, the main impact is 
on sectors and clients that are directly affected by the war as 
well as by the knock-on effects in the areas of energy and raw 
materials supply, inflation and the changing interest rate land-
scape, which are expected to have adverse effects on their 
business models. These clients are closely managed and the 
need for measures to manage credit risk is continuously re-
viewed. 

The EaD of the total exposure amounted to € 33,519 mil-
lion as at 30 June 2023 (31 December 2022: € 34,429 million). 
The EaD broken down by internal rating categories is pre-
sented in the following table. EaD with an investment grade 
rating (rating category 1 to 5) remains high at 72 % of the total 
exposure at the Group level (31 December 2022: 74 %).
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The NPE ratio remains at a solid level of 1.5 % as at 30 June 
2023, despite an increase compared to 31 December 2022 
(1.2 %). In addition to a slight decrease in the EaD, the NPE 
portfolio increased in the first half of the financial year. This is 
primarily due to the new default of a larger, predominantly 

ECA -covered individual exposure in the Project Finance seg-
ment as well as a moderate net increase in the NPE volume in 
the Real Estate segment, which is particularly sensitive to in-
terest rates. 

 
 
Default risk structure by rating category1) 2) 

 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

 EaD (€ m) 
relative

share (%) EaD (€ m) 
relative

share (%) 

1 (AAAA) to 1 (AA+)  6,286  18.8  8,801  25.6 

1 (AA) to 1 (A–)  8,238  24.6  6,369  18.5 

2 to 5  9,580  28.6  10,445  30.3 

6 to 9  8,020  23.9  7,702  22.4 

10 to 12  525  1.6  474  1.4 

13 to 15  173  0.5  114  0.3 

16 to 18 (default categories)  502  1.5  405  1.2 

Other3)  195  0.6  119  0.3 

Total  33,519  100  34,429  100 

1) Mean default probabilities (%): 1 (AAAA) to 1 (AA+): 0.00–0.02; 1 (AA) to 1 (A–): 0.03–0.09; 2 to 5: 0.12–0.39; 6 to 9: 0.59–1.98; 10 to 12: 2.96–6.67; 13 to 15: 10.00–20.00;  
16 to 18: 100.00. 

2) No separate disclosure of the “Reconciliation“ segment due to low materiality (< € 100 million). 
3) Transactions for which there is no internal or external rating available are reflected in the “Other” line item, such as receivables from third parties of the Bank’s consolidated 

equity holdings and G/L accounts. 

 

EaD broken down by sectors important for Hamburg  
Commercial Bank is presented in the following table:  

Default risk structure by sector1) 

 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

 EaD (€ m) 
relative

share (%) EaD (€ m) 
relative

share (%) 

Industry  3,085  9.2  3,604  10.5 

Shipping  2,868  8.6  3,225  9.4 

Trade and transport  1,739  5.2  1,731  5.0 

Credit institutions  4,746  14.2  3,744  10.9 

Other financial institutions  4,810  14.4  4,054  11.8 

Land and buildings  5,306  15.8  5,962  17.3 

Other services  4,502  13.4  4,346  12.6 

Public sector  6,327  18.9  7,615  22.1 

Private households  136  0.4  147  0.4 

Other  –  –  –  – 

Total  33,519  100  34,429  100 

1) No separate disclosure of the “Reconciliation“ segment due to low materiality (< € 100 million). 
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The following table shows EaD broken down by residual ma-
turities: 

Default risk structure by residual maturity1) 

 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

 EaD (€ m) 
relative 

share (%) EaD (€ m) 
relative

share (%) 

Up to 3 months  4,482  13.4  6,516  18.9 

> 3 months to 6 months  1,017  3.0  826  2.4 

> 6 months to 1 year  2,678  8.0  2,056  6.0 

> 1 year to 5 years  12,950  38.6  13,758  40.0 

> 5 years to 10 years  7,366  22.0  6,400  18.6 

> 10 years  5,026  15.0  4,873  14.2 

Total  33,519  100  34,429  100 

1) No separate disclosure of the “Reconciliation“ segment due to low materiality (< € 100 million). 

 

The following table provides an overview of the EaD by region:

Default risk structure by region1) 

 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

 EaD (€ m) 
relative 

share (%) EaD (€ m) 
relative

share (%) 

Eurozone  23,865  71.2  25,283  73.4 

thereof: Germany  13,259  39.6  15,814  45.9 

thereof: Greece  –  –  –  – 

thereof: Italy  239  0.7  226  0.7 

thereof: Portugal  198  0.6  207  0.6 

thereof: Spain  411  1.2  427  1.2 

Western Europe  3,117  9.3  3,006  8.7 

Eastern Europe2)  42  0.1  41  0.1 

African countries3)  440  1.3  511  1.5 

North America  4,183  12.5  3,220  9.4 

Latin America  204  0.6  415  1.2 

Middle East  45  0.1  48  0.1 

Asia Pacific region4)  1,611  4.8  1,842  5.4 

International organisations  12  –  63  0.2 

Total  33,519  100  34,429  100 

1) No separate disclosure of the “Reconciliation“ segment due to low materiality (< € 100 million). 
2) Hamburg Commercial Bank has a gross exposure in the following Eastern European countries which were not members of the eurozone as at the reporting date:  

Bulgaria, Poland, Romania, Czech Republic, Turkey and Hungary. 
3) The exposure in African countries mainly consists of Liberia, which is relevant as a country of registration for the shipping business. 
4) The exposure in Asia Pacific region mainly consists of Marshall Islands, which are relevant as a country of registration for the shipping business. 

 

The allocation of business to the individual regions and for the 
presentation of selected countries is based on the gross expo-
sure on the basis of the legal country of domicile. The infor-
mation is reported without any further collateral allocations. 

In the course of the geographical diversification of the 
Hamburg Commercial Bank portfolio, the exposure in North 
America was increased in particular. 

Hamburg Commercial Bank has no gross exposure to Rus-
sia, Belarus or Ukraine. As a result of the war between Russia 
and Ukraine, new business with both countries was prohibited 
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immediately upon the attack of 24 February 2022. In the inter-
nal risk perspective, which takes into account the net exposure 
subject to transfer risk (after the collateral relevant to country 
risk), there is only a single exposure that is largely hedged by 
Export Credit Agency (ECA) cover. After ECA cover, the 
Bank's remaining transfer risk related to Russia is in the low sin-
gle-digit million euro range.  

Similarly, new business with Turkey remains suspended in 
the current economic and geopolitical environment. 

Due to their unfavourable fiscal and economic data, a 
number of countries have long been subject to increased 
monitoring and partially also to stricter limits. These include 
Greece and Italy in particular. 

Loan loss provisions 
The change in loan loss provisions amounted to a net re-

versal of € 2 million as at the reporting date (same period of 
the previous year: net reversal of € 31 million). 

At Stage 3, moderate net additions in the Real Estate seg-
ment (€ -11 million) and net reversals in the Corporates seg-
ment (€ 9 million) more or less balanced each other out. In the 
other segments, there were no significant effects at this stage. 
The addition to the Real Estate segment relates to two real es-
tate financing transactions that defaulted during the reporting 
peri-od. The additions recorded for these financing transac-
tions were partially offset by reversals from the partial disposal 
of an NPE exposure. In the Corporates segment, the net rever-
sal is primarily attributable to the improved economic outlook 

for two loan exposures (hotel operating companies) in the 
wake of the recov-ery from pandemic-related impacts. 

At Stages 1 and 2, a net addition was recorded in the Real 
Es-tate segment (€ -31 million). The reversals resulting from 
the winding down of a large exposure and from rating im-
provements are more than compensated by the increase in 
model overlays for the Real Estate segment. The retail prop-
erty (Retail) and building land financing sectors are currently 
particularly affected by the loss of purchasing power and the 
sharp rise in interest rates. The uncertainties regarding the po-
tential macroeconomic effects on these portfolios were 
mapped using model overlays. The net reversals at Stages 1 
and 2 recorded in the Project Finance (€ 24 million) and Ship-
ping (€ 8 million) segments offset the net addi-tions to the 
Real Estate segment. In the energy (Project Finance) sector, 
there is now certainty in France with regard to guaran-teed 
feed-in tariffs for customers, and thus also certainty for the 
Bank, so that both the loan loss provisions and the corre-
spond-ing model overlays have largely been reversed. In the 
Shipping segment, the model overlays for the tankers sub-
portfolio in particular were reversed, due to the positive devel-
opment in the market situation and the medium-term fore-
casts for charter rates and ship prices.  

The following table provides an overview broken down by 
segment. Further information on the individual business units 
is set out in the “Segment” section.

 
Changes in loan loss provisions in the lending business 

(€ m) January–June 2023 

 

Stage 3 
loan

loss provi-
sions

incl. POCI 

Stages 1 
and 2 

loan loss 
provisions Other1) Total 

Corporates  9  – 1  1  9 

Project Finance  1  24  –  25 

Real Estate  – 11  – 31  1  – 41 

Shipping  –  8  –  8 

Treasury & Group Functions  –  –  1  1 

Reconciliation  1  -1  –  – 

Group  –  – 1  3  2 

1) The “Other“ item includes the result of other changes in loan loss provisions (direct write-downs, recoveries on loans and advances previously written off, result of non-
substantial modifications). 
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Changes in loan loss provisions in the lending business1) 

(€ m) January–June 2022 

 

Stage 3 
loan 

loss provi-
sions 

incl. POCI 

Stages 1 
and 2 

loan loss 
provisions Other2) Total 

Corporates  – 11  7  1  – 3 

Project Finance  –  – 15  –  – 15 

Real Estate  -  43  –  43 

Shipping  5  –  -1  4 

Treasury & Group Functions  –  –  1  1 

Reconciliation  – 1  1  1  1 

Group  – 7  36  2  31 

1) The prior-year figures have been restated; details are set out in Note 2 to the Group financial statements. 
2) The “Other“ item includes the result of other changes in loan loss provisions (direct write-downs, recoveries on loans and advances previously written off, result of non-

substantial modifications). 

 

Total loan loss provisions 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Volume of receivables AC  18,301  19,430 

thereof: volume of impaired loans 
(gross carrying amount Stage 3)1) 

 498  387 

Gross carrying amount (Stage 2)  1,718  1,573 

Gross carrying amount (Stage 1)  16,085  17,470 

Total loan loss provisions for balance 
sheet items 

 -318  -414 

thereof: Total loan loss provisions 
(Stage 3)1) 

 -153  -238 

Total loan loss provisions (Stage 2)  -84  -101 

Total loan loss provisions (Stage 1)  -81  -75 

1) Stage 3 including POCI 
  

 

Hamburg Commercial Bank’s conservative loan loss provisions 
policy is reflected in the Bank’s continued solid total loan loss 
provisions. 

Total loan loss provisions for balance sheet items deter-
mined under IFRS 9 as at 30 June 2023 amounted to € -318 
million (31 December 2022: € -414 million). In addition, provi-
sions for off-balance sheet items amounted to € -34 million as 
at the reporting date (31 December 2022: € -35 million). 

The NPE coverage ratio AC decreased from the level of 
31 December 2022 (68.9 %) to 37 % as at 30 June 2023. The 
decrease is due to structural changes in the composition of the 
NPE portfolio. During the reporting period, the partial disposal 
of an NPE exposure was recorded, for which a high level of 
coverage with loan loss provisions was required, whereas for 
the biggest acquisition in terms of volume, the default risks are 
predominantly limited by ECA cover and therefore require no 
coverage with loan loss provisions. 

The relatively high total loan loss provisions at Stages 1 
and 2 - compared to the European banking average - mitigate 
the im-pact of potential future negative influences. 

The coverage ratio of the total volume of receivables AC 
was at an above average level of 1.7 % as at 30 June 2023 (31 
Decem-ber 2022: 2.1 %). 

Details regarding the total loan loss provisions are pre-
sented in Notes 11  and 20 in the notes to the Group financial 
statements. 

Market risk 

The system for measuring and managing market risks at Ham-
burg Commercial Bank is based on the economic daily profit 
and loss and on a value-at-risk (VaR) approach. For the pur-
poses of the same day measurement and management of mar-
ket risks, the Bank applies a VaR model using a historical simu-
lation, with a holding period of one day, a historical observation 
period of 250 days and a 99.0 % confidence level. Due to its 
structure that differs significantly from the rest of the Group, 
the Contractual Trust Agreement (CTA) implemented to di-
versify assets and hedge long-term pension obligations uses a 
Cornish-Fisher VaR approach with a holding period of one 
year and a confidence level of 99.9 %. In line with the long-
term investment horizon, the approach is based on market 
data history going right back to 2008, and it thus also takes 
into account the period of the financial crisis. The value is in-
cluded as an add-on in the Group risk with appropriate scaling.  

As at 30 June 2023, the daily market risk of the trading 
book positions was € 5.0 million and that of the banking book 
positions was € 41.7 million. The aggregated market risk, which 
cannot be derived from the total VaR of the trading and bank-
ing book positions due to risk-mitigating correlation effects, 
amounted to € 41.9 million. The daily interest rate risk in the 
banking book (IRRBB) was € 21.4 million, the funds/equity risk 
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was € 13.0 million, the credit spread risk was € 9.6 million and 
the foreign exchange risk was € 3.4 million.  

In addition to the risk determined by the system, the VaR 
of Hamburg Commercial Bank at Group level as at 30 June 
2023 includes a VaR add-on of € 4.3 million for residual risks 
(valuation risks from securities) as well as a backtesting add-on 
of € 1.1 million. The VaR add-on calculated for the CTA 
amounted to € 12.5 million as at 30 June 2023. 

Developments with respect to the daily VaR for individual 
market risk types during the first six months of 2023 are pre-
sented in the table below.  

The main drivers of the increase in VaR as at 30 June 2023 
compared to the 2022 year-end were, on the one hand, an in-
crease in the credit spread risk item in the investment grade 
area and, on the other hand, an adjustment in the accounting 
for the fund risks of the CTA. The reporting of the CTA add-on 
until the end of 2022, which was split equally between market 
risk and default risk, has been replaced by full reporting under 
market risk. 

The market risk appetite formulated by the Management 
Board is converted into limits, which are further broken down 
by the Asset Liability Committee. Limit compliance is moni-
tored on a daily basis by means of a VaR limit for the Bank's 
overall market risk, by VaR limits for specific risk types/portfo-
lios as well as a stop loss limit for the economic result. On a 
monthly basis, the annualised economic capital required for 
market risks is calculated and compared with the economic 
capital allocated to market risks by the Management Board.  

In the framework of stress testing, the potential net pre-
sent value losses are limited, which would result from the six 
interest rate shock scenarios specified in the EBA guideline 
EBA/GL/2018/02. The perspective is expanded through 
monthly stress test calculations across all risk types, in which 
the net present value effects of various historical and hypo-
thetical stress scenarios are analysed. 

The limiting of net interest income risk was adjusted at the 
beginning of 2023 in line with the new EBA standard 
(EBA/RTS/2022/10 Introduction of the Supervisory Outlier 
Test for Net Interest Income Risk). 

Daily Value at Risk of the Group 

(€ m) Interest rate risk1) 
Credit spread 

risk Foreign exchange risk 
Equity/ 

funds risk Total2) 

 Jan. – June 
2023 

Jan. – Dec. 
2022 

Jan. – June 
2023 

Jan. – Dec. 
2022 

Jan. – June 
2023 

Jan. – Dec. 
2022 

Jan. – June 
2023 

Jan. – Dec. 
2022 

Jan. – June 
2023 

Jan. – Dec. 
2022 

Average  25.6  16.8  8.6  5.6  1.8  1.7  12.2  10.8  42.5  27.3 

Maximum  32.7  28.7  10.2  7.4  4.9  4.9  14.0  13.7  49.0  43.2 

Minimum  20.8  9.3  6.6  3.7  0.6  0.3  7.0  7.0  34.3  18.3 

Period end value  22.0  22.4  9.5  7.0  3.0  2.6  13.0  7.1  41.9  34.3 

1) Interest rate risk excluding credit spread risk. 
2) Due to correlations the VaR does not result from adding up individual values. 

Liquidity risk 

Hamburg Commercial Bank assesses liquidity adequacy from 
both a normative and an economic perspective in accordance 
with the ECB Guide to the internal liquidity adequacy assess-
ment process (ILAAP). The normative perspective covers a 
multi-year assessment period, and thereby focusses on the 
ability to fulfil all regulatory, supervisory and in part internal li-
quidity requirements and guidelines at all times. The objective 
is the forward-looking assessment of liquidity adequacy. In ad-
dition to a baseline scenario, adverse scenarios are also taken 
into account in forecasting the parameters. 

Conversely, the economic perspective ensures that all ma-
terial risks that may negatively affect solvency are identified, 
quantified and covered by internal liquidity potential, so that 
the business strategy can be pursued continuously and the 
continuity of the institution is maintained at all times. The ob-
jective of the economic perspective is to manage economic 
risks and also ensure liquidity adequacy through stress test 

programmes. For economic liquidity management, internal pa-
rameters (Pillar 2 ratios) are considered, which are calculated 
on the basis of the Bank’s current and planned portfolios.  

For the liquidity risk, a distinction is made between risk of 
illiquidity and liquidity maturity transformation risk. Liquidity 
maturity transformation risk refers to the risk that a pending 
loss will result from a mismatch in the contractual maturities of 
assets and liabilities, the so-called liquidity maturity transfor-
mation position, and from the change in the Bank’s refinancing 
surcharge.  

The risk of illiquidity refers to the risk that present or future 
payment obligations cannot be met in part or in full. The key 
driver of this liquidity risk is the cash flow structure in the li-
quidity maturity profile, which is determined by the assets (ma-
turity/currency structure) and liabilities (funding structure by 
maturity/currency/investor).  
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For the multi-day risk of illiquidity, the gaps (balances aris-
ing from incoming and outgoing payments) are calculated 
from the first day up to the twelfth month – accumulated by 
maturity band – in order to quantify future liquidity require-
ments. The cumulative requirements are compared to the re-
spective liquidity potentials that are available for liquidity cov-
erage per maturity band. The net amount of cumulative re-
quirements and liquidity potentials is referred to as the net li-
quidity position. In the maturity bands up to the third month, 

the minimum net liquidity position is prescribed by a limit or a 
risk guideline. The utilisation of these limits is monitored daily. 
The utilisation of these limits or risk guidelines therefore con-
stitutes the measure of the risk of illiquidity. 

The following chart shows the relative utilisation levels of 
the liquidity potential for individual cumulative liquidity gaps in 
the normal case and stress case liquidity maturity profiles as at 
30 June 2023. 

 
 

 
Hamburg Commercial Bank’s risk appetite with regard to li-
quidity risk is reflected, amongst other things, in the definition 
of a minimum survival period, which describes how long utilisa-
tion of a liquidity potential lower than 100 % is to be main-
tained under the stress cases for the risk of illiquidity.  

The utilisation is 80 % in the twelfth month in the normal 
case assessment, which is based on the assumption of business 
development in a normal market environment. This means that 
all limits were complied with in the 12-month period under re-
view. In the scenario that is relevant from a management per-
spective, the stress case liquidity maturity profile shows that 
the Bank will not fall short of the minimum survival period of 
one month defined in MaRisk. Instead, the minimum survival 
period as at 30 June 2023 stood at over five months. Com-
pared to the 2022 year end, utilisation levels have increased 
slightly in the normal case and stress case in virtually all ma-
turity bands. Critical limit utilisation levels were not reported in 
the normal case nor in the stress case liquidity maturity profile 
during the period under review. 

The regulatory indicator for liquidity risks is the liquidity 
coverage ratio (LCR), the purpose of which is to ensure that li-
quidity is safeguarded in an acute stress period of 30 days. 
When calculating the LCR, the amount of highly liquid assets 
is compared to the net outflows over the next 30 days. The 
minimum threshold of 100 % pursuant to CRR was maintained 

at all times in the reporting period. As at 30 June 2023, it 
amounted to 157 % (31 December 2022: 197 %).  

The net stable funding ratio (NSFR), as a structural liquidity 
ratio, is calculated as the ratio of available stable funding re-
sources across all maturities to the stable funding required. As 
at 30 June 2023, the NSFR amounted to 113 % under the CRR 
(31 December 2022: 113 %) and thus lies above the minimum 
ratio of 100 % required by the supervisory authorities. The 
NSFR for 2022 is shown after taking the dividend payment of 
€ 1.5 billion into account. 

Hamburg Commercial Bank also calculates the additional 
liquidity monitoring metrics (AMM) including the preparation 
of the stipulated liquidity maturity profile. By means of the 
AMM, the LCP (liquidity capacity period) is determined by the 
supervisory authorities. In so doing, inflows and outflows from 
a contractual point of view excluding any prolongation or new 
business assumptions are compared to the unencumbered liq-
uid funds of the counterbalancing capacity less any haircuts 
The LCP is no longer maintained from the date on which the 
cumulative cash flows give rise to a need for liquid funds, which 
exceeds the liquidity position. This figure is determined by the 
Bank on a daily basis and stood at four months as at 30 June 
2023. 

The regulatory requirements for the liquidity ratios were 
adhered to at all times during the reporting period.  
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Hamburg Commercial Bank successfully implemented its 
funding strategy in the first half of the 2023 financial year. Dur-
ing the reporting period, the refinancing situation was charac-
terised by very volatile and difficult capital markets, driven by 
the turbulence in the international banking market and the on-
going difficult geopolitical crisis. Despite the tense capital 
market environment, Hamburg Commercial Bank successfully 
executed two benchmark issues – a senior preferred bench-
mark bond for € 750 million and a mortgage Pfandbrief for € 
500 million – during the first half of the year. In addition to the 
refinancing via the capital market, deposits from corporates in 
particular contributed to the refinancing of the business. The 
volume of short-term deposits rose by more than 7 % in the 
first half of 2023, despite the difficult market environment. In 
order to further strengthen the deposit structure, the focus is 
on diversifying and expanding the deposits from corporates.  

A worsening of the current geopolitical tensions and a de-
terioration in the macroeconomic environment could make 
execution of funding measures in the market more difficult. In 
addition, a more restrictive than expected monetary policy 
adopted by the central banks could limit the refinancing op-
tions and further increase funding costs.. 

The Association of German Banks (BdB) has implemented 
a reform of the protection of the Deposit Protection Fund 
(ESF) from 2023 (including transitional periods), which affects 
all members. Given the changed scope of protection provided 
in future by the guarantee scheme, there is a fundamental risk 
of increased liquidity outflows. The depositor behaviour has 
not yet exhibited any abnormalities in this regard. As at 30 
June 2023, 81 % of eligible protected deposits are covered by 
the ESF.  

Hamburg Commercial Bank’s liquidity and funding plan-
ning for short-term deposits is based on assumptions about 
client behaviour based on the deposit base and durations. This 
means that, in critical market-wide, or particularly in idiosyn-
cratic, special situations, there is the risk that even conserva-
tive behavioural assumptions used to simulate stress scenarios 
will fail to materialise as assumed, and that considerable un-
planned liquidity outflows could occur instead. Without delib-
erate management measures, this would lead to a deteriora-
tion in the regulatory liquidity ratios as well as the economic 
survival period. 

Part of the assets denominated in foreign currency are re-
financed via derivatives (e.g. via EUR/USD basis swaps). With 
low USD funding requirements, the exchange rate only has a 
small influence on the liquidity position. 

As part of the regular SREP process carried out within the 
Banking Union, it is possible that additional requirements in 
various areas of prudential regulation, such as liquidity, could 
arise as a result of discretionary decisions made by the banking 
supervisory authorities. 

Non-financial risk 

In addition to operational risk, business strategy risk and repu-
tation risk are included in the non-financial risks (NFR) of 
Hamburg Commercial Bank. In order to better address the di-
versity of these risks and the regulatory requirements, the 
Bank has adopted a corresponding Non-Financial Risk Frame-
work, which provides an overview of the roles and responsibili-
ties within a Three Lines of Defence model, and the proce-
dures, methods and implementation of the Bank’s NFR man-
agement. 

The reporting period was characterised by the ongoing im-
plementation of the comprehensive transformation of IT into a 
modern, cost-effective, cloud-based IT architecture. The IT 
risks that may arise during this IT transformation process are 
reduced through a step-by-step approach with parallel phases 
of the old and new system environment, as well as by sustaina-
ble partnerships, effective management and independent 
quality assurance. 

As a result of the war of aggression by Russia against 
Ukraine, the sanctions situation tightened significantly. Ham-
burg Commercial Bank fully implements all sanctions and has 
continued the increased monitoring of current developments. 

The threat of cybercrime remains high, with ransomware 
being the most common threat. Attacks are highly professional 
and increasingly automated. The banking industry as a whole is 
also in the focus of the attackers, although there is currently no 
specific threat situation facing Hamburg Commercial Bank. 
The threat in the context of the war in Ukraine is further mani-
fested by various campaigns against different industries and 
authorities and in different countries. The further development 
of artificial intelligence and the associated new possibilities for 
manipulative actions continue to pose major challenges to cy-
bersecurity. The Bank follows cybercrime developments on a 
regular basis and continuously works to mitigate cybersecurity 
risks. 

As at the reporting date, Hamburg Commercial Bank rec-
ognised provisions for the legal risk category, which is a com-
ponent of operational risk, in particular for litigation risks and 
costs, amounting to € 97 million (31 December 2022: € 110 mil-
lion). In addition, there are also contingent liabilities arising 
from legal disputes. A significant portion of the provisions is 
due to complaints and litigation that investors and former bor-
rowers are pursuing against the Bank. 

The Cologne public prosecutor's office has been conduct-
ing an investigation into two former senior employees of HSH 
Nordbank since April 2018. As part of the investigation, the 
Bank was interviewed as a potential co-defendant in the case. 
In July 2021, the Cologne public prosecutor's office searched 
the premises of the Bank. In the course of thereof, the charges 
were extended to other (mostly former) employees. HSH 
Nordbank, as the predecessor institution of Hamburg Com-
mercial Bank, had already proactively investigated the matter 
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in 2013, long before the start of the investigation by the Co-
logne public prosecutor’s office, disclosed all findings of its in-
ternal investigation at the time to the tax authorities responsi-
ble for large companies in Hamburg and the Hamburg public 
prosecutor’s office, made provisions amounting to € 127 mil-
lion in the 2013 financial statements, and repaid taxes totalling 
around € 112 million plus interest in January 2014. Hamburg 
Commercial Bank is cooperating with the Cologne public 
prosecutor’s office. The case may potentially result in a fine for 
the Bank. The likelihood of this happening or the amount of 
the potential fine are currently not foreseeable. 

As a component of legal risks, tax risks mainly result from 
the fact that the binding interpretation of rules that can be in-
terpreted may sometimes only be known after several years. At 

present, the assessment periods from 2011 onwards can still be 
changed under procedural law. In connection with the tax au-
dits that are currently being conducted, the new and/or 
amended publications by the tax authorities, as well as the 
case law on tax matters that has meanwhile come into effect, 
appropriate provisions are recognised for the resulting tax risks 
where necessary. As at the reporting date, the provisions made 
for expected back taxes as well as the interest payable at-
tributable to these amounts was € 10 million (31 December 
2022: € 13 million). In contrast, appropriate tax receivables 
have been capitalised for expected tax refunds. 

Further information on non-financial risks can be found in 
the combined management report for the 2022 financial year.
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Group statement of income  

 

for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2023 

(€ m) Note 
January–June 

2023 
January–June  

2022 
Change

% 

Interest income from financial assets categorised as AC and FVOCI   654  307  >100 

Interest income from other financial instruments   25  531  -53 

Negative interest on investments categorised as AC and FVOCI   -  -11  -100 

Negative interest on other cash investments and derivatives   -  -27  -100 

Interest expenses   -388  -981  >100 

Positive interest on borrowings and derivatives   1  36  -97 

Net interest income  (5)  292  260  12 

Net commission income  (6)  11  18  -39 

Result from hedging  (7)  6  7  -14 

Result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL  (8)  73  161  >100 

Net income from financial investments  (9)  -  -  - 

Result from the disposal of financial assets classified as AC  (10)  -7  2  >-100 

Total income   375  303  24 

Loan loss provisions  (11)  2  311  94 

Total income after loan loss provisions   377  334  13 

Administrative expenses  (12)  -156  -150  4 

Other operating result  (13)  29  40  -28 

Expenses for regulatory affairs, deposit guarantee fund and banking associations  (14)  -20  -29  -31 

Net income before restructuring and transformation   230  195  18 

Result from restructuring and transformation  (15)  -  -17  100 

Net income before taxes   230  178  29 

Income tax expense   -52  29  >100 

Group net result   178  207  -14 

Group net result attributable to Hamburg Commercial Bank shareholders   178  207  -14 

1) The previous year’s amount was adjusted; for more details please refer to Note 2. 

 

Earnings per share 

(€) Note 
January–June  

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Undiluted  (16)  0.59  0.69 

Diluted  (16)  0.59  0.69 

Number of shares (millions)   302  302 
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Group statement of comprehensive 
income  

 

for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2023 

Reconciliation with total comprehensive income/loss 

(€ m) 
January–June 

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Group net result  178  207 

Income and expenses that have been reclassified to the statement of income 
or may be reclassified at a later date 

  

Changes in the fair value of financial assets classified as FVOCI as a mandatory requirement (before taxes)   

Unrealised gains and loss (before taxes)  -30  -62 

Gains and losses (before taxes) reclassified to the statement of income  -1  1 

Income taxes recognised  10  19 

  -21  -42 

Differences resulting from currency translation  -  - 

  -  - 

Subtotal  -21  -42 

Income and expenses that will not be reclassified to the statement of income at a later date   

Credit risk-induced changes in the value of liabilities designated at fair value (before taxes)  -  4 

Income taxes recognised  -  -1 

  -  3 

Changes resulting from the revaluation of net defined benefit liabilities (before taxes)  -2  175 

Income taxes recognised  -  -56 

  -2  119 

Subtotal  -2  122 

Other comprehensive income for the period  -23  80 

Total comprehensive income  155  287 

Total comprehensive income attributable to Hamburg Commercial Bank shareholders  155  287 
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Group statement of financial position 

as at 30 June 2023 

Assets 

(€ m) Note 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 
Change

% 

Cash reserve  (17)  3,353  4,974  -33 

Loans and advances to banks  (18)  828  777  7 

Loans and advances to customers  (19)  18,388  19,592  -6 

Loan loss provisions  (20)  -318  -414  -23 

Positive fair values of hedging derivatives  (21)  -  -  - 

Positive adjustment item from portfolio fair value hedges   -134  -152  -12 

Trading assets  (22)  228  441  -48 

Financial investments  (23)  7,353  5,490  34 

Intangible assets  (24)  68  55  24 

Property, plant and equipment  (25)  17  16  6 

Investment property  (25)  1  1  - 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups  (26)  11  -  - 

Current tax assets   47  81  -42 

Deferred tax assets  (27)  640  697  -8 

Other assets  (28)  330  260  27 

Total assets   30,812  31,818  -3 
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Liabilities 

(€ m) Note 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 
Change

% 

Liabilities to banks  (29)  4,437  4,606  -4 

Liabilities to customers  (30)  13,455  13,243  2 

Securitised liabilities  (31)  7,429  7,065  5 

Negative fair value of hedging derivatives   61  65  -6 

Negative adjustment item from portfolio fair value hedges   -183  -192  -5 

Trading liabilities  (32)  311  335  -7 

Provisions  (33)  328  361  -9 

Current tax liabilities   73  90  -19 

Other liabilities  (34)  155  150  3 

Subordinated capital  (35)  923  930  -1 

Equity  (36)  3,823  5,165  -26 

Share capital   302  302  - 

Capital reserve   1,531  1,529  0 

Retained earnings   1,838  2,915  -37 

Revaluation reserve   -27  -6  > 100 

Group net result   178  425  -58 

Total before non-controlling interests   3,822  5,165  -26 

Non-controlling interests   1  -  – 

Total liabilities   30,812  31,818  -3 
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Group statement of changes in equity 

(€ m) 

 
 

Note 

 
 

Share capital Capital reserve 

As at 1 January 2022   302  1,524 

Group net result   -  - 

Changes resulting from the revaluation of net defined benefit liabilities   -  - 

Credit risk-induced changes in the value of liabilities designated at fair value   -  - 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets categorised as FVOCI as a mandatory requirement   -  - 

Other comprehensive income   -  - 

Comprehensive income as at 30 June 2022   -  - 

Compensation for the Group net loss for the previous year   -  - 

Share-based remuneration   -  3 

As at 30 June 2022   302  1,527 

As at 1 January 2023   302  1,529 

Group net result   -  - 

Changes resulting from the revaluation of net defined benefit liabilities   -  - 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets categorised as FVOCI as a mandatory requirement   -  - 

Other comprehensive income   -  - 

Comprehensive income as at 30 June 2023   -  - 

Dividend distributions to the shareholders of Hamburg Commercial Bank AG   -  - 

Compensation for the Group net loss for the previous year   -  - 

Changes in scope of consolidation   -  - 

Share-based remuneration   -  2 

As at 30 June 2023  (36)  302  1,531 
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Retained  
earnings 

Currency 
conversion 

reserve 
Revaluation 

reserve 
Group 

net result 

Total before   
non-control-
ling interests 

Non 
-controlling 

interests Total 

  2,437  -  103  351  4,717  -  4,717 

  -  -  -  207  207  -  207 

  119  -  -  -  119  -  119 

  -  -  3  -  3  -  3 

  -  -  -42  -  -42  -  -42 

  119  -  -39  -  80  -  80 

  119  -  -39  207  287  -  287 

  351  -  -  -351  -  -  - 

  -  -  -  -  3  -  3 

  2,907  -  64  207  5,007  -  5,007 

  2,915  -  -6  425  5,165  -  5,165 

  -  -  -  178  178  -  178 

  - 2  -  -  -  -2  -  -2 

  -  -  -21  -  -21  -  -21 

  - 2  -  -21  -  -23  -  -23 

  - 2  -  -21  178  155  -  155 

  - 1,500  -  -  -  -1,500  -  -1,500 

  425  -  -  -425  -  -  - 

  -  -  -  -  -  1  1 

  -  -  -  -  2  -  2 

  1,838  –  -27  178  3,822  1  3,823 
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Group cash flow statement  

Condensed cash flow statement 

(€ m) 
January–June  

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January  4,974  3,261 

Cash flow from operating activities  1,873  495 

Cash flow from investing activities  -1,994  49 

Cash flow from financing activities  -1,500  -1 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June  3,353  3,804 

 

Cash and cash equivalents are equivalent to the Cash reserve 
item in the statement of financial position and comprise cash 
on hand, balances at central banks, treasury bills, discounted 
treasury notes and similar debt instruments issued by public-
sector bodies and bills of exchange. 

The cash flow from operating activities is calculated using 
the indirect method, whereby the Group net income/loss for 
the year is adjusted for non-cash expenses (increased) and 
non-cash income (reduced), and cash changes in assets and li-
abilities used in operating activities are taken into account. 

In the reporting period, significant new issues with a vol-
ume of € 2,374 million were made (previous year: € 3,089 mil-
lion). The volume of repayments/repurchases in this period 

amounted to € 562 million (previous year: € 632 million) and 
the volume of maturing issues came to € 1,514 million (previ-
ous year: € 2,611 million). 

The cash flow from financing activities was burdened by 
the dividend of € 1,500 million distributed in the reporting pe-
riod. 

Further information on the liquidity position of Hamburg 
Commercial Bank is presented in the Group management re-
port under Net assets and financial position and in the Risk Re-
port. 
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Group notes 
(selected explanatory notes) 

General information  

1. Accounting principles

As the ultimate parent company, Hamburg Commercial Bank 
AG, which has its registered office in Hamburg, prepares con-
solidated financial statements for the Group. 

Hamburg Commercial Bank AG has issued debt instru-
ments as defined in Section 2 (1) sentence 1 of the German Se-
curities Trading Act (WpHG) on an organised market as de-
fined in Section 2 (11) WpHG and is thus obliged, as a publicly 
traded company as defined in Regulation (EC) 1606/2002 
(IAS Regulation) of the European Parliament and of the Coun-
cil of 19 July 2002 in conjunction with Section 315e (1) of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) to draw up its Group finan-
cial statements in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards. International accounting standards, 
hereinafter IFRS or standards, refer to the International Ac-
counting Standards (IAS) and the International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS) and the associated interpretations by 
the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC), published by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and adopted under the IAS Regulation as part of 
the EU endorsement. 

Taking into account the requirements set out in IAS 34, the 
half-year financial report consists of condensed interim Group 
financial statements and an interim Group management re-
port. The condensed interim Group financial statements con-
sist of a statement of income, a statement of comprehensive 
income, a statement of financial position, a statement of 
changes in equity, a condensed cash flow statement and se-
lected explanatory notes. 

The interim Group financial statements as at 30 June 2023 
were prepared in accordance with IFRS as published by the In-
ternational Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted 
as European law by the European Union (EU). They take into 
account in particular the requirements set out in IAS 34 (In-
terim Financial Reporting). 

In the interim Group financial statements, the same ac-
counting policies have been applied as in the Group financial 
statements of Hamburg Commercial Bank AG as at 31 Decem-
ber 2022. 

In accordance with IAS 34.C4, Hamburg Commercial Bank 
does not prepare further expert opinions to define the present 
value of defined benefit obligations during the year and takes 
the data from the last expert opinion as at 31 December 2022 
as a basis. Every quarter, pension provisions are reviewed for 
changes in key parameters, which are then adjusted if neces-
sary and taken into account for accounting purposes (in par-
ticular changes in the discount rate). Plan assets are measured 
at fair value and netted with the pension provisions. 

The following accounting standards are applicable for the 
first time in the current financial year: 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting 
policies 
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify that an entity is required to 
disclose its material accounting policy information in the notes 
instead of its significant accounting policies. Whether or not 
the accounting policy information can be classed as material is 
determined based on whether a user of the entity’s financial 
statements needs this information to make decisions. The ac-
counting policy information must therefore be related to ma-
terial transactions or other events, and there must be a reason 
for its disclosure. The amendments to IAS 1 were included in 
the IFRS Practice Statements 2 and examples were added. 

The amendments have no material impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements of Hamburg Commercial Bank. 

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting 
Estimates 
The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the difference between ac-
counting policies and accounting estimates. Accounting esti-
mates are now defined as monetary amounts in financial state-
ments that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
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The amendments have no material impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements of Hamburg Commercial Bank. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related 
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 
The amendments limit the initial recognition exemption of de-
ferred taxes on assets or liabilities in accordance with IAS 12 to 
the extent that the initial recognition exemption does not ap-
ply to transactions in which equal amounts of deductible and 
taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition. This 
pertains in particular to deferred taxes on transactions such as 
leases and decommissioning obligations. In these cases, enti-
ties are now obliged to recognise deferred taxes upon initial 
recognition. 

The amendments have no material impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements of Hamburg Commercial Bank. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 17 
Insurance contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and 
IFRS 9 – Comparative Information 
IFRS 17 covers the accounting treatment of assets and liabili-
ties arising from insurance contracts. The amendments con-
cern transitional provisions for the simultaneous application of 
IFRS 17 and IFRS 9. As at the reporting date, this has no impact 
on the Group financial statements of Hamburg Commercial 
Bank, as the contracts for financial guarantees and perfor-
mance guarantees that could be relevant for IFRS 17 are es-
sentially accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9 in the Group 
financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: International Tax 
Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules 
The amendments concern the inclusion of a temporary ex-
emption from accounting for deferred tax arising from the im-
plementation of Pillar Two model rules. In addition, they re-
quire certain disclosures on the part of the companies con-
cerned.  

The above-stated temporary exemption from the obliga-
tion to account for deferred taxes and the obligation to dis-
close that the mandatory exemption is being used need to be 
applied immediately after the publication of the amendments 
to IAS 12. The other new mandatory disclosures need to be ap-
plied for the first time in the first reporting period in a financial 
year starting on or after 1 January 2023. In interim reports end-
ing in 2023, these disclosures are not yet mandatory. The im-
pact of the amendments on the Group financial statements of 
Hamburg Commercial Bank are currently being reviewed. 

In addition to the IFRS, Hamburg Commercial Bank has 
also complied with the German Accounting Standard GAS 16 
Interim Financial reporting in preparing this interim report. 

These interim Group financial statements have been re-
viewed by an auditor. 

All findings up until 15 August 2023 have been taken into 
account. 

Going concern assumption  
Accounting and valuation are based on the assumption that 
the Bank is a going concern. The Bank’s corporate planning 
forms the basis for the going concern assumption. 

 

2. Changes to prior-year figures

The presentation of the Group statement of income and the 
Group statement of financial position were amended as fol-
lows during the reporting period: 

I. Current payments from interest rate derivatives 

Starting this financial year, Hamburg Commercial Bank reports 
the current cash flow from interest rate derivatives in the result 
from financial instruments categorised as FVPL.   

In the past, all interest cash flows from interest rate deriva-
tives were reported in net interest income.  However, the cor-
responding valuation effects of these interest rate derivatives 
are reported in the result from financial instruments catego-
rised as FVPL. This applies in particular to interest rate swaps, 
which is why this has led in the past to a mismatch between net 
interest income and the result from financial instruments cate-
gorised as FVPL. In order to reduce the resulting complexity in 
the Group income statement, the reporting of current cash 
flow from interest rate derivatives was adjusted. Since 1 Janu-
ary 2023, the disclosure on the basis of IFRS 7.B5(e) is made in 
the result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL and 

not in net interest income. The uniform presentation of valua-
tion effects and current cash flow from interest rate derivatives 
in the same item of the Group income statement provides the 
users of the financial statements with a more accurate over-
view of the Group’s earnings situation. 

The aforementioned adjustment affects the presentation 
in the Group income statement and the related disclosures in 
the notes.    
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For the current reporting period from 1 January 2023 to 30 
June 2023, the shift from net interest income to the result 
from financial instruments categorised as FVPL that results 
from this adjustment amounts to € 49 million (result from fi-
nancial instruments categorised as FVPL: plus € 49 million, net 
interest income: minus € 49 million).  
 

For the previous year’s period from 1 January 2022 to 30 
June 2022, the aforementioned change in presentation results 
in a shift of € 26 million (result from financial instruments cate-
gorised as FVPL: plus € 26 million, net interest income: minus 
€ 26 million). The reduction of €26 million in net interest ex-
pense is made up of a €67 million reduction in interest income 
from derivative financial instruments and a €41 million reduc-
tion in interest expense from derivative financial instruments. 
The previous year’s figures in the Group income statement 
and notes were adjusted accordingly (cf. Group income state-
ment and Note 5  and Note 8). 

II. Currency translation effect from loan loss provisions 

For monetary items, currency translation differences are 
generally recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IAS 
21.28ff. At Hamburg Commercial Bank, these differences are re-
ported for all items in the statement of financial position in the 
result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL. The only 
exception so far were the currency translation differences from 

loan loss provisions on foreign currency items, which were previ-
ously reported under loan loss provisions. With the above-
stated change in presentation, this exception has been abol-
ished. All currency translation differences are therefore from 
now on recognised uniformly in the result from financial instru-
ments categorised as FVPL. This means that the effects from 
credit ratings and the currency effects are no longer blended in 
the loan loss provisions. 

The uniform presentation of currency translation effects in 
the same item of the Group income statement provides the us-
ers of the financial statements with a more accurate overview of 
the Group’s earnings situation. 

The aforementioned adjustment affects the presentation in 
the Group income statement and the related disclosures in the 
notes.  

For the current reporting period from 1 January 2023 to 30 
June 2023, the shift from loan loss provisions to the result from 
financial instruments categorised as FVPL that results from this 
adjustment is marginal (below € 500 thousand).  

For the previous year’s period from 1 January 2022 to 30 
June 2022, the aforementioned change in presentation results 
in a shift of € 1 million (result from financial instruments catego-
rised as FVPL: minus € 1 million, loan loss provisions: plus € 1 mil-
lion). The previous year’s figures in the Group income statement 
and notes were adjusted accordingly (cf. Group income state-
ment and Note 8  and Note 11). 

 
 

3. Impact of COVID-19 and the war in Ukraine on the Group financial statements of Hamburg 

Commercial Bank

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine, which 
started with the Russian attack on Ukraine in February 2022, 
the previous years were characterised by increased uncer-
tainty with regard to future market developments, which had 
an impact on the estimates required in line with the impair-
ment provisions according to IFRS 9.  

In the reporting year 2023, however, these two factors only 
hand an insignificant direct impact on the Bank’s business ac-
tivities.  

For more information on the change in loan loss provisions 
and a description of the underlying estimates for the reporting 
year, please refer to Note 20. 

Other effects resulting from the current macroeconomic 
situation on HCOB’s business performance are described in 
the management report. 

 
 

4. Scope of consolidation 

In addition to the parent company, Hamburg Commercial 
Bank AG, Hamburg, the scope of consolidation

 includes 15 fully consolidated subsidiaries (31 December 2022: 
14).   
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As in the previous financial statements of 31 December 
2022, there are no associates or joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method. 

The changes in the scope of consolidation in the first half 
of 2023 relate to the subsidiaries listed below. 

I. Disclosures on subsidiaries – Changes in the scope of 
consolidation 

A) ADDITIONS 

The following companies are fully consolidated and included 
for the first time as subsidiaries in the Group financial state-
ments as at 30 June 2023: 

- Elbe CA Holdings, LLC, Delaware 
- Elbe CA Subsidiary, SCSp, Luxembourg 

These two companies are directly associated with the subsidi-
ary HPS Elbe Unlevered Direct Lending Fund, SCSp, Luxem-
bourg, a special fund (loan fund) the primary business purpose 
of which is the acquisition of receivables from third-party cus-
tomers, which has already been fully consolidated since 31 De-
cember 2021. One of these receivables was not acquired via 
the special fund itself, but via its above-mentioned subsidiar-
ies. These subsidiaries do not have any significant assets or lia-
bilities beyond this receivable.  

For reasons of transparency and on the basis of the indi-
rect possibility of a transfer of control, Elbe CA Holdings and 
Elbe CA Subsidiary were included as subsidiaries for the first 
time as at 30 June. Since the receivable held via these subsidi-
aries has already been indirectly reported in the Group finan-
cial statements because of the full consolidation of the special 
fund, the further inclusion of the two entities has no effect on 
the net assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Hamburg Commercial Bank Group.   

B) DISPOSALS 

In contrast to 31 December 2022, RESPARCS Funding Limited 
Partnership, St. Helier, is no longer included in the group of 
fully consolidated companies. 

The company was originally used as a refinancing vehicle 
for a capital market transaction. 

II. Information on consolidated structured entities  

Hamburg Commercial Bank’s scope of consolidation includes 
eight fully-consolidated structured entities. HCOB exercises 
control over these companies on the basis of contractual 
rights and/or principal-agent relationships. In three of these 
companies, HCOB also holds the majority of voting rights. 
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Notes on the Group statement of income 

5. Net interest income  

Net interest income 

(€ m) 
January–June 

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Interest income from   

lending and money market transactions categorised as AC and FVOCI  563  284 

fixed-interest securities categorised as AC and FVOCI  80  17 

other non-fixed-interest securities categorised as AC and FVOCI  1  - 

impaired financial assets  7  3 

         discounting of provisions  3  3 

Interest income from financial assets categorised as AC and FVOCI  654  307 

thereof attributable to financial assets measured at AC  542  285 

thereof attributable to financial assets measured at fair value in OCI as a mandatory requirement  111  23 

Interest income from   

other lending and money market transactions  -  4 

other fixed-interest securities  11  8 

other miscellaneous non-fixed-interest securities  -  7 

trading transactions  3  1 

derivative financial instruments  11  33 

Interest income from other financial instruments  25  53 

Negative interest on lending and money market transactions categorised as AC and FVOCI  -  -11 

Negative interest on investments categorised as AC and FVOCI  -  -11 

thereof attributable to financial assets measured at AC  -  -11 

Negative interest from derivative financial instruments  -  -27 

Negative interest on other cash investments and derivatives  -  -27 

Interest expenses for   

Liabilities to banks  51  12 

Liabilities to customers  169  54 

Securitised liabilities  61  17 

Subordinated capital  16  4 

other liabilities  -  - 

Derivative financial instruments  91  11 

Interest expenses  388  98 

thereof attributable to financial liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss  337  31 

Positive interest on   

Liabilities to banks  -1  -5 

Liabilities to customers  -  -8 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -23 

Positive interest on borrowings and derivatives  -1  -36 

thereof attributable to financial liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss  -1  -13 

Total  292  260 
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Net interest income includes income and expenses arising 
from the amortisation of the adjustment items for portfolio fair 
value hedge relationships and corresponding proceeds from 
the closing of the underlying transactions which contributed 
to the adjustment item.For receivables subject to specific loan 
loss provisions, both the interest income and the loan loss pro-
visions have to be adjusted by multiplying them by the original 
effective interest rate in net interest income. 

The negative interest from investments categorised as AC 
and FVOCI results from lending and money market transac-
tions. The negative interest on other investments and deriva-
tives is due in full to derivative financial instruments.  

The positive interest is mainly attributable to derivative fi-
nancial instruments. 

 

6. Net commission income 

Net commission income  

(€ m) 
January–June  

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Commission income from   

lending business  6  10 

securities business  1  1 

guarantee business  2  2 

payments and account  
transactions as well as  
documentary business 

 9  9 

Other commission income  1  1 

Commission income  19  23 

Commission expense from   

lending business  1  1 

payments and account  
transactions as well as  
documentary business 

 1  1 

Other commission expenses  6  3 

Commission expenses  8  5 

Total  11  18 

     

Net commission income relates entirely to financial instru-
ments not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

7. Result from hedging 

The change in value attributable to the hedged risk for desig-
nated underlying and hedging transactions in effective hedg-
ing relationships is reported under the Result from hedging 
item. The item contains the profit contributions from micro 
and portfolio fair value hedges. Hedge accounting is used 
solely for interest rate and currency risks. 

Result from hedging 

 
(€ m) 

January–June  
2023 

January–June 
2022 

Fair value changes from hedging 
transactions 

 -27  200 

Micro fair value hedge  1  128 

Portfolio fair value hedge  -27  72 

Fair value changes from heeding 
transactions 

 33  -193 

Micro fair value hedge  -1  -126 

Portfolio fair value hedge  34  -67 

Total  6  7 
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8. Result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL  

The result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL in-
cludes the realised result and the valuation result of financial 
instruments in the FVPL Trading, FVPL Designated and FVPL 
Other categories.  

Other products comprises income from foreign exchange 
transactions and credit derivatives.  

Result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL 

(€ m) 
January–June 

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Bonds and interest rate derivatives   

FVPL Held For Trading  54  89 

FVPL Designated  1  12 

FVPL Other  -1  -71 

Total  54  30 

Equities and equity derivatives   

FVPL Held For Trading  1  -3 

FVPL Designated  -  - 

FVPL Other  -2  4 

Total  -1  1 

Other products   

FVPL Held For Trading  10  -7 

FVPL Other  10  -8 

Total  20  -15 

Total  73  16 

      

The result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL in-
cludes net income from foreign currency of € 10 Million (previ-
ous year: €-8 Million ). 

During the reporting period, € 0 Million (previous year:    
€-3 Million) of the changes in fair value of the financial assets 
categorised as FVPL Designated relate to changes in the 
credit spread rather than changes in market interest rates. In 
cumulative terms, a total of € 2 Million (previous year: € 0 Mil-
lion) is attributable to changes in the credit spread. 

 

9. Net income from financial investments  

This item shows the realised results of the FVOCI-categorised 
financial investments including the reversal amounts from 
portfolio fair value hedges.  

As in the first half of the previous year, no net income from 
financial investments was realised in the reporting period. 

 

10. Result from the disposal of financial assets classified as AC

This item includes the realised results from the sale and prem-
ature repayment of, as well as substantial modifications to, fi-
nancial assets categorised at amortised cost. 

In the reporting period, the “Result from the disposal of fi-
nancial assets classified as AC” largely results from disposals of 
receivables in connection with early repayments/redemptions.  

The disposals of receivables in the first half of 2023 were 
almost exclusively carried out at par; as a result, they had no 
significant effect on the “Result from the disposal of financial 
assets classified as AC”. In accordance with IFRS 9.B4.1.3 A 
and B, all disposals were carried out in line with the exceptions 
applicable to the “Hold” business model. 
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Result from the disposal of financial assets classified as AC 

(€ m) 
January - June 

2023 
January - June 

2022 

Gains from the disposal of  
financial assets classified  
as AC 

  

Loans and advances to customers  2  2 

Total gains  2  2 

Losses from the disposal  
of financial assets classified  
as AC 

  

Loans and advances to customers  9  - 

Total losses  9  - 

Total  -7  2 

        

 

11. Loan loss provisions 

This item shows the change in loan loss provisions for all loans 
and advances to banks, loans and advances to customers and 

financial investments, as well as leasing receivables, catego-
rised as AC and FVOCI and for off-balance-sheet business.  

Loan loss provisions 

(€ m) 
January–June  

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Loans and advances to customers   

Insignificant increase in the loan default risk (Stage 1/12-month ECL)  13  13 

thereof AC  13  13 

Significant increase in the loan default risk (Stage 2/lifetime ECL)  -11  27 

thereof AC  -11  27 

Impaired credit rating (Stage 3/lifetime ECL)  -6  -12 

thereof AC  -6  -12 

Loans that are purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI)  -1  - 

thereof AC  -1  - 

Result from the change in loan loss provisions on loans and advances to customers  -5  28 

Off-balance-sheet business   

Insignificant increase in the loan default risk (Stage 1/12-month ECL)  -1  - 

Significant increase in the loan default risk (Stage 2/lifetime ECL)  -2  -3 

Impaired credit rating (Stage 3/lifetime ECL)  3  5 

Provisions in lending business in accordance with IAS 37  4  -1 

Result from changes in provisions in the lending business  4  1 

+ Recoveries on loans and advances previously written off  2  2 

+ Result of non-substantial modifications  1  - 

Result from other changes to loan loss provisions  3  2 

Total loan loss provisions  2  31 

       

The value adjustments changed moderately in the first half of 
2023 and had a positive effect of € 2 million on the earnings 
situation. This was mainly driven by the strong performance in

 the Project Finance segment and the improved forecasts in 
the Shipping segment, which were partly offset by the net ad-
ditions due to uncertainties about macroeconomic effects in
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 the Real Estate segment and the moderate net increase due 
to new defaults. 

The other components of the loan loss provisions model were 
slightly positive overall. 

 
 

12. Administrative expenses 

Administrative expenses 

(€ m) 
January–June 

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Personnel expenses  69  70 

Operating expenses  84  78 

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment, leased assets and invest-
ment properties and amortisation of 
intangible assets 

 3  2 

Total  156  150 

      

 

13. Other operating result  

Other operating result 

(€ m) 
January–June 

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Other operating income  39  56 

Other operating expenses  10  16 

Total  29  40 

        

Other operating income includes income from the reversal of 
provisions in the amount of € 15 million (previous year: € 34 
million), mainly for legal risks in the amount of € 11 million.  

Another special effect results from an earn-out agreement 
in connection with a subsidiary sold in previous years (€ 18 mil-
lion). 

 
 

14. Expenses for regulatory affairs, deposit guarantee fund and banking associations

Expenses for regulatory affairs, deposit guarantee fund and 
banking associations 

(€ m) 
January–June 

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Expenses for European bank levy  12  20 

Expenses for Deposit Protection Fund  6  7 

Expenses for banking supervisory au-
thority 

 2  2 

Total  20  29 

    

The event triggering the obligation to pay the bank levy in ac-
cordance with IFRIC 21 is established at the beginning of each 
year. This means that the expenses for the bank levy are rec-
ognised in full at the beginning of the year and not pro rata 
temporis.   
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15. Result from restructuring and transformation  

Result from restructuring and transformation 

(€ m) 
January–June  

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Operating expenses due to restruc-
turing 

 -  3 

Result from restructuring  -  3 

Expenses from transformation  -  14 

Result from restructuring and trans-
formation 

 -  17 

 

In the previous year, transformation expenses amounted to € 
14 million. These resulted mainly from measures introduced to 
achieve the Bank’s strategic goals, in particular the successful 
transition to the Deposit Protection Fund of private banks, 
which was achieved on 1 January 2022. 

HCOB’s restructuring and transformation programme has 
been completed. 

 
 

16. Earnings per share  

To calculate earnings per share, the Group net result attributa-
ble to Hamburg Commercial Bank shareholders is divided by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year under review.  

As no dilutive shares were issued, the basic/undiluted 
earnings per share are identical with the diluted earnings per 
share.  

The calculation was based on non-rounded values. 

Earnings per share 

 
January–June  

2023 
January–June 

2022 

Attributable Group net result  
(€ m) – undiluted/diluted 

 178  207 

Number of shares (millions)   

Average number of  
ordinary shares outstanding  
– undiluted/diluted 

 302  302 

Earnings per share (€)   

Undiluted  0.59  0.69 

Diluted  0.59  0.69 
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Notes on the Group statement of financial position 

17. Cash reserve 

Cash reserve 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Balances with central banks  3,353  4,974 

thereof at the Deutsche  
Bundesbank 

 3,353  4,974 

Total  3,353  4,974 

      

 

18. Loans and advances to banks

Loans and advances to banks 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Payable on demand  436  452 

Other loans and advances  392  325 

Total  828  777 

     

The development of the carrying amounts of loans and ad-
vances to banks is shown in Note 38. 

 
 

19. Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Retail customers  128  152 

Corporate clients  17,491  18,733 

Public authorities  769  707 

Total  18,388  19,592 

     

The development of the carrying amounts of loans and ad-
vances to customers is shown in Note 38. 
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20. Loan loss provisions

Loan loss provisions 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Loan loss provisions for loans and ad-
vances to customers classified as AC, 
incl. leasing 

 318  414 

Loan loss provisions in the lending 
business 

 318  414 

Loan loss provisions for items in the 
statement of financial position 

 318  414 

Provisions in the lending business  34  35 

Loan loss provisions for items in the 
statement of financial position and 
off-balance-sheet risk in the lending 
business 

 352  449 

      

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Loan loss provisions item is only 
set up for transactions categorised as AC and FVOCI. As at 30 
June 2023, loan loss provisions mainly refer to transactions 
categorised as AC.  

Out of the total loan loss provisions of € 352 Million as at 
30 June 2023 (31 December 2022: € 449 Million), € 129 mil-
lion (31 December 2022: € 144 million) pertain to the adjust-
ment of loan loss provisions because of model overlays. Here, 
€ 64 million are allocated to Stage 1 loan loss provisions and 
€ 65 million to Stage 2 loan loss provisions. No model overlays 
have been formed for Stage 3 loan loss provisions. For expla-
nations regarding the need for these adjustments and details 
with regard to their composition, please refer to the next sec-
tion of this Note (“Model Overlays”).  

As at the reporting date, € 154 million of the loan loss pro-
visions for items in the statement of financial position are allo-
cated to credit exposures classified as Stage 3 (incl. POCI) of 
the IFRS 9 risk provisioning model (31 December 2022: € 238 
million) and € 165 million to exposures classified as Stage 1 or 2 
(31 December 2022: € 176 million).  

For off-balance sheet items classified as Stage 3, loan loss 
provisions of € 28 million (31 December 2022: € 31 million) 
were created and for off-balance sheet items classified as 
Stage 1 or 2, the corresponding provisions amount to € 6 mil-
lion (31 December 2022: € 4 million).  

The development of loan loss provisions over time is shown 
separately in Note 38 in connection with the development of 
the gross carrying amounts by item in the statement of finan-
cial position. 

In addition, the Bank forms loan loss provisions in accord-
ance with IAS 37 for the off-balance sheet lending business, 
which totalled € 3 million as at the reporting date (31 Decem-
ber 2022: € 7 million) and is reported in Note 33 under provi-
sions in the lending business.  

I. Model Overlays 

The impact of forward-looking information on the credit risk 
parameters Probability of default (PD) and Loss given default 
(LGD) is generally determined using statistical procedures and 
is taken into account when calculating the expected credit 
losses. In this process, various macroeconomic forecasts (cf. 
table on “Macroeconomic forecasts for 2023”) are taken into 
account and regular checks are performed to analyse whether 
alternative macroeconomic developments have a material 
non-linear impact on the amount of loan loss provisions.  

So-called model overlays take risk factors that are relevant 
to the valuation into account, unless they are already included 
in the calculation parameters of the models. Loan loss provi-
sions are then adjusted either directly or indirectly by altering 
the credit risk parameters to reflect these effects.  

As at the reporting date, the model overlays are structured 
as follows: 

Composition of model overlays 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Effect of macroeconomic forecasts  43  47 

Address and portfolio related  
adjustments   

Individual cases (watch list)  36  27 

Individual cases of borrowers  
potentially impacted by the war in 
Ukraine 

 9  21 

Sub-portfolio Land financing  18  - 

          Sub-portfolio Retail  16  12 

Sub-portfolio Tankers  -  29 

Additions to ECL method  7  8 

Total  129  144 

      

II. Effect of macroeconomic forecasts 

The impact of forward-looking information on the macroeco-
nomic environment of Hamburg Commercial Bank’s business 
activities is calculated in separate scenarios. For this purpose, 
the Bank takes into account two weighted scenarios (basis and 
stress scenario). These scenarios are based on the following 
macroeconomic forecasts: 



Group explanatory notes Notes on the Group statement of financial position 67
  
 

 

Macroeconomic forecasts for 2023 (as at 30 June 2023) 

  Base scenario  Stress Scenario 

GDP USA (%)  1.00  0.00 

GDP eurozone (%)  0.90  -0.50 

GDP Germany (%)  -0.30  -1.00 

Fed Funds rate (%)  5.38  5.38 

ECB MRO rate (%)  4.25  4.25 

3M EURIBOR (%)  3.96  3.80 

10Y Bunds (%)  2.66  2.00 

EUR/USD exchange rate  1.10  1.00 

Unemployment rate Germany (%)  5.60  5.80 

Inflation rate Germany (%)  6.00  6.20 

      

The base scenario (60% probability of occurrence) represents 
the expected development, while the stress scenario (40% 
probability of occurrence) takes into account the additional 
uncertainties due to the economic and geopolitical develop-
ments, in particular the currently still high inflation and the in-
creased interest rate level. Depending on the macroeconomic 
scenarios for determining the model overlays, the risk parame-
ters (PD and LGD) are adjusted for the entire portfolio. The 
difference between the result of the calculation with the ad-
justed risk parameters and the original loan loss provisions is 
included in the loan loss provisions as a model overlay.  

The loan loss provisions required as a result of the two sce-
narios amounts to € 43 million (31 December 2022: € 47 mil-
lion). The effects deriving from macroeconomic forecasts were 
also taken into account for exposures of HCOB’s special credit 
funds. As at the reporting date, € 2 million (31 December 2022: 
€ 2 million) of the model overlays in this category are attribut-
able to these exposures. 

III. Address and portfolio related adjustments 

In addition to the macroeconomic forecasts, the model over-
lays also take into account potential adverse macroeconomic 
effects on individual borrowers in the Bank portfolio as well as 
in sub-portfolios. If these exposures were not yet allocated to 
Stage 2 or have not already migrated due to the macroeco-
nomic assumptions, they are now moved to Stage 2. The dif-
ference between the result of this calculation and the original 
loan loss provisions is included in the loan loss provisions as a 
model overlay. 

The analysis of individual cases concerns borrowers that 
are monitored closely by way of a watch list that enables risk 
management measures to be initiated at an early stage. This 
pertains to a total exposure at default (EAD) of € 3,200 million 
(31 December 2022: € 3,039 million). As at 30 June 2023, € 
2,665 million out of this amount relate to Stages 1 and 2 (31 
December 2022: € 2,496 million). These form the basis for the 
calculation of the model overlays in the assessment of individ-
ual cases. The respective risk parameters (PD and LGD) for the 

identified customers are adjusted by the relevant experts to 
determine the model overlay. The model overlays for individ-
ual borrower risks that are determined in this way amounted to 
€ 36 million as at the reporting date (31 December 2022: € 27 
million).  

In addition, model overlays are also created for individual 
borrowers who may potentially be impacted by the war in 
Ukraine. The reduction of such overlays to € 9 million (31 De-
cember 2022: € 21 million) results from the significant de-
crease in EAD to € 171 million (31 December 2022: € 279 mil-
lion) and a slight improvement in the quality of the corre-
sponding portfolio. 

At the portfolio level, retail properties (especially depart-
ment stores and shopping centres) as well as land financing in 
the Real Estate segment were identified as particularly af-
fected by the high inflation rate, the rise in construction costs 
and especially the rise in interest rates. In total, this pertains to 
EAD of € 1,351 million (31 December 2022: € 1,634 million) for 
the sub-portfolio of retail properties and an EAD of € 541 mil-
lion for the land financing sub-portfolio. The corresponding 
model overlays amount to € 16 million for retail properties (31 
December 2022: € 12 million) and to € 18 million for land fi-
nancing (31 December 2022: € 0 million). 

Due to the positive development of the market situation 
and the medium-term forecasts for charter rates and ship 
prices in the tankers portfolio of the Shipping segment, the 
overlays in this segment were released in full (31 December 
2022: € 29 million). 

IV. Additions to ECL method 

Independently of adjustments to loan loss provisions because 
of macroeconomic developments as well as borrower or port-
folio risks, the Bank determines mark-ups for pending adjust-
ments to internal models. As at 30 June 2023, these amount 
to € 7 million (previous year: € 8 million).  

V. Sensitivity analyses 

The sensitivity of Hamburg Commercial Bank’s ECL model to 
expert adjustments of borrower and portfolio related risk pa-
rameters is shown by an upward and downward shift in the 
forecast assumptions.   
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To simulate the potential effects on the loan loss provi-
sions a rating shift of two notches and one notch respectively 
was simulated. 

A rating downgrade for the borrowers and portfolios af-
fected by two notches would result in an increase in the model 
overlays of € 96 million, while a downgrade by one notch 
would result in an increase of € 41 million. A rating upgrade by 
two notches would reduce the model overlays by € 45 million, 

while an upgrade by one notch would lead to a reduction of 
€ 30 million. 

 A change in the weighting between the base and the 
stress scenario of ten percent would result in an increase or 
decrease in the macroeconomic model overlays of € 3 million. 

 
 

21. Hedge accounting

Hamburg Commercial Bank continues to apply the portfolio 
fair value hedge approach in accordance with IAS 39, making 
use of the option under IFRS 9.6.1.3. Furthermore, Hamburg 
Commercial Bank now uses the micro fair value hedge ap-
proach in accordance with IFRS 9 for financial instruments 
measured at fair value directly in equity under IFRS 9.  

In addition, Hamburg Commercial Bank manages its cur-
rency exchange risk by hedging net investments in foreign op-
erations in accordance with IFRS 9.6.5.13. 

The following section provides a description of the hedg-
ing and underlying transactions used for hedging purposes, in-
cluding the risk management strategy, the impact on cash 
flows and the effects on the net assets, statement of compre-
hensive income and statement of changes in equity. 

I. Risk management strategy 

In order to avoid distortions in the statement of income result-
ing from interest-bearing financial instruments, micro and 
portfolio fair value hedge accounting is used to hedge the 
market price risk interest.  

For micro fair value hedges, structured euro swaps are 
designated as hedging instruments for structured euro under-
lying transactions. These designated hedges correspond to 
economic back-to-back hedges which neutralise the market 
price risks associated with the underlying transactions. The ef-
fectiveness of these hedges is ensured by a critical term match 
and ineffectiveness is expected from model adjustments, 
measurement mismatches and the inclusion of tenor basis 
spreads. In portfolio fair value hedges on interest rate risks, the 
underlying transactions as a whole are hedged by means of in-
terest rate swaps. Effectiveness is measured in accordance 
with the rules set out in IAS 39 and the hedge ratio is calcu-
lated using the dollar offset method. Ineffectiveness can result 
from maturities of assets and liabilities that do not match, and 
from the reference interest rate of the hedging transactions. 

Hedge accounting is exclusively used to hedge interest 
and foreign exchange risks in connection with net investments 
in foreign operations at present. 

II. Effects on cash flows 

In order to assess the cash flows to be expected, the nominal 
and average prices of the hedging instruments in micro fair 
value hedges are presented below. 

Micro fair value hedges 

(€ m) Maturity date 

 2037 2038 

Nominal value of hedging instruments  250  200 

Average swap rate  3.752  3.633 

      

III. Effects on net assets and statement of comprehensive 
income 

The effects on the net assets and statement of comprehensive 
income are presented separately for hedging transactions and 
underlying transactions. 

HEDGING INSTRUMENTS 
This section presents the nominal values, hedge adjustment 
and the positive and negative fair values of derivatives used in 
hedge accounting. At present, only interest rate swaps are 
taken into account as hedging instruments for interest rate 
risks. If a derivative is only designated pro rata in hedge ac-
counting, the Positive/negative fair value of hedging deriva-
tives item contains the corresponding share of the derivative’s 
fair value, nominal value and hedge adjustment. The remaining 
balance is reported under trading assets/liabilities or in the re-
sult from financial instruments categorised as FVPL.    
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Bearer bonds and time deposits are taken into account as 
hedging instruments for the hedging of net investments in

foreign operations in accordance with IFRS 9.6.5.13.  

Hedging instruments 

(€ m)  30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

 
Hedge type/type of risk 

 
Balance sheet 

item Nominal value 
Carrying 
amount 

Hedge
adjustment

(ytd) 

 
 

Nominal value 
Carrying 
amount 

Hedge
adjustment

(ytd) 

air value hedge/interest  
rate risk 

 
      

Interest rate derivatives  
(assets side) 

Positive fair val-
ues of hedging 
derivatives 

 2,680  -  -  588  -  34 

Interest rate derivatives  
(liabilities side) 

Negative fair 
value of hedg-
ing derivatives 

 5,977  61  -27  5,771  65  96 

Hedging of net investments 
in foreign operations/foreign 
exchange risk 

       

Time deposits (liabilities side) Liabilities due to 
customers 

 359  359  -5  278  278  -7 

Debentures Subordinated 
capital 

 192  193  -4  196  197  11 

1) The portfolios are newly designated/redesignated (at least) once a month including the integration of new business. This leads to a change in the composition 
of the hedging relationship between the underlying and hedging transactions. 

 

Asset-side transactions to hedge interest rate risks are re-
ported in the balance sheet item Positive fair values of hedg-
ing derivatives, and derivatives on the liabilities side to hedge 
interest rate risks are shown in the balance sheet item Nega-
tive fair values of hedging derivatives. The overall changes in 
these items are mainly due to changes in the portfolio compo-
sitions and movements in interest rates in the euro and US dol-
lar capital markets. 

At present, foreign exchange risks from net investments in 
foreign operations are exclusively hedged with liability-side 
transactions in the Subordinated capital and Liabilities to cus-
tomers items in the statement of financial position. 

UNDERLYING TRANSACTIONS 
This section presents financial instruments on the assets and 
liabilities side used in hedge accounting. The following table 
shows the carrying amounts, accumulated changes in value 
(ltd) and since the beginning of the financial year (ytd). The 
underlying transactions currently include assets (receivables 
and securities) and liabilities. Hedge accounting is exclusively 
used to hedge interest and foreign exchange risks in connec-
tion with net investments in foreign operations at present. 
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Underlying transactions1) 

(€ m)  30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

 
 
Hedge type/type of risk 

Balance sheet 
item 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Cum. hedge
adjustment

(ltd) 

Hedge
adjustment

(ytd) 
Carrying 
amount 

Cum. hedge 
adjustment 

(ltd) 

Hedge
adjustment

(ytd) 

Fair value hedge/interest  
rate risk 

 
      

Portfolio fair value hedge: 
Fixed-interest rate loans, 
debentures, securities 

Positive adjust-
ment item 
from portfolio 
fair value 
hedges 

 5,796  -134  18  5,163  -152  -182 

Micro fair value hedge Loans and ad-
vances to 
customers 

 492  90  -  508  90  31 

Portfolio fair value hedge: 
Fixed-interest issues 

Negative adjust-
ment item 
from portfolio 
fair value 
hedges 

 7,272  -183  9  7,101  -192  -373 

Portfolio fair value hedge  
(inactive) 

Positive adjust-
ment item 
from portfolio 
fair value 
hedges 

 55  -  -  53  -  -3 

Micro fair value hedge  
(inactive) 

Loans and  
advances to 
customers 

 67  2  -1  68  3  -1 

Micro fair value hedge  
(inactive) 

Liabilities due to 
customers,  
subordinated 
capital 

 24  4  -2  25  6  -1 

Hedging of net investments 
in foreign operations/foreign 
exchange risk 

       

USD hedging Equity (currency 
conversion  
reserve) 

 -  1  -  475  -7  -4 

1) The portfolios are newly designated/redesignated (at least) once a month including the integration of new business. This leads to a change in the composition of the hedg-
ing relationship between the underlying and hedging transactions. 

 

22. Trading assets

Only financial assets in the FVPL Trading category are re-
ported under the Trading assets item. Mainly included in this 
category are original financial instruments held for trading 
purposes, including accrued interest, and derivatives with a 
positive fair value which are either not designated as a hedge 
derivative or are used as hedging instruments but do not meet 
the requirements of IFRS 9 for hedge accounting.  

Trading assets 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Positive fair value of financial  
derivatives 

 187  322 

Other, including promissory notes 
held for trading 

 41  87 

Receivables from syndication  
transactions 

 -  32 

Total  228  441 

       

 



Group explanatory notes Notes on the Group statement of financial position 71
  
 

 

23. Financial investments

In particular, financial instruments not held for trading pur-
posed are reported as financial investments. This item includes 
bonds and other fixed-interest securities, equities and other 
non-fixed-interest securities, holdings in unconsolidated affili-
ated companies, holdings in joint ventures and associates not 
carried at equity in the Group financial statements.  

Financial investments 

(€ m)  30.06.2023  31.12.2022 

Debentures and other fixed-interest 
securities 

 7,237  5,479 

Shares and other non-fixed-interest 
securities 

 106  1 

Long-term equity investments  10  10 

Total  7,353  5,490 

       

The development of the carrying amounts of financial invest-
ments for the current year is shown in Note 38 . 

 

24. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Software  12  13 

developed in-house  1  2 

acquired  11  11 

Software in development  56  42 

developed in-house  4  2 

acquired  52  40 

Total  68  55 

        

The Software in development item mainly includes expenses 
in connection with the development of the target IT platform 
SAP S/4 HANA over several years. 

Completed IT project components were reclassified to 
Software acquired in the reporting period. 

 
 

25. Property, plant and equipment and investment property  

Property, plant and equipment 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Land and buildings  8  8 

Plant and equipment  2  2 

Right-of-use assets from leasing  7  6 

Total  17  16 

     

As at the reporting date, the Investment property item in-
cludes rights-of-use from properties held under a lease (which 
meet the definition of investment property). These properties 
are intended to generate rental income or increase in value, 
but are not used for the Group’s own business activities. 

Investment property 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Investment property  1  1 

Total  1  1 
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26. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Loans and advances to customers  11  - 

Total before loan loss provisions  11  - 

Total  11  - 

       

The Bank has decided to sell loans and advances to customers 
in the amount of € 11 million. The sale of the receivables meas-
ured at amortised cost (AC), which are allocated to the Project 
Finance segment, is most likely to be completed in Q3 2023. 
No risk provisions have been formed for the non-current as-
sets held for sale. 

 
 

27. Deferred tax assets 

Of the deferred tax assets in the amount of € 640 Million  (31 
December 2022: € 697 million), € 349 million (31 December 
2021: € 318 million) relate to tax loss carry-forwards. 

As at 30 June 2023, € 216 million of this amount is attribut-
able to the head office (31 December 2022: € 197 million) and 
€ 133 million attributable to the Luxembourg branch (31 De-
cember 2022: € 121 million).  

The value of deferred tax assets results from the positive 
future tax results expected in the tax planning as derived from 
corporate. 

 
 

 

28. Other assets 

Other assets 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Prepaid expenses  13  12 

Receivables from other taxes  2  2 

Capitalised plan assets  139  141 

Reimbursement right from plan assets  107  91 

Other assets  69  14 

Total  330  260 

     

€ 152 Million  of the assets disclosed in the table relate to fi-
nancial instruments (31 December 2022: € 111 Million). The fair 
value of the plan assets exceeds the hedged pension obliga-
tions by € 139 million. The surplus amount was capitalised. In 
addition, the Bank has a contractual reimbursement right in 
the amount of the pension benefits already paid out. The pen-
sion benefits paid out in the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 
June 2023 have not yet been repaid to the Bank and are there-
fore recognised as other assets in the amount of € 107 million 
(31 December 2022: € 91 million). 
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29. Liabilities to banks 

Liabilities to banks 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Payable on demand  95  191 

Other term liabilities  4,342  4,415 

Total  4,437  4,606 

       

As at 30 June 2023, the liabilities to banks include liabilities 
from a TLTRO III transaction (TLTRO: “targeted longer-term 
refinancing operations”) with the ECB in the amount of € 1 bil-
lion (previous year: € 1,75 billion). The transaction was entered 

in 2021 with a term of three years (due in 2024). Since 23 No-
vember 2022, this liability has been in the so-called “final in-
terest period” that lasts until its maturity. Since then, the inter-
est has been based on the average interest rate for main refi-
nancing operations of the Euro system. As at 30 June 2023, 
the TLTRO III liabilities account for € 17 million in interest ex-
pense.  

As Hamburg Commercial Bank has failed to meet the 
lending conditions required to receive a premium in the so-
called “special interest period” that expired in June 2022 in 
previous years, the Bank did not receive a premium. 

 
 

30. Liabilities to customers

Liabilities to customers 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Other liabilities   

Payable on demand  4,307  4,742 

Term liabilities  9,148  8,501 

Total  13,455  13,243 

        

 

31. Securitised liabilities 

Securitised liabilities 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Debentures issued  7,429  7,065 

Total  7,429  7,065 

       

In the Securitised liabilities item, repurchased own debentures 
in the amount of € 1.349 Million  (31 December 2022: € 1.270 
Million ) were deducted.  

 
 

 

32. Trading liabilities 

The Trading liabilities item comprises exclusively financial obli-
gations of the FVPL Trading category. Mainly included in this 
category are derivatives with a negative fair value which are ei-
ther not designated as a hedge derivative 

or are used as hedging instrument but do not meet the re-
quirements of IFRS 9 for hedge accounting. 
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Trading liabilities 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Negative fair value from derivative fi-
nancial instruments 

  

Interest-related business  209  222 

Currency-related business  18  25 

Other business  41  48 

Other  43  40 

Total  311  335 

    

 

 
 

33. Provisions 

Provisions 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Provisions for pension obligations and 
similar obligations 

 75  87 

Other provisions   

Provisions for personnel expenses  44  57 

Provisions in the lending business  37  42 

Provisions for restructuring  16  20 

Provisions for litigation risks and 
costs 

 97  110 

Other provisions  59  45 

Total  328  361 

       

A contractual trust agreement has been arranged between 
HCOB AG and HCOB Trust e.V. to provide an independent le-
gal structure for pension liabilities. HCOB Trust e.V. takes on 
the role of a trustee towards the beneficiaries. The assets 
transferred to HCOB Trust e.V. are plan assets under IAS 19. As 

at 30 June 2023, plan assets amount to € 660 million (31 De-
cember 2022: € 789 million), which is netted with the pension 
liabilities. The net change in pension provisions in the amount 
of € 12 million refers mainly to payments for pension liabilities 
in the amount of € 27 million and transfers of early retirement 
obligations from the restructuring provisions in the amount of 
€ 2 million as well as service and interest expenses of € 15 mil-
lion. Because of the reduction in the discount rate, pension lia-
bilities increase by € 15 million. The fair value of plan assets has 
increased by € 16 million in the reporting period and is netted 
against the defined benefit liabilities as at 30 June 2023. Plan 
assets exceed the defined benefit liabilities covered by € 139 
million (31 December 2022: € 141 million). This is reported as 
capitalised plan assets under other assets. 

Provisions for restructuring decreased compared to 31 De-
cember 2022 due to transfers to liabilities and the utilisation of 
the current restructuring programme. 

Further information on the Bank’s legal risks is provided in 
the risk report under "Non-Financial Risk". 
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34. Other liabilities 

Other liabilities 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Security deposits 
for assumption of debts 

 48  47 

Liabilities for outstanding invoices  45  50 

Other tax liabilities  20  5 

Personnel liabilities  12  12 

Deferred income  1  2 

Liabilities from leases (lessee)  13  14 

Liabilities for restructuring  4  7 

Other  12  13 

Total  155  150 

       

The collateral provided for liabilities assumed serves to hedge 
leasing transactions of our customers with third parties. 

€ 148 Million  of the liabilities reported here relate to finan-
cial instruments (31 December 2022: € 118 Million ). 

 

 
 

 

35. Subordinated capital 

Subordinated capital 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Subordinated debt  923  930 

Total  923  930 
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36. Equity 

Equity 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Share capital  302  302 

Capital reserve  1,531  1,529 

Retained earnings  1,838  2,915 

thereof: cumulative gains and 
losses arising from the revaluation 
of net defined benefit liabilities 
recognised in OCI 

 -6  -5 

thereof: deferred taxes on cumu-
lative gains and losses arising from 
the revaluation of net defined 
benefit liabilities recognised in 
OCI 

 2  2 

Revaluation reserve  -27  -6 

thereof: credit risk-induced 
changes in the value of liabilities 
designated at fair value (after 
taxes) 

 2  2 

thereof: valuation results relating 
to financial assets classified as 
FVOCI as a mandatory require-
ment (after taxes) 

 -29  -8 

Currency conversion reserve  -  - 

Group net result  178  425 

Total before non-controlling inter-
ests 

3.822 5,165 

Non-controlling interests 1 - 

Total  3,823  5,165 

 

Changes in ordinary shares 

(Number of shares) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Number at the beginning of the year  301,822,453  301,822,453 

Number at the end of the year  301,822,453  301,822,453 

 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 18 April 2023, a 
dividend of € 1,500,057,591.41 or € 4.97 per no-par share was 
approved for distribution. The distribution was made from re-
tained earnings. 
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Segment reporting 

37. Segment reporting 

Segment report  
January - June 2023 
 
(€ m/%) 

Real 
Estate 

Shipping 
Project

Finance 
Corporates 

Lending 
Units 

Treasury & 
Group 

Functions 

Reconcilia-
tion 

Group
(income 

statement/
balance 

sheet) 

Net interest income 89 75 40 81 285 6 1 292 

Net commission income 2 5 2 2 11 1 -1 11 

Other income1) 3 7 3 13 26 - 46 72 

Total income 94 87 45 96 322 7 46 375 

Loan loss provisions (expected loss) -5 -2 -4 -6 -17 - 19 22) 

Administrative expenses &  
regulatory costs -46 -44 -23 -41 -154 -24 2 -176 

Other operating result - - - - - 29 - 29 

Result from restructuring and transfor-
mation - - - - - - - - 

Net income before taxes 43 41 18 49 151 12 67 230 

Income tax -9 -9 -4 -10 -32 -3 -17 -52 

Earnings after taxes 34 32 14 39 119 9 50 178 

NIM - Net interest margin (%) 2.27 4.99 2.37 3.24 2.97 0.05 - 1.82 

Cost/income ratio (CIR - %) 43 48 48 39 44 44 - 39 

RoE after taxes (%) 11.0 17.2 9.4 13.3 12.6 8.3 - 16.8 

Loan loss provisions (expected loss - %) 0.14 0.15 0.22 0.25 0.18 - - -0.012) 

Average segment assets (€ bn) 7.8 3.0 3.4 4.8 19.0 12.2 - 31.2 

Average 
risk weighted assets (€ bn) 4.8 2.9 2.3 4.5 14.5 1.8 - 16.3 

Loan loss provisions (income statement) -41 8 25 9 1 1 - 2 

         

30 June 2023 
 
(€ bn/%) 

Real 
Estate Shipping 

Project
Finance Corporates 

Lending 
Units 

Treasury & 
Group 

Functions 
Reconcilia-

tion 

Group
(income 

statement/
balance 

sheet) 

Segment assets  7.5  2.9  3.5  5.1  19.0  11.8  -  30.8 

Risk Weighted Assets (RWA)  4.9  2.8  2.5  4.6  14.8  1.7  -  16.5 

Loan loss provisions (balance sheet)  0.1  -  0.1  0.1  0.3  -  -  0.3 

NPE ratio (%)  3.1  0.3  3.2  1.8  2.3  -  -  1.5 

1) Other income includes the other results items within the total income (IFRS). 

2)  Loan loss provisions in accordance with IFRS at Group level. 
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January - June 2022 
 
(€ m/%) 

Real 
Estate Shipping 

Project
Finance Corporates 

Lending
Units 

Treasury & 
Group 

Functions 

Reconcilia-
tion 

Group
(income 

statement/
balance 

sheet) 

Net interest income 89 67 29 61 246 13 1 260 

Net commission income 3 6 4 5 18 - - 18 

Other income1) -2 9 -3 -20 -16 164 -123 25 

Total income 90 82 30 46 248 177 -122 303 

Loan loss provisions (expected loss) -4 -3 -3 -11 -21 - 52 312) 

Administrative expenses & regulatory 
costs -39 -35 -15 -24 -113 -66 - -179 

Other operating result - - - - - 40 - 40 

Result from restructuring and transfor-
mation - - - - - -17 - -17 

Net income before taxes 47 44 12 11 114 134 -70 178 

Income tax -10 -9 -3 -2 -24 -28 81 29 

Earnings after taxes 37 35 9 9 90 106 11 207 

NIM - Net interest margin (%) 2.25 3.49 1.60 3.03 2.53 0.09 - 1.64 

Cost/income ratio (CIR - %) 38 39 42 46 41 23 - 44 

RoE after taxes (%) 11.8 18.2 6.4 3.6 10.0 101.1 - 20.5 

Loan loss provisions (expected loss - %) 0.10 0.16 0.17 0.54 0.22 - - -0.202) 

Average segment assets (€ bn) 7.9 3.8 3.7 4.0 19.4 11.2 - 30.6 

Average risk weighted assets (€ bn) 4.8 3.0 2.3 3.8 13.9 1.6 - 15.5 

Loan loss provisions (income statement) 43 4 -15 -3 29 1 1 31 

31 December 2022 
 
(€ bn/%) 

Real 
Estate Shipping 

Project
Finance Corporates 

Lending
Units 

Treasury & 
Group 

Functions 
Reconcilia-

tion 

Group
(income 

statement/
balance 

sheet) 

Segment assets  8.1  3.5  3.4  4.6  19.6  12.2  -  31.8 

Risk Weighted Assets (RWA)  4.8  2.9  2.1  4.0  13.8  1.6  -  15.4 

Loan loss provisions (balance sheet)  0.2  -  0.1  0.1  0.4  -  -  0.4 

NPE ratio (%)  2.1  1.0  1.2  2.3  1.8  -  -  1.2 

1) Other income includes the other results items within the total income (IFRS). 

2)  Loan loss provisions in accordance with IFRS at Group level. 

 

General information  
Segment reporting is prepared in accordance with the provi-
sions of IFRS 8. The segments reflect the Bank’s internal or-
ganisational structure, which is based on product and cus-
tomer groups and which corresponds to the delimitation for 
internal Group management purposes. The formation of the-
segments is intended to achieve the greatest possible homo-
geneity of customer groups with regard to a focused loan fi-
nancing product range as well as other products and services.  

Total income reported for the segments was exclusively 
generated with customer transactions. Geographical infor-
mation and information on income with external clients for 
each product and service is not collected for management re-
porting purposes due to a lack of management relevance and 
disproportionately high costs, which means that a disclosure in 
accordance with IFRS 8.32 and 8.33 is not required. 

Segment structure 
In line with the responsibilities of the Chief Investment Officer 
(CIO) on the Management Board, the segment structure bun-
dles all market-related units in the four segments “Real Es-
tate”, “Shipping”, “Project Finance” and “Corporates”. These 
four market-related segments are additional presented to-
gether as “lending units”. Main focus of the market-related 
segments’ business activities is on offering financing solutions 
in the lending business. The remaining segment “Treasury & 
Group Functions” comprises the capital market activities that 
focus on the management of strategic investments, and the 
Treasury function as well as the remaining staff and service 
functions. The capital market activities comprise the manage-
ment of the portfolios in the bank book (liquidity buffer, cover 
pools, strategic investment portfolio and management of pen-
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sion liabilities) as well as the bank-wide asset liability manage-
ment (ALM) and the management of the cash position. The fi-
nancing business with institutional clients as well as the bank-
wide syndication activities are also reported in the “Treasury & 
Group Functions” segment.  

The shift of a small portfolio of highly liquid CLOs (€ 0.2 
billion as at 30 June 2022) from the Treasury & Group Func-
tions segment to the Corporates segment led to an adjust-
ment of the previous year’s figures. 

The contributions to operating earnings from the positions 
of the ALM book in the Treasury & Group Functions segment 
are allocated to the market-related segments. The investment 
and financing income, the other effects from equity and the 
transformation contribution are allocated to the market-re-
lated segments according to the liquidity costs that have been 
offset. 

Segment reporting methodology  
In order to increase the level of transparency, the segment 

results in the areas of total income, loan loss provisions, adminis-
trative expenses and capital backing (average equity backing) 
are reported in line with the internal performance measurement 
structure. Net interest income for the purpose of internal re-
porting to management is calculated in accordance with Fund 
Transfer Pricing (FTP). In addition, the net interest margin (NIM) 
is reported as a basis for the assessment of the net interest in-
come. The NIM puts the operating net interest income in rela-
tion to the average segment assets. The operating net interest 
income results from the adjustment of the net interest income 
for non-sustainable one-off effects. 

In accordance with IFRS 8.28, the corresponding reconcilia-
tion effects on the individual items of the Group statement of in-
come (IFRS) are shown separately under the “Reconciliation” 
item and explained in greater detail below.   

Reconciliation effects in accordance with IFRS 8.28 
The reconciliation effects in total income mainly consist of 

other income. Other income of the segments comprises the 
other income items in total income (IFRS) and also includes the 
OCI result. 

With the change in IFRS accounting from 2023 (see Note 3: 
Changes to prior-year figures), current payments from interest 
rate derivatives are reported in the result from financial instru-
ments categorised as FVPL together with the corresponding 
valuation effects (previously reported in the net interest in-
come). This eliminates the previous mismatch and the resulting 
reconciliation effect in net interest income and other income in 
the segment report. In addition, the foreign currency effects 
from loan loss provisions are reported in the result from financial 
instruments categorised as FVPL from 2023 (previously re-
ported under loan loss provisions in the income statement). The 
prior-year figures were also adjusted in the segment report. 

The OCI results of € -22 million included in the other in-
come of the segments (prior-year period: € 158 million), which is 

recognised under equity and not through profit or loss, as stipu-
lated by the IFRS, led to a counter-item in the reconciliation. 
Additional reconciliation effects in the Result from financial in-
struments categorised as FVPL item and in the result from 
hedging include differences resulting from the presentation of 
capital market transactions between the internal management 
system and IFRS accounting, as well as from the hedging of cer-
tain financial instruments that can be included in the portfolio 
fair value hedge in full in the internal recognition of the interest 
rate hedge transaction, whereas under the IFRS, they cannot, or 
can only partly, be included in the portfolio fair value hedge.  

The risk costs (expected loss) at segment level posted in the 
segment report in accordance with the internal performance 
measurement structure are based on the expected loss of the 
transactions (through-the-cycle view). The reconciliation to 
loan loss provisions in accordance with the consolidated income 
statement under IFRS is provided in the Reconciliation item.  

In the market-related segments, administrative expenses 
and regulatory costs are reported based on the regulatory costs 
allocated in the internal performance measurement (expenses 
for regulatory affairs, deposit guarantee fund and banking asso-
ciations) and the standard processing costs applied (for admin-
istrative expenses). The difference to the administrative ex-
penses at Group level is reported in the Treasury & Group Func-
tions segment. 

The income taxes of the segments are calculated using a 
planned tax rate of 21.0% on the respective net income before 
taxes. The difference to actual income taxes at Group level is re-
ported in the Reconciliation item.  

The return on equity (RoE after taxes) is based on a normal-
ised equity backing (average risk weighted assets (RWA) and 
normalised CET1 ratio of 13%). The allocation of RWA to the in-
dividual segments also comprises the RWA for operational risks 
and the RWA for the asset liability management (ALM) hold-
ings. As tax loss carryforwards have been fully utilised and the 
transition to the planning tax rate of 21.0% (previously: minimum 
tax rate of 12.8%) has been implemented, no RWA for deferred 
taxes are allocated from 2023 onwards. The previous year’s fig-
ures have been adjusted accordingly. 

Definitions  
For the definition of the KPIs CIR and NPE ratio, please refer 
to the explanations provided in the Group management report 
(Chapter “Basis of the Group”, Section “Management sys-
tem”).  

The loan loss provisions (income statement) shown (as ad-
ditional information) in the tables above represent the loan 
loss provisions of the segments according to the consolidated 
income statement under IFRS. The risk costs (expected loss - 
%) are calculated based on the quotient of risk costs (expected 
loss) and the average segment assets. 
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Disclosures on financial instruments 

38. Information on the development of loan loss provisions and the carrying amounts of financial 

instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss 

The following table shows the development of the gross carry-
ing amounts of financial instruments not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss in the balance sheet items Loans and ad-
vances to banks, Loans and advances to customers, Financial 
investments, Assets held for sale and for the off-balance sheet 
business. 

The development in loan loss provisions for financial instru-
ments not measured at fair value through profit or loss is also 
shown separately by balance sheet item. 

 
 
 
 

Development in gross carrying amounts for loans and advances to banks 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 

 

Insignificant  
increase in  

the loan  
default risk  
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired 
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased  
or originated  

credit-impaired  
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2023  777  -  -  -  777 

thereof AC  768  -  -  -  768 

thereof FVOCI  9  -  -  -  9 

Transfer to 12M ECL  2  -2  -  -  - 

thereof AC  2  -2  -  -  - 

Other changes  48  2  -  -  50 

thereof AC  48  2  -  -  50 

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2023  827  -  -  -  827 

thereof AC  818  -  -  -  818 

thereof FVOCI  9  -  -  -  9 

      

Development in gross carrying amounts for loans and advances to banks 

(€ m) 31.12.2022 

 

Insignificant  
increase in  

the loan  
default risk  
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired 
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased  
or originated  

credit-impaired  
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2022  1,236  -  -  -  1,236 

thereof AC  1,218  -  -  -  1,218 

thereof FVOCI  18  -  -  -  18 

Other changes  -459  -  -  -  -459 

thereof AC  -450  -  -  -  -450 

thereof FVOCI  -9  -  -  -  -9 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 
2022 

 777  -  -  -  777 

thereof AC  768  -  -  -  768 

thereof FVOCI  9  -  -  -  9 
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Development in loan loss provisions for loans and advances to banks

As in the same period of the previous year, no significant loan 
loss provisions for loans and advances to banks were formed in 
the reporting period, 

 
 

 

Development of gross carrying amounts for loans and advances to customers 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 

 Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired  
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased 
or originated 

credit-impaired 
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2023  17,436  1,577  378  9  19,400 

thereof AC  16,702  1,573  378  9  18,662 

thereof FVOCI  701  4  -  -  705 

thereof receivables under finance 
leases 

 33  -  -  -  33 

Transfer to LECL Stage 2  -942  942  -  -  - 

thereof AC  -942  942  -  -  - 

Transfer to LECL Stage 3  -150  -101  251  -  - 

thereof AC  -150  -101  251  -  - 

Transfer to 12M ECL  100  -100  -  -  - 

thereof AC  100  -100  -  -  - 

Other changes  -450  -597  -139  -1  -1,187 

thereof AC  -443  -596  -139  -1  -1,179 

thereof FVOCI  -3  -1  -  -  -4 

thereof leasing  -4  -  -  -  -4 

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2023  15,994  1,721  490  8  18,213 

thereof AC  15,267  1,718  490  8  17,483 

thereof FVOCI  698  3  -  -  701 

thereof receivables under finance 
leases 

 29  -  -  -  29 
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Development of gross carrying amounts for loans and advances to customers 

(€ m) 31.12.2022 

 Insignificant  
increase in  

the loan  
default risk  
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired 
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased  
or originated  

credit-impaired  
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2022  17,300  2,169  425  15  19,909 

thereof AC  16,354  2,164  425  15  18,958 

thereof FVOCI  910  5  -  -  915 

thereof receivables under finance 
leases 

 36  -  -  -  36 

Transfer to LECL Stage 2  -495  500  -4  -  1 

thereof AC  -495  500  -4   1 

Transfer to LECL Stage 3  -19  -15  34  -  - 

thereof AC  -19  -15  34   - 

Transfer to 12M ECL  774  -774  -  -  - 

thereof AC  774  -774  -   - 

Other changes  -124  -303  -77  -6  -510 

thereof AC  88  -302  -77  -6  -297 

thereof FVOCI  -209  -1  -  -  -210 

thereof receivables under finance 
leases 

 -3  -  -  -  -3 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 
2022 

 17,436  1,577  378  9  19,400 

thereof AC  16,702  1,573  378  9  18,662 

thereof FVOCI  701  4  -  -  705 

thereof receivables under finance 
leases 

 33  -  -  -  33 

 

Development of loan loss provisions for loans and advances to customers 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 

 Insignificant  
increase in  

the loan  
default risk  
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired 
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased  
or originated  

credit-impaired  
(POCI) Total 

Loan loss provisions as at 1 January 2023  75  101  232  6  414 

Transfer to LECL Stage 2  -8  8  -  –  - 

Transfer to LECL Stage 3  -1  -8  9  –  - 

Transfer to 12M ECL  28  -28  -  –  - 

Reversals due to disposals, repayments 
and other reductions 

 -61  -75  -24  –  -160 

Additions due to new additions and other 
increases 

 48  86  30  1  165 

Utilisation  -  -  -107  –  -107 

Other changes incl. change is exchange 
rate 

 -  -  6  -  6 

Loan loss provisions as at 30 June 2023  81  84  146  7  318 
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Development of loan loss provisions for loans and advances to customers 

(€ m) 31.12.2022 

 Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired  
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased 
or originated 

credit-impaired 
(POCI) Total 

Loan loss provisions as at 1 January 2022  68  169  204  5  446 

Transfer to LECL Stage 2  -3  3  -  –  - 

Transfer to LECL Stage 3  -  -6  6  –  - 

Transfer to 12M ECL  54  -54  -  –  - 

Reversals due to disposals, repayments 
and other reductions 

 -119  -73  -25  – 1  -218 

Additions due to new additions and other 
increases 

 74  63  73  2  212 

Utilisation  -  -  -30  –  -30 

Other changes incl. change in exchange 
rate 

 1  -1  4  -  4 

Loan loss provisions as at 31 December 
2022 

 75  101  232  6  414 

 

As in the prior-year period, changes in loans and advances to 
customers in the reporting period relate only to transactions 
classified as AC. 

 
 

 

Development of gross carrying amounts for financial investments 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 

 Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired  
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased 
or originated 

credit-impaired 
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2023  4,986  -  -  -  4,986 

thereof AC  80  -  -  -  80 

thereof FVOCI  4,906  -  -  -  4,906 

Other changes  1,771  -  -  -  1,771 

thereof FVOCI  1,771  -  -  -  1,771 

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2023  6,757  -  -  -  6,757 

thereof AC  80  -  -  -  80 

thereof FVOCI  6,677  -  -  -  6,677 
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Development of gross carrying amounts for financial investments 

(€ m) 31.12.2022 

 Insignificant  
increase in  

the loan  
default risk  
(12M ECL) 

Significant increase 
in the loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-impaired 
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans purchased  
or originated  

credit-impaired  
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2022  4,049  16  -  -  4,065 

thereof AC  91  -  -  -  91 

thereof FVOCI  3,958  16  -  -  3,974 

Transfer to 12M ECL  361  -361  -  -  - 

thereof FVOCI 
 

 361  -361  -  -  - 

Transfer to LECL Stage 2  -31  31  -  -  - 

thereof FVOCI 
 

 -31  31  -  -  - 

Other changes  932  -11  -  -  921 

thereof AC  -11  -  -  -  -11 

thereof FVOCI  943  -11  -  -  932 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 
2022 

 4,9861  -1  -  -  4,986 

thereof AC  80  -  -  -  80 

thereof FVOCI  4,906  -  -  -  4,906 

1) The previous year’s amount was adjusted.  

 

Development in loan loss provisions for financial investments

Like in the previous year, there were no significant loan loss pro-
visions for financial investments in the period under review. 

 

Development in gross carrying amounts of non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 

 

Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 
(12M ECL) 

Significant in-
crease 

in the loan 
default risk 

(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-im-
paired 

(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans pur-
chased  

or originated  
credit-im-

paired  
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2023  -  -  -  -  - 

Other changes  11  -  -  -  11 

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2023  11  -  -  -  11 
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Development in gross carrying amounts of non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups 

(€ m) 31.12.2022 

 

Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 
(12M ECL) 

Significant in-
crease 

in the loan 
default risk 

(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-im-
paired  

(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans pur-
chased 

or originated 
credit-im-

paired 
(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2022  10  –  –  –  10 

Other changes  – 10  –  –  –  – 10 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  –  –  –  –  – 

 

In the reporting period as well as in the prior-year period, the 
changes in non-current assets and disposal groups held for 
sale relate only to transactions classified as AC. 

 
 

 

 

Carrying amounts off-balance-sheet business 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 

 

Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 
(12M ECL) 

Significant in-
crease 

in the loan 
default risk 

(LECL Stage 2) 
Credit-impaired  

(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans pur-
chased 

or originated 
credit-impaired 

(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2023  3,538  91  26  -  3,655 

Transfer to 12M ECL  1  -1  -  -  - 

Other changes  276  375  -1  -  650 

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2023  3,815  465  25  -  4,305 

 

Carrying amounts off-balance-sheet business 

(€ m) 31.12.2022 

 

Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 
(12M ECL) 

Significant in-
crease 

in the loan 
default risk 

(LECL Stage 2) 
Credit-impaired  

(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans pur-
chased 

or originated 
credit-impaired 

(POCI) Total 

Carrying amount as at 01 January 2022  3,860  222  64  -  4,146 

Transfer to LECL Stage 2  -11  11  -  -  - 

Other changes  -321  -132  -38  -  -491 

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  3,5381  911  26  -  3,655 

1) The previous year’s amount was adjusted. 
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Development in loan loss provisions for off-balance sheet business 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 

 

Insignificant 
increase in 

the loan 
default risk 

(12-month - 
ECL) 

Significant in-
crease 

in the loan 
default risk 

(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-im-
paired 

(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans pur-
chased  

or originated  
credit-im-

paired  
(POCI) Total 

Loan loss provisions as at 1 January 2023  2  1  31  –  34 

Transfer to LECL Stage 2  -1  1  -  –  - 

Reversals due to disposals and other reductions  -2  -  -3  –  -5 

Additions due to new additions and other increases  3  2  -  –  5 

Loan loss provisions as at 30 June 2023  2  4  28  -  34 

      

Development in loan loss provisions for off-balance sheet business 

(€ m) 31.12.2022 

 

Insignificant 
increase in 

loan default 
risk (12M ECL) 

Significant in-
crease in loan 

default risk 
(LECL Stage 2) 

Credit-im-
paired 

(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans pur-
chased  

or originated  
credit-im-

paired  
(POCI) Total 

Loan loss provisions as at 1 January 2022  2  1  41  -  44 

Transfer to 12M ECL  1  -1  -  -  - 

Reversals due to disposals and other reductions  -3  -4  -11  -  -18 

Additions due to new additions and other increases  2  5  1  -  8 

Loan loss provisions as at 31 December 2022  2  1  31  -  34 
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39. Disclosure of fair value in accordance with IFRS 7 and IFRS 13  

I. Determination of Fair Values  

Under IFRS 13, the fair value represents the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the meas-
urement date. The fair value of financial instruments is deter-
mined on the basis of the listed price on an active market 
(mark-to-market), or if this is not possible on the basis of rec-
ognised valuation techniques and models (mark-to-matrix or 
mark-to-model). Irrespective of whether and to what extent 
the inputs applied in determining the fair value are observable 
in the market, financial instruments are assigned to one of the 
three fair value hierarchy levels as defined in IFRS 13. 

Fair value can be determined using the mark-to-market 
method if a market price is available at which a transaction 
could be entered into or has been entered into for an identical 
financial instrument as at the measurement date.   

This is generally the case for exchange-traded shares that 
are traded on liquid markets. Such an unadjusted market price 
at the measurement date for the identical instrument is classi-
fied as Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy under IFRS 13. 

If such a market price is not available for the identical in-
strument, the measurement is carried out using valuation 
techniques or models. 

VALUATION TECHNIQUES AND MODELS 

When using valuation techniques, the market approach is the 
preferable method for determining the fair value. The fair 
value is determined to the extent possible on the basis of 
prices that come from transactions executed on the measure-
ment date. If the fair value cannot be determined from market 
or transaction prices for the identical financial instrument, 
prices of comparable financial instruments or indices, which 
are representative for the financial instrument, are used as an 
alternative and adjusted where necessary (mark-to-matrix 
method). The fair value is assigned to Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy if the adjustment to the prices or parameters observ-
able in the market is not material. However, if the adjustment is 
material and affects unobservable inputs, the fair value is as-
signed to Level 3. 

The fair value is determined based on the income ap-
proach using a valuation model if the market approach using

 the mark-to-market or mark-to-matrix method is not possible 
or is not of sufficient quality. Where available, inputs observa-
ble in the market as well as quality assured market data from 
appropriate pricing agencies or also validated prices from mar-
ket partners (arrangers) are also used as a primary source for 
model valuations. Fair values determined by means of model 
valuations, for which only observable inputs are used or which 
are only based to an insignificant extent on unobservable in-
puts, are assigned to Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. If the 
fair values determined using valuation models are based to a 
significant extent on unobservable inputs, they are assigned to 
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair value of receivables ad liabilities measured at 
amortised cost is mainly determined by discounting the con-
tractual future cash flows of the financial instruments. In the 
case of receivables with a default rating, the fair values are de-
termined based on the still to be expected future cash flows. 

VALUE ADJUSTMENTS 

If the value of a financial instrument measured at fair value as 
determined by a valuation technique or model does not take 
adequate account of factors such as bid-offer spreads or clos-
ing costs, liquidity, model risks, parameter uncertainties and 
credit and/or counterparty default risks, the Bank makes cor-
responding valuation adjustments, which a purchaser of simi-
lar positions would also take into account. The methods used 
make partial use of parameters that are not observable on the 
market in the form of estimates. 

Funding costs and benefits arise on the hedging of the 
risks relating to an uncollateralised OTC derivative with a col-
lateralised OTC derivative. A funding valuation adjustment is 
determined as part of the method used to determine fair val-
ues for derivatives and is included in the fair value of the un-
collateralised OTC derivative for funding costs/benefits aris-
ing on the provision or receipt of collateral due to the hedging 
asymmetry for derivatives. 

In determining value adjustments for model risks and pa-
rameter uncertainties, hedging relationships (back-to-back 
hedges) and corresponding risk-compensating effects have 
been taken into account.   
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The value adjustment for the credit risk is determined for 
OTC derivatives at the level of a group of financial instruments 
of a business partner (so-called portfolio-based valuation ad-
justment). This is permitted if the conditions stipulated in IFRS 
13.49 for a portfolio-based measurement are met. 

The portfolio-based valuation adjustment for the credit 
risk is allocated to assets or liabilities in proportion to the fair 
value of the asset or liability respectively before the valuation 
adjustment is taken into account. Allocation only takes place 
to the assets or liabilities depending on whether there is an ex-
cess of assets or liabilities (so-called “relative fair value ap-
proach”, net approach). 

DAY ONE PROFIT AND LOSS 

The use of a valuation model may give rise to differences be-
tween the transaction price and the fair value determined us-
ing such a valuation model on the initial recognition date. If 
the relevant market for the fair value calculation differs from 
the market in which the transaction was contracted and the 
valuation model is based on significant non-observable pa-
rameters, these differences (so-called day one profits and 
losses) are deferred as day one profit and loss reserves. This re-
serve is reversed over the term. Implicitly, the time factor is 
thereby considered significant to the difference accrued and is 
taken into account accordingly, and it is assumed that this is 
also the procedure that would be followed by a third-party 
market participant in its pricing. 

MEASUREMENT PROCESSES 

The Bank has implemented various processes and controls for 
the purpose of determining the fair values of financial instru-
ments and has embedded principles regarding the use of 
measurement methods in a guideline in the written rules of 
procedures. These measures also ensure that financial instru-
ments to be assigned to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are 
measured in accordance with IFRS 13. The Risk Control divi-
sion, which is independent from the Bank’s market depart-
ments, is responsible for ensuring that the measurement 
methods applied are in accordance with external accounting 
requirements. Information available on the methods applied 
by other market participants is also taken into account in this 
regard. 

Fair values of financial instruments assigned to Level 3 are 
determined again on a periodic basis – but at least on a 
monthly basis. Any changes in value that have occurred since 
the previous period are reviewed for plausibility. An internal 
price validation process draws on market data such as transac-
tion prices or specific valuation parameters. If there are mate-
rial differences between the fair values determined by the 
Bank and prices offered by counterparties, the valuation 
model used is subjected to an ad hoc validation process. 

II. Fair values of financial instruments  

Below please find the fair values of the financial assets and lia-
bilities including the relevant class of financial instrument and 
a comparison with the carrying amounts.   
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Fair values of financial instruments  

Assets 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023 

Carrying 
amount Fair Value 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

FVOCI Mandatory  7,386  7,386  3,482  2,889  1,015 

Loans and advances to banks  9  9  -  9  - 

Loans and advances to customers  701  701  -  701  - 

Financial investments  6,676  6,676  3,482  2,179  1,015 

FVPL Designated  87  87  35  52  - 

Financial investments  87  87  35  52  - 

FVPL Held For Trading  228  228  -  186  42 

Trading assets  228  228  -  186  42 

FVPL Other  685  685  311  154  220 

Loans and advances to customers  175  175  -  1  174 

Financial investments  510  510  311  153  46 

AC assets  21,580  21,388  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Cash reserve  3,353  3,353  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Loans and advances to banks  819  817  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Loans and advances to customers  17,165  16,982  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Financial investments  80  76  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups  11  8  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Other assets  152  152  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

No IFRS 9 category  -105  -105  -  -  - 

Receivables under finance leases  29  29  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge 

 -134  -1341  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Total assets  29,861  29,669  3,828  3,281  1,277 

1) The part of the value adjustments from the portfolio fair value hedge that is attributable to financial investments, loans and advances to banks and loans and advances to 
customers in the FVOCI holding category is recognised at fair value.  
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Fair values of financial instruments  

Assets 

(€ m) 
31.12.2022 

Carrying 
amount Fair Value Level 1 

 
Level 2 Level 3 

FVOCI Mandatory  5,621  5,621  2,848  2,213  560 

Loans and advances to banks  10  10  -  10  - 

Loans and advances to customers  705  705  -  705  - 

Financial investments  4,906  4,906  2,848  1,498  560 

FVPL Designated  83  83  32  51  - 

Financial investments  83  83  32  51  - 

FVPL Held For Trading  441  441  -  315  126 

Trading assets  441  441  -  315  126 

FVPL Other  613  613  248  163  202 

Loans and advances to customers  192  192  -  -  192 

Financial investments  421  421  248  163  10 

AC assets  24,179  24,094  -  10,985  13,109 

Cash reserve  4,974  4,974  -  4,974  - 

Loans and advances to banks  767  765  -  765  - 

Loans and advances to customers  18,247  18,168  -  5,059  13,109 

Financial investments  80  76  -  76  - 

Other assets  111  111  -  111  - 

No IFRS 9 category  -118  -119  -  -  - 

Receivables under finance leases  34  34  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge 

 -152  -1531  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Total assets  30,819  30,733  3,128  13,727  13,997 

1) The part of the value adjustments from the portfolio fair value hedge that is attributable to financial investments, loans and advances to banks and loans and advances to 
customers in the FVOCI holding category is recognised at fair value. The remaining € 1 million pertains to loans and advances in the AC holding category. 

 

The carrying amounts of loans and advances to banks and 
loans and advances to customers classified as AC are shown 

less the reported loan loss provisions, since fair value also re-
flects possible impairments. 
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Fair values of financial instruments  

Liabilities 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023 

Carrying 
amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

FVPL Designated  260  260  -  166  94 

Liabilities to banks  3  3  -  -  3 

Liabilities to customers  117  117  -  35  82 

Securitised liabilities  140  140  -  131  9 

FVPL Held For Trading  311  311  -  267  44 

Trading liabilities  311  311  -  267  44 

AC liabilities  26,132  25,665  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Liabilities to banks  4,434  4,179  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Liabilities to customers  13,338  13,264  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Securitised liabilities  7,289  7,086  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Other liabilities  148  148  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Subordinated capital  923  988  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

No IFRS 9 category  -122  61  -  61  - 

Negative fair value of hedging derivatives  61  61  -  61  - 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge 

 -183  -  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Total liabilities  26,581  26,297  –  494  138 

 

Fair values of financial instruments  

Liabilities 

(€ m) 
31.12.2022 

Carrying 
amount Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

FVPL Designated  268  268  -  167  101 

Liabilities to banks  3  3  -  -  3 

Liabilities to customers  123  123  -  35  88 

Securitised liabilities  142  142  -  132  10 

FVPL Held For Trading  335  335  -  280  55 

Trading liabilities  335  335  -  280  55 

AC liabilities  25,695  25,042  -  24,255  787 

Liabilities to banks  4,603  4,290  -  4,290  - 

Liabilities to customers  13,120  13,093  -  13,067  26 

Securitised liabilities  6,923  6,556  -  5,795  761 

Other liabilities  118  118  -  118  - 

Subordinated capital  931  985  -  985  - 

No IFRS 9 category  -127  65  -  65  - 

Negative fair value of hedging derivatives  65  65  -  65  - 

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge 

 -192  -  n.r.  n.r.  n.r. 

Total liabilities  26,171  25,710  -  24,767  943 
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In the period under review, financial instruments measured at fair 
value were transferred from one hierarchy level to another. 
These transfers are shown below, together with the carrying 

amounts at the time of transfer for each class of financial in-
struments. 

 
 

Transfer, assets 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023 

Transfer  
to Level 1 

Transfer from 
Level 1 

Transfer 
to Level 2 

Transfer from 
Level 2 

Transfer  
to Level 3 

Transfer from 
Level 3 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  -  -  6  -  -  -6 

Financial investments       

thereof FVOCI Mandatory  104  -16  16  -104  -  - 

thereof FVPL Other  42  -31  31  -42  -  - 

Total  146  -47  53  -146  -  -6 

       

Transfer, assets 

(€ m) 
31.12.2022 

Transfer  
to Level 1 

Transfer from 
Level 1 

Transfer 
to Level 2 

Transfer from 
Level 2 

Transfer  
to Level 3 

Transfer from 
Level 3 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  -  -  1  -2  2  -1 

Financial investments  -  -  -  -  -  - 

thereof FVOCI Mandatory  2,268  -1,209  1,209  -2,268  -  - 

thereof FVPL Designated  2  -3  3  -2  -  - 

thereof FVPL Other  172  -2  50  -172  -  -48 

Total  2,442  -1,214  1,263  -2,444  2  -49 
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Transfer, liabilities 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023 

Transfer 
to Level 1 

Transfer from 
Level 1 

Transfer 
to Level 2 

Transfer from 
Level 2 

Transfer 
to Level 3 

Transfer from 
Level 3 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  -  -  8  -  -  -8 

Total  -  -  8  -  -  -8 

       

Transfer, liabilities 

(€ m) 
31.12.2022 

Transfer 
to Level 1 

Transfer from 
Level 1 

Transfer 
to Level 2 

Transfer from 
Level 2 

Transfer 
to Level 3 

Transfer from 
Level 3 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  -  -  -  -3  3  - 

Total  -  -  -  -3  3  - 

        

IFRS 13 specifys the guidlenes to be applied in determining the 
fair value which are further specified by IDW RS HFA 47. They 
also include the guidelines for assigning input factors to the 
fair value hierarchy levels. Hamburg Commercial Bank uses 
prices obtained from pricing services such as Bloomberg or 
Reuters to measure interest-bearing securities that are com-
monly traded on the OTC market. Average prices determined 
on the basis of binding offers or transaction-based prices are 
Level 2 input factors within the meaning of IFRS 13 and IDW 

RS HFA 47. Interest-bearing securities were accordingly trans-
ferred from Level 1 to Level 2 or vice versa in the reporting pe-
riod – depending on the prices used for measurement. The fol-
lowing shows the reconciliation for all assets and liabilities rec-
ognised at fair value and assigned to Level 3 in the fair value hi-
erarchy. The data is presented from the start to the end of the 
period. The table takes into account all movements of assets 
and liabilities that were or are allocated to Level 3 during the 
reporting period.   
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RECONCILIATION, ASSETS 

(€ m)  Change in balance affecting income Changes in volume 

30.06.2023 1 January 2023 

Realised
net income

(income state-
ment) OCI reserve Purchases Sales 

Balance sheet item/category/  
instrument type 

     

Loans and advances to customers      

thereof FVPL Other  192  -4  -  -  -10 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  126  -2  -  -  -5 

Financial investments      

thereof FVOCI Mandatory  560  6  3  450  - 

thereof FVPL Other  10  -  -  36  - 

Total  888  -1  3  486  -15 

 

RECONCILIATION, ASSETS 

(€ m)  
Change in balance affecting in-

come Changes in volume 

31.12.2022 1 January 2022 

Realised
net income

(income state-
ment) OCI reserve Purchases Sales 

Balance sheet item/category/  
instrument type 

     

Loans and advances to customers      

thereof FVPL Other  291  -14  -  -  -52 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  119  -16  -  37  - 

Financial investments      

thereof FVOCI Mandatory  242  2  -11  343  - 

thereof FVPL Other  59  -2  -  1  - 

Total  711  -301  -11  381  -52 

1) Of the net income in the income statement recognised in profit or loss, € -32 million relate to the result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL and € 2 million to the 
net interest result. 
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 Changes in volume Transfers     

 Issues Settlements From Level 3 To Level 3 

Transfer/ 
recategorisa-

tion 
Exchange rate  

changes 30.06.2023 

Net income 
from assets 

held as at 
30 June 2023 

 
 

        

         

  -  -2  -  -  -  -2  174  1 

  -  -71  -6  -  -  -  42  -1 

         

  -  -  -  -  -  -4  1,015  6 

  -  -  -  -  -  -  46  -1 

  -  -73  -6  -  -  -6  1,277  5 

 

 

 Changes in volume 
Transfers 

     

 Issues Settlements From Level 3 To Level 3 

Transfer/ 
recategorisa-

tion 
Exchange rate  

changes 31.12.2022 

Net income 
from assets 

held as at 
31 December 2022 

 
 

        

         

  -  -42  -  -  -  9  192  -19 

  -  -14  -1  2  -1  -  126  -15 

         

  -  -23  -  -  -  7  560  - 

  -  -  -48  -  -  -  10  - 

  -  -79  -49  2  -1  16  888  -34 
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RECONCILIATION, LIABILITIES 

(€ m)  Change in balance affecting income Changes in volume 

30.06.2023 1 January 2023 

Realised
net income

(income state-
ment) 

Net income not 
recognised in profit 

or loss Purchases Sales 

Balance sheet item/category/  
instrument type 

     

Liabilities to banks      

FVPL Designated  3  -  -  -  - 

Liabilities to customers      

FVPL Designated  88  -1  -  -  - 

Securitised liabilities      

FVPL Designated  10  -1  -  -  - 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  55  -1  -  -  - 

Total  156  -31  -  -  - 

1) Of the net income in the income statement, € -2 million relates to the result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL and € -1 million to the net interest result. 

 

 

RECONCILIATION, LIABILITIES 

(€ m)  Change in balance affecting income Changes in volume 

31.12.2022 1 January 2022 

Realised
net income

(income state-
ment) 

Net income not 
recognised in profit 

or loss Purchases Sales 

Balance sheet item/category/  
instrument type 

     

Liabilities to banks      

FVPL Designated  15  -2  -  -  -10 

Liabilities to customers      

FVPL Designated  126  -11  -1  -  -26 

Securitised liabilities      

FVPL Designated  12  -2  -  -  - 

Trading assets (FVPL Trading)  56  -9  -  8  - 

Total  209  -241  -1  8  -36 

1) Of the net income in the income statement, € -22 million relate to the result from financial instruments categorised as FVPL and € -2 million to the net interest result. 
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 Changes in volume Transfers     

 
New 

business Settlements From Level 3 To Level 3 

Transfer/ 
recategorisa-

tion 
Exchange rate  

changes 30.06.2023 

Net income 
from assets 

held as at 
30 June 2023 

 
 

        

         

  -  -  -  -  -  -  3  - 

         

  -  -5  -  -  -  -  82  -2 

         

  -  -  -  -  -  -  9  - 

  -  -1  -8  -  -1  -  44  1 

  -  -6  -8  -  -1  -  138  -1 

 

 

 

 

 Changes in volume Transfers     

 
New 

business Settlements From Level 3 To Level 3 

Transfer/ 
recategorisa-

tion 
Exchange rate  

changes 31.12.2022 

Net income 
from assets 

held as at 
31 December 2022 

 
 

        

         

  -  -  -  -  -  -  3  1 

         

  -  -  -  -  -  -  88  11 

         

  -  -  -  -  -  -  10  3 

  -  -2  -  3  -1  -  55  4 

  -  -2  -  3  -1  -  156  19 
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III. Information on significant unobservable inputs 

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION ON SIGNIFICANT 

UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS  

The following overview contains quantitative information on sig-
nificant unobservable inputs  

Fair Value 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023 

Assets Liabilities 
Measurement  
procedures 

Significant  
unobservable  
inputs  
(Level 3) Margin 

Loans and advances to customers FVPL Other  174  DCF method Spread (bps)  72- 1208 

Trading assets/ 
trading liabilities 

FVPL Held For 
Trading 

 42  44 DCF method Spread (bps)  72- 1208 

    Option  
pricing model 

Swaption volatil-
ity 

 8%-22% 

Financial investments FVPL Other  46  Price Spread (bps)  167- 187 

 FVOCI Manda-
tory 

 1,015  Price Spread (bps)  167- 187 

Liabilities to banks FVPL Desig-
nated 

  3 Option  
pricing model 

Swaption volatil-
ity 

 8%-22% 

Liabilities to customers FVPL Desig-
nated 

  82 Option  
pricing model 

Swaption volatil-
ity 

 8%-22% 

Securitised liabilities FVPL Desig-
nated 

  9 Option  
pricing model 

Swaption volatil-
ity 

 8%-22% 

Total   1,277  138    
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Fair Value 

(€ m) 
 
31.12.2022 Assets Liabilities 

Measurement  
procedures 

Significant  
unobservable  
inputs  
(Level 3) Margin 

Loans and advances to customers FVPL Other  192  DCF method Spread (bps)  1- 13 

Trading assets/ 
trading liabilities 

FVPL Held For 
Trading 

 126  55 DCF method Spread  1- 13 

    Option  
pricing model 

Swaption volatil-
ity 

 11%-26% 

     Interest rate  
FX correlation 

 -39%-26% 

    Option  
pricing model 

FX correlation  10%-67% 

Financial investments FVPL Other  10  Price Price  14,610- 34053 

    DCF method Capital costs  9%-10% 

 FVOCI Manda-
tory 

 560  DCF method Spread (bps)  167- 251 

    Price Price  95- 100 

Liabilities to banks FVPL Desig-
nated 

  3 Option  
pricing model 

Interest rate  
FX correlation 

 -39%-26% 

Liabilities to customers FVPL Desig-
nated 

  88 Option  
pricing model 

Interest rate  
FX correlation 

 -39%-26% 

    Price Price  1 

Securitised liabilities FVPL Desig-
nated 

  10 Option  
pricing model 

Interest rate  
FX correlation 

 -39%-26% 

Total   888  156    

 

The correlation and volatility ranges shown for derivatives 
cover derivatives with different types of underlying, tenors and 
exercise prices. 

The overview also includes financial instruments whose 
change in value resulting from inputs unobservable in the mar-
ket does not give rise to any P&L effect due to economic hedg-
ing relationships (at the micro level).  

Changes in value attributable to the respective relevant in-
puts are offset for these financial instruments by the changes 
in value of the hedging derivatives. 

IV. Sensitivities of fair value in relation to unobservable 
input  

The following describes how the fair value of financial instru-
ments can change as a result of fluctuations in significant un-
observable outputs. 

CORRELATION 

Correlation can represent an important unobservable input for 
the measurement of derivatives. It is a measure of the degree 
to which two reference values move in relation to each other. 
Correlation is an important input for the model-based deter-
mination of the fair value of derivatives with more than one un-
derlying. Financial instruments of this type include, for exam-
ple, derivatives with several currencies (“FX basket”) or several 

shares as the underlyings (“equity basket” derivatives). Cur-
rency correlations describe the relationship between changes 
in value of several currencies. Share correlations express the 
relationship between yields on different shares. A high degree 
of correlation means that there is a close relationship between 
the changes in value of the respective underlyings.  

Depending on the type of derivative, changes in correla-
tion can have a positive or negative effect on the fair value. For 
example, in the case of a “best of two” derivative, an increase in 
the correlation between two underlyings results in a decrease 
of the fair value of the derivative from the perspective of the 
purchaser. 

VOLATILITY 

Volatility can also represent an important unobservable input 
for the measurement of options. It expresses how strongly the 
value of the underlying fluctuates over time. The amount of 
volatility depends on the type of the underlying, its tenor and 
the exercise price agreed for the option.  
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The fair value of options typically increases if volatility in-
creases. The sensitivity of the fair value of options to changes 
in volatility can vary considerably. For example, the sensitivity 
of the fair value to changes in volatility is comparatively high, if 
the price of the underlying is close to the agreed exercise price 
(“at-the-money”). By contrast, sensitivity to changes in volatil-
ity is lower, if the price of the underlying is far from the exercise 
price (“(far-out-of-the-money” or “far-in-the-money”). 

PRICE 

Prices can represent an important unobservable input for the 
measurement of financial instruments. These prices represent 
pricing information of third parties within the meaning of 
IFRS 13.93(d) sentence 4, whereby the Bank does not produce 
any quantitative, unobservable input factors for measuring the 
fair value of the respective financial instrument. More detailed 
quantitative information on these input factors is therefore not 
required. The fair value increases, if the price increases, and it 
falls, if the price declines.  

V. Reciprocal effects between unobservable inputs  

Reciprocal effects between unobservable inputs can exit in 
principle. If several unobservable inputs are used in determin-
ing fair value, the range of the possible characteristics for an-
other unobservable input can be restricted or increased by the 
characteristic used for one of the relevant unobservable in-
puts.  

EFFECTS OF UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS  

If the measurement of a financial instrument is based partly on 
unobservable inputs, the fair value determined is the best esti-
mated value in accordance with a discretionary decision made 
by the Bank. However, it remains subjective in that there may 
be alternative input selection options that cannot be refuted 
by observable market data. For many of the financial instru-
ments included (such as derivatives), the unobservable inputs 

only represent a subset of the total inputs required for the 
measurement. The remaining inputs are observable inputs. 

An alternative choice of inputs for the unobservable inputs 
depending on the limits of a possible range would have had 
certain effects on the fair values of the financial instruments in 
question. Advantageous and disadvantageous changes to fair 
value have been determined by recalculating the fair values 
based on possible alternative values to the relevant unobserv-
able inputs. The interest volatilities were changed by +/- 5 %, 
all correlations by +/- 20 % (capped at +/- 100 %), price param-
eters by +/- 2 % and spreads by +/- 50 bp. Overall, this would 
then have had a positive/negative effect on the fair values of 
the financial instruments in question in the amount of € 29 
million (31 December 2022:  € 28 million). Of this amount, € 9 
million was recognised in the income statement as income/ex-
pense and € 20 million in the revaluation reserve (31 Decem-
ber 2022: € 17 million income statement; € 11 million revalua-
tion reserve). 

VI. Day one profit and loss 

The day one profit and loss reserve developed as follows: 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Holdings as at 1 January  4  4 

Additions not recognised in profit or 
loss 

 -  - 

Reversals recognised in profit or loss  -  - 

Holdings as at 30 June/31 Decem-
ber 

 4  4 

      

The day one profit and loss reserve is solely attributable to fi-
nancial instruments classified as FVPL Trading. 

 
 

 
 

 

40. Credit risk analysis of impaired financial assets  

I. Credit quality 

The following table contains information on the credit quality 
of all financial instruments held by the Bank. It shows the 
credit risk exposures by classifying the gross carrying amounts 
of financial assets and the nominal amounts of off-balance

 sheet transactions by credit risk level and assigning them to 
rating categories. This is based on the DSGV master scale, 
which is used in all rating procedures.  

The Bank does not apply the simplified approach under 
IFRS 9.5.5.15, meaning that the disclosure under IFRS 7.35 
M(b)(iii) is not relevant.  
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Credit quality 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023  

1(AAA) to
1(AA+) 

1(AA) to 
1(A–) 2 to 5 6 to 9 

Financial instruments without any significant 
deterioration in credit quality (12M ECL) Cash reserve     

 thereof AC assets  3,353  -  -  - 

 Loans and advances to banks     

 thereof AC assets  422  385  -  11 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  9  -  -  - 

 Loans and advances to customers     

 thereof AC assets  404  3,342  7,231  4,211 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  616  82  -  - 

 Financial investments     

 thereof AC assets  -  40  40  - 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  2,677  3,659  338  4 

 
Non-current assets held for sale 
and disposal groups 

    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  11  - 

 Other assets     

 thereof AC assets  -  152  -  - 

 No holding category     

 
Receivables under finance 
leases 

 -  -  -  - 

 Contingent liabilities  17  118  149  9 

 
Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 37  921  1,629  927 

Financial instruments with a significant deteri-
oration in credit quality (LECL Stage 2) Loans and advances to customers

    

 thereof AC assets  -  58  404  1,006 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  3  - 

 Financial investments     

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  -  - 

 No holding category     

 Contingent liabilities  -  1  2  10 

 
Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 -  2  84  313 

Credit-impaired  
(LECL Stage 3) Loans and advances to customers

    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  -  2 

 No holding category     

 Contingent liabilities  -  -  -  5 

 
Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 -  -  -  - 

Financial instruments that are purchased or 
originated credit-impaired (POCI) Loans and advances to customers

    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  -  - 

Total   7,535  8,760  9,891  6,498 
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Credit quality 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023  10 to 12 13 to 15 16 to 18 

Financial instruments without any significant deterioration in 
credit quality (12M ECL) Cash reserve    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 Loans and advances to banks    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 Loans and advances to customers    

 thereof AC assets  79  2  - 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 Financial investments    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 
Non-current assets held for sale 
and disposal groups 

   

 thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

 Other assets    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

 No holding category    

 
Receivables under finance 
leases 

 -  29  - 

 Contingent liabilities  -  2  - 

 
Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 4  1  - 

Financial instruments with a significant deterioration in credit 
quality (LECL Stage 2) Loans and advances to customers

   

 thereof AC assets  143  106  - 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 Financial investments    

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 No holding category    

 Contingent liabilities  6  2  - 

 
Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 44  2  - 

Credit-impaired  
(LECL Stage 3) Loans and advances to customers

   

 thereof AC assets  -  -  487 

 No holding category    

 Contingent liabilities  -  -  13 

 
Irrevocable loan commit-
ments  -  -  8 

Financial instruments that are purchased or originated credit-
impaired (POCI) Loans and advances to customers    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  8 

Total   276  144  516 
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Credit quality 

(€ m) 
31.12.2022  

1(AAA) to
1(AA+) 

1(AA) to 
1(A–) 2 to 5 6 to 9 

Financial instruments without any significant 
deterioration in credit quality (12M ECL) Cash reserve 

    

 thereof AC assets  4,974  -  -  - 

 Loans and advances to banks     

 thereof AC assets  470  284  5  9 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  10  -  - 

 Loans and advances to customers     

 thereof AC assets  374  4,959  6,934  4,334 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  509  111  82  - 

 Financial investments     

 thereof AC assets  -  -  80  - 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  2,063  2,266  565  14 

 Non-current assets held for sale 
and disposal groups 

    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  -  - 

 Other assets     

 thereof AC assets  -  111  -  - 

 No holding category     

 Receivables under finance 
leases 

 -  33  -  - 

 Contingent liabilities  9  130  169  13 

 Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 42  1,070  1,246  852 

Financial instruments with a significant deteri-
oration in credit quality (LECL Stage 2) Loans and advances to customers

    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  372  899 

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  3  - 

 Financial investments     

 thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  -  - 

 No holding category     

 Contingent liabilities  -  -  3  11 

 Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 -  -  10  43 

Credit-impaired  
(LECL Stage 3) 

Loans and advances to customers     

 thereof AC assets  -  -  -  - 

 No holding category     

 Contingent liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 Irrevocable loan commit-
ments 

 -  -  -  - 

Financial instruments that are purchased or 
originated credit-impaired (POCI) Loans and advances to customers

    

 thereof AC assets  -  -  -  - 

Total   8,441  8,974  9,469  6,175 
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Credit quality 

(€ m) 
31.12.2022   10 to 12  13 to 15  16 to 18 

Financial instruments without any significant deterioration in 
credit quality (12M ECL)  Cash reserve    

  thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

  Loans and advances to banks    

  thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

  thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 Loans and advances to customers    

  thereof AC assets  85  18  - 

  thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

  Financial investments    

  thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

  thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 
 Non-current assets held for sale 
and disposal groups 

   

  thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

  Other assets    

  thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

  No holding category    

 Receivables under finance leases  -  -  - 

  Contingent liabilities  -  -  - 

  Irrevocable loan commitments  -  6  - 

Financial instruments with a significant deterioration in credit 
quality (LECL Stage 2) Loans and advances to customers

   

  thereof AC assets  283  18  - 

  thereof FVOCI Mandatory  -  -  - 

 
 Non-current assets held for sale 
and disposal groups 

   

  thereof AC assets  -  -  - 

  No holding category    

  Contingent liabilities  6  -  - 

  Irrevocable loan commitments  13  5  - 

Credit-impaired  
(LECL Stage 3) Loans and advances to customers

   

  thereof AC assets  -  -  377 

  No holding category    

  Contingent liabilities  -  -  19 

  Irrevocable loan commitments  -  -  8 

Financial instruments that are purchased or originated credit-
impaired (POCI) Loans and advances to customers

   

  thereof AC assets  -  -  8 

Total   387  47  412 
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II. Credit risk exposure 

With the exception of loans and advances to banks and cus-
tomers, the credit risk exposure as at the reporting date corre-
sponds to the carrying amount of financial assets, as presented 
in Note 38 as well as the nominal value of off-balance sheet li-
abilities as presented in Note 42. In the case of loans and ad-
vances to banks and customers, the credit risk exposure corre-
sponds to the carrying amount after loan loss provisions as 
presented in Note 20. The maximum default risk of the loans 
and advances recognised at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVPL) is not reduced by associated credit derivatives. 

Collateral and other risk-reducing agreements are not re-
flected in these amounts. 

III. Collateral received 

A) COLLATERAL VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT 

MINIMISE THE DEFAULT RISK AND ARE NOT SUBJECT TO 

THE IMPAIRMENT PROCEDURE 

The following information quantifies the extent to which the 
collateral retained and other loan collateralisation reduce the 
maximum default risk for financial instruments that are not 
subject to the impairment procedure pursuant to IFRS 9. The 
amount of risk reduction from the value of each form of collat-
eral is indicated for each class of financial instruments. 

The value of collateral received is determined directly on 
the basis of the objective market value, provided that such a 
value can be determined. The reliability of the collateral value 
is ensured by the fact that it is recognised as risk-reducing only 
up to the level of the applicable collateral-specific recovery ra-
tio. 

The following table shows the respective carrying amount 
for each class of financial instrument as well as the collateral 
value that reduces default risk. 

 

Financial assets and associated collateral  

(€ m)  Value of collateral received 

30.06.2023 
Carrying 
amount 

Real estate  
and  

registered liens 

Sureties 
and 

guarantees 
Other collat-

eral 

FVPL Designated     

Financial investments  87  -  -  - 

FVPL Other     

Loans and advances to customers  175  30  -  - 

Financial investments  510  -  -  - 

FVPL Held For Trading     

Trading assets  228  -  1  60 

No holding category     

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge  -134  -  -  - 

Total assets  866  30  1  60 
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Financial assets and associated collateral  

(€ m)  Value of collateral received 

31.12.2022 
Carrying 
amount 

Real estate 
and 

registered liens 

Sureties  
and  

guarantees 
Other collat-

eral 

FVPL Designated     

Financial investments  83  -  -  - 

FVPL Other     

Loans and advances to customers  192  36  -  - 

Financial investments  421  -  -  - 

FVPL Held For Trading     

Trading assets  441  93  2  145 

No holding category     

Value adjustments from the  
portfolio fair value hedge  -152  -  -  - 

Total assets  985  129  2  145 

 

B) IMPAIRED FINANCIAL ASSETS AND ASSOCIATED 

COLLATERAL 

The following overview shows the volume and concentration 
of collateral held by Hamburg Commercial Bank to reduce the 

default risk and other loan collateralisation for impaired finan-
cial assets. 

 

 

Impaired financial assets and associated collateral 

(€ m)  Value of collateral received 

30.06.2023 
Carrying 
amount 

Real estate 
and 

registered liens 

Sureties  
and  

guarantees 
Other collat-

eral 

AC assets     

Loans and advances to customers  497  165  6  81 

No holding category     

Contingent liabilities  18  -  2  10 

Irrevocable loan commitments  8  -  -  - 

Total assets  523  165  8  91 

 

For loans and advances to customers amounting to € 177 Mil-
lion (31 December 2022:€ 19 Million ), no loan loss provisions 
were recognised despite default due to the collateral availa-
ble. 

Collateral is a key instrument for managing default risks. 
They are included in the main procedures for managing and 
monitoring default risks to reduce risks. The methods and pro-
cesses for the valuation and management of collateral are set 
out in Hamburg Commercial Bank’s Collateral Guideline. 

The value of collateral received is determined directly on 
the basis of the objective market value, provided that such a 
value can be determined. The reliability of the collateral value 
is ensured by the fact that it is recognised as risk-reducing only 
up to the level of the applicable collateral-specific recovery ra-
tio. Only collateral listed in the collateral catalogue is included 
as valuable collateral. Upon initial recognition, the value of 

movable property and real estate recognised as collateral is 
determined by an appraiser who is independent of the market. 
Depending on the type of collateral, the recoverability and re-
alisation options are reviewed regularly at set intervals, and 
more frequently in the event of considerable market fluctua-
tions. 

A substantial portion of the collateral provided is from do-
mestic guarantors. The creditworthiness of the collateral pro-
viders is mainly in the 1(AAA) to 1(A-) rating categories. 

Information on the risk concentrations for the collateral 
provided can be found in the Risk Report in the Default risk 
section. 



Group explanatory notes Disclosures on financial instruments 107
  
 
 

 

C) THEREOF COLLATERAL RECEIVED FOR WHICH THERE 

ARE NO RESTRICTIONS ON DISPOSAL OR REALISATION 

EVEN IF THERE IS NO DEFAULT IN PAYMENT 

Hamburg Commercial Bank received collateral from counter-
parties with a total fair value of € 61 Million (31 December 
2022: € 145 Million). The collateral received is broken down as 
follows: € 61 Million (31 December 2022: € 145 Million) relates 
to OTC derivatives and structured transactions. Neither as at 
the reporting date nor as at 31 December 2022 did the Group 
receive any collateral from genuine repo transactions where it 
acted as the lender. Collateral received includes cash collat-
eral in the amount of € 61 Million (31 December 2022: € 50 
million). 

 Collateral received was not resold or pledged. There are 
no restrictions on disposal or realisation. Hamburg Commer-
cial Bank is obliged to return all collateral resold or pledged to 
the guarantor without exception. 

Hamburg Commercial Bank carries out securities repur-
chase and lending transactions as well as tri-party repo trans-
actions under standard master agreements with selected 
counterparties. The same conditions and collateralisation 
methods apply as for collateral transferred and received. 

D) OTHER COLLATERAL RECEIVED 

As in the previous year, no assets from the realisation of collat-
eral were capitalised in the reporting period. 

IV. Assets that have been written off and are still subject to 
an enforcement measure 

In the current reporting period, financial assets that are still 
subject to an enforcement measure were written off in the 
amount outstanding under contract law of € 0 Million  (31 De-
cember 2022 : 10 Million). 

 
 

 

41. Restructured or modified loans 

The following table shows the carrying amounts of loans and 
loan commitments that have been restructured or whose con-
tractual terms and conditions have been modified in order to 

place the debtor in a position to continue to service or resume 
servicing its capital debt despite financial difficulties. 

 

Forbearance exposure 

(€ m) 
30.06.2023 

Rating class  
1–15 

Rating class 
16–18 Total 

Loans and advances to customers  206  269  475 

Irrevocable and revocable loan commitments  75  7  82 

Total  281  276  557 

 

Forbearance exposure 

(€ m) 
31.12.2022 

Rating class  
1–15 

Rating class 
16–18 Total 

Loans and advances to customers  418  354  772 

Irrevocable and revocable loan commitments  12  8  20 

Total  430  362  792 

 

For the volume of receivables shown here, which is subject to 
forbearance measures, loan loss provisions of € 137 Million 
have already been set up for the portfolios measured at amor-
tised cost (31 December 2021: € 261 Million). The IT systems 

have been improved so that the Bank can now mark forbear-
ance for individual transactions (previously only possible for 
the entire business partner), which allows for a more precise 
evaluation of the transactions. 
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42. Contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments  

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Contingent liabilities  704  831 

Loan commitments  3,972  3,294 

Total  4,676  4,125 

       

In addition to the values shown in the table, there are other 
contingent liabilities arising from litigation. The legal disputes 
giving rise to these litigation risks comprise several claims.  
Provisions have been set up for litigation risks for some of 
these disputes, while contingent liabilities are in place for oth-
ers. The Bank does not present the information required under 
IAS 37 as this could adversely affect the Bank’s position in the 
underlying legal disputes.  
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Other disclosures 

43. Related parties  

Hamburg Commercial Bank does business with related parties 
and companies.  

These include the funds and accounts managed by Cer-
berus Capital Management, L.P. and J.C. Flowers IV L.P., which 
exert a significant influence over the Bank.  

Furthermore, business relationships exist with subsidiaries 
which are controlled but not included in the Group financial 
statements, for reasons of materiality, associates, joint ven-
tures, individuals in key positions and their relatives and com-
panies controlled by these individuals. Individuals in key posi-
tions comprise exclusively the members of the Management 
and Supervisory Boards of Hamburg Commercial Bank AG. 

The Bank maintains pension plans for employees that are 
utilised after employment has ended. 

In the course of the normal business operations, transac-
tions are entered into at arm’s length with companies and par-
ties that are related parties. These transactions include loans, 
call and fixed-term deposits, derivatives and securities trans-
actions. 

III. Companies with a significant influence over the Bank 

As in the prior-year period, there were no significant transac-
tions with companies with a significant influence over the Bank 
in the reporting period. 

IV. Subsidiaries 

The transactions with unconsolidated subsidiaries are shown 
below: 

Subsidiaries – Liabilities 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Liabilities to customers  –  2 

Total  -  2 

 

V. Associates 

The transactions with unconsolidated associates are shown 
below: 

Associates – Liabilities 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Liabilities to customers  –  6 

Total  –  6 

 

VI. Joint ventures 

The transactions with unconsolidated joint ventures are shown 
below: 

Joint ventures – Assets 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Loans and advances to customers  3  4 

Total  3  4 

 

Joint ventures – Liabilities 

(€ m) 30.06.2023 31.12.2022 

Liabilities to customers  2  2 

Total  2  2 

 

VII. Other related parties and companies 

As in the previous year’s period, no significant transactions 
have been entered into with individuals in key positions at 
Hamburg Commercial Bank AG and their close relatives or 
companies controlled by these individuals as at the reporting 
date (< € 1 million). 

VIII. Pension plans 

To cover its pension benefit obligations independently, Ham-
burg Commercial Bank has transferred assets to HCOB Trust 
e.V. (Hamburg) under a contractual trust agreement as at the 
balance sheet date. For further details and the amount of plan 
assets, please refer to Note 33. 
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Members of the Management Board 

IAN BANWELL 

Born in 1963 
Chief Excecutive Officer (CEO) 

ULRIK LACKSCHEWITZ 

Born in 1968 
Chief Risk Officer (CRO)  
Deputy CEO 

CHRISTOPHER BRODY 

Born in 1968 
Chief Investment Officer (CIO) 

MARC ZIEGNER 

Born in 1975 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
 
 

 

Hamburg, 15 August 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Ian Banwell   Ulrik Lackschewitz 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Christopher Brody  Marc Ziegner 
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Review report

Hamburg Commercial Bank AG, Hamburg 
We have reviewed the condensed consolidated financial 
statements of Hamburg Commercial Bank AG, comprising the 
Group statement of financial position, the Group statement of 
income, the Group statement of comprehensive income, the 
Group statement of changes in equity, the Group cash flow 
statement as well as selected Group explanatory notes and 
the interim Group management report of Hamburg Commer-
cial Bank AG, Hamburg for the time period 1 January to 30 
June 2023, which are part of the half-year financial report pur-
suant to Article 115 German Securities Trading Act (WpHG). 
The preparation of the condensed consolidated interim finan-
cial statements in accordance with the IFRS applicable to in-
terim financial reporting as adopted by the EU and of the in-
terim group management report in accordance with the re-
quirements of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to 
interim group management reports is the responsibility of the 
Company's Management Board. Our responsibility is to issue a 
review report on the condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements and on the interim group management report 
based on our review. 

We conducted our review of the condensed consolidated 
interim financial statements and the interim group manage-
ment report in accordance with German generally accepted 
standards for the review of financial statements promulgated 
by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany, Incorporated 
Association (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the review so that we can preclude through critical 

evaluation, with moderate assurance, that the condensed con-
solidated interim financial statements have not been pre-
pared, in all material respects, in accordance with the IFRS ap-
plicable to interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU 
and that the interim group management report has not been 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the pro-
visions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to in-
terim group management reports. A review is limited primarily 
to inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures 
and therefore does not provide the assurance attainable in a 
financial statement audit. Since, in accordance with our en-
gagement, we have not performed a financial statement audit, 
we cannot express an audit opinion. 

Based on our review, no facts came to light that would lead 
to the assumption that the condensed interim Group financial 
statements have not been prepared, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the IFRS for interim financial reporting, as 
adopted by the EU, or that the interim Group management re-
port has not been prepared, in all material respects, in accord-
ance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act 
that apply to interim Group management reports. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Hamburg, 16 August 2023 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH  
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

Lutz Meyer  
German Public Auditor 

 
ppa. Maximilian Hockenberger 
German Public Auditor 
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Responsibility statement by the 
Management Board

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the ap-
plicable reporting principles for interim reporting, the interim 
Group financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
earnings, net assets and financial position of Hamburg Com-
mercial Bank. Furthermore, the interim management report of 
the Group provides a true and fair view of the business devel-
opment and performance of Hamburg Commercial Bank, in-
cluding the business results and situation of Hamburg Com-
mercial Bank, together with a description of the principal op-
portunities and risks associated with the expected develop-
ment of Hamburg Commercial Bank for the rest of the finan-
cial year. 

Hamburg, 15 August 2023 

Ian Banwell Ulrik Lackschewitz

Christopher Brody Marc Ziegner 
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Notice
If at times only the masculine form is used for certain terms relating 

to groups of people, this is not meant in a gender-specific manner, 

but occurs exclusively for the sake of better readability.

This Financial Report was published on 24 August 2023 and is 

available for download from www.hcob-bank.com

This is an English translation of the original German version of the 

Annual Report.

Forward-looking Statements
This Financial Report includes certain forward-looking statements. 

These statements are based on our beliefs and assumptions as well 

as on conclusions drawn from information currently available to us 

from sources which we consider to be reliable. A forward-looking 

statement involves information that does not simply reflect histori-

cal facts, information relating to possible or anticipated future 

growth and future economic development.  

Such forward-looking statements are based on a number of 

assumptions concerning future events and are subject to uncer-

tainties, risks, and other factors, many of which are beyond our 

control. Therefore actual events may differ from those forecast in 

the forward-looking statements. In view of this, you are advised 

never to rely to an inappropriate degree on forward-looking 

statements. We cannot accept any liability for the accuracy or 

completeness of these statements or for the actual realisation of 

forecasts made in this Financial Report. Furthermore, we are not 

obliged to update the forward-looking statements following the 

publication of this information. 

In addition, information contained in this Financial  Report does not 

represent any kind of offer for the acquisition or sale of any type of 

securities of Hamburg Commercial Bank AG. 

Contact
Hamburg Commercial Bank AG 
Gerhart-Hauptmann-Platz 50 
D 20095 Hamburg

Phone +49 40 3333-0
info@hcob-bank.com 
www.hcob-bank.de

Investor Relations 
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presse@hcob-bank.com
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